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MEMORANDUM
UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH ALABAMA

September 3, 2010
TO: USA Board of Trustees
FROM:  BettyeR.Maye LHC/7 1/

Secretary, USA Board of Trustees

Enclosed are the unapproved minutes for the June 10, 2010, meeting of the USA Board of Trustees.
Please review them for amendment or approval during the September 17 meeting of the Board.

BRM:mgc

Enclosure
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UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH ALABAMA
BOARD OF TRUSTEES MEETING

June 10, 2010
10:00 a.m.

A meeting of the University of South Alabama Board of Trustees was duly convened by
Dr. Steven H. Stokes, Chair Pro Tempore, on Thursday, June 10, 2010, at 10:05 a.m. in the Board
Room of the Frederick P. Whiddon Administration Building.

Members Present: Trustees Steven Furr, Donald Langham, Bettye Maye, Christie Miree,

Arlene Mitchell, Bryant Mixon, James Nix, John Peck, Ken Simon,
Steven Stokes and James Yance.

Members Absent: Trustees Scott Charlton, Cecil Gardner, Samuel Jones, Joseph Morton,
Bob Riley and Larry Striplin.
Administration President Gordon Moulton; Drs. Michael Boyd, Joseph Busta,
and Others: Jim Connors and Julie Estis (Faculty Senate), Pat Covey, Roy Daigle,

Debra Davis, Ron Franks, David Johnson, Russ Lea, Vaughn Millner,
Carl Moore, Robert Shearer, Bob Shipp, John Smith, John Steadman,
David Stearns, Rick Talbott and Richard Wood; Messrs. Louis Cardinal
(Thornton Farish, Inc.), Lee Covey, George Davis (National Alumni
Assn.), Wayne Davis, Stan Hammack, Rod Kanter (Bradley Arant Boult
Cummings, LLP), Abe Mitchell and Steve Simmons; Mss. Lisa Furr,
Geri Moulton, Kim Proctor (SGA), Angelia Stokes, Jean Tucker and
Frances Yance.

Press: Mr, Johnny Davis (The Vanguard); and Mss. Renee Busby (Press-
Register) and Cherish Lombard (Fox-10).

Chairman Stokes convened the meeting and called for adoption of the revised agenda. On motion
by Ms. Miree, seconded by Mr. Peek, the revised agenda was unanimously approved.
Chairman Stokes called for consideration of ITEM 1, the minutes of the March 12, 2010, meeting
of the Board of Trustees, the March 11, 2010, meeting of the Committee of the Whole, and the
April 15, 2010, meeting of the Executive Committee. On motion by Ms. Miree, seconded by
Mr. Peek, the minutes were unanimously adopted.

President Moulton presented ITEM 2, the President’s Report. President Moulton introduced Drs. Jim
Comnors and Julie Estis, Faculty Senate Chair and Secretary, respectively; and Ms. Kim Proctor,
SGA President. He announced a record summer enrollment of 7,667 students, a 4.3 percent increase
from the 2009 summer semester. He said that registration for the 2010 fall semester is up by 400
students over this time last year. The demand for housing this fall is high.

President Moulton addressed the Gulf oil spill and said the role of USA and the Dauphin Island Sea
Lab in recovery efforts would be addressed in the Academic Affairs Report. He noted that
Drs. Connors , Assistant Professor of Earth Sciences, and Bob Shipp, Chair - Department of Marine
Sciences, are focused on the Gulf crisis. President Moulton called attention to the Business View,
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a monthly publication of the Mobile Area Chamber of Commerce, which features the University’s
progress and economic impact. He announced plans to host the Chamber’s Board of Directors and
Advisors meeting on campus in August, and recognized the importance of the Chamber’s support
in helping to advance major initiatives of the University, including creation of the USA Mitchell
Cancer Institute and the USA Technology and Research Park.

President Moulton discussed the Annual Fund campaign, co-chaired by Drs. Errol Crook and
David Stearns. He reported that $521,000 had been raised, which exceeded the institution’s goal
of $480,000. Sixty-eight percent of employees participated in the campaign. President Moulton
expressed pride that the University family continues to give despite challenging economic times.

President Moulton presented an update on construction projects while the Board viewed photos and
drawings of the new student residence hall; the campus portals; the student dining hall; the art glass
studio, which is 95 percent complete; Shelby Hall, which will house the College of Engineering and
the School of Computer and Information Sciences; the Infectious Disease Lab; the Student
Recreation Center, which is 90 percent complete; Moulton Bell Tower and Alumni Plaza; the
Bookstore renovation, which will add 5,000 square feet; and the proposed expansion of USA
Children’s and Women’s Hospital, which will add 140,000 square feet. He said the amphitheater
at Moulton Tower will seat 300 people. Dr. Jason Guynes, Chair of the Visual Arts Department,
will be the artist for ceiling murals at the tower. The Trustees viewed a sculpture donated by artist
Will Fong for the Recreation Center. President Moulton reported that the Certificate of Need
hearing for the Children’s and Women’s Hospital expansion will take place on July 21.

President Moulton stated that USA would play its first season football game against Pikeville
College (Kentucky) on September 4. USA’s maiden away game will be in Dothan on September 25
against Edward Waters College (Jacksonville, FL). President Moulton announced that the
dedication of the Student Recreation Center is slated for Friday, September 17, to coincide with the
next Board meeting pending approval of the 2010-2011 meeting schedule. He said the tentative date
for the dedication of Moulton Bell Tower and Alumni Plaza is Friday, October 1, to coincide with
the Kentucky Wesleyan football game to be played on Saturday, October 2.

Dr. Stokes called for consideration of ITEM 3 as follows. On motion by Mr. Langham, seconded
by Mayor Nix, the resolution was unanimously approved:

RESOLUTION
BOARD MEETING SCHEDULE, 2010-2011

WHEREAS, Article Il, Section 1, of the Bylaws provides that the Board shall schedule annually, in advance,

reqular meetings of the Board to be held during the ensuing year, and may designate one of such meetings as the annual
meeting of the Board,

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the regular meetings of the University of South Alabama Board of Trustees
shall be held on the following dates:

September 17, 2010
December 9, 2010
March 11, 2011
June 9, 2011
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FURTHER, BE IT RESOLVED that the date of lune 9, 2011, be designated as the annual meeting of the University
of South Alabama Board of Trustees for 2010-2011,

President Moulton presented ITEM 4 as follows. He observed that, in a time of financial constraint,
the costs for obtaining verbal transcripts of Board meetings are unnecessary when the University
routinely maintains audio recordings of all proceedings. Dr. Stokes recalled that unusual
circumstances in prior years had prompted formal action by the Board to have the proceedings

certified. On motion by Mayor Nix, seconded by Ms. Maye, the resolution was unanimously
approved.

RESOLUTION
DISCONTINUATION OF COURT REPORTING SERVICE

WHEREAS, atits meeting on July 2, 1998, the University of South Alabama Board of Trustees approved engaging
the services of a court reporter for meetings of the Board, and

WHEREAS, in addition to approved minutes, a full and accurate record of the meetings can be accomplished

via the audio recording of the proceedings without incurring the expense of a court reporting service for a verbatim
transcription,

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the Board of Trustees authorizes the discontinuation of court reporting
services.

Chairman Stokes called for a report of health affairs items. Dr. Furr, Chair of the Health Affairs
Committee, moved approval of ITEM 5 as follows. Mr. Peek seconded and the resolution was
unanimously approved:

RESOLUTION
USA HOSPITALS MEDICAL STAFF APPOINTMENTS AND REAPPOINTMENTS
FOR MARCH, APRIL AND MAY 2010

WHEREAS, the Medical Staff appointments and reappointments for March, Aprit and May 2010 for the University
of South Alabama Hospitals are recommended for approval by the Medical Executive Committees and the Executive
Committee of the University of South Alabama Hospitals,

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the Board of Trustees of the University of South Alabama approves the
appointments and reappointments as submitted.

Dr. Furr called for presentation of ITEM 6, a report of the Division of Health Sciences and the USA
Health System. Dr. Franks discussed a $7.5 million grant award to USA’s Center for Strategic
Health Innovation from the U. S. Department of Health and Human Services that will fund the
transition of patient information to electronic records for improved health care in Alabama. Dr. Dan
Roach, the Center’s Director of Informatics and principal investigator, will lead the statewide
initiative in providing resources to physicians and hospitals, especially in rural communities, to
update patient records systems.

As part of ITEM 7, a report on the USA Mitchell Cancer Institute (MCI), Dr. Boyd presented ITEM 8
as follows (refer to APPENDIX A for copies of policies and other authorized documentation), and
provided a summary of proposed revisions to the MCI's Guidelines and Policies for Faculty
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Appointments, Promotion and Tenure. On motion by Dr. Furr, seconded by Ms. Maye, the
resolution was unanimously approved:

RESOLUTION
UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH ALABAMA MITCHELL CANCER INSTITUTE REVISED GUIDELINES AND POLICIES
FOR FACULTY APPOINTMENTS, PROMOTION AND TENURE

WHEREAS, officials of the USA Mitchell Cancer Institute (MCI) and the USA College of Medicine deem it

appropriate for certain qualified individuals to be assigned to faculty appointments within the MCl, and to have the
opportunity to be awarded promation and tenure, and

WHEREAS, said officials have developed cooperatively such revised guidelines and policies, which accompany
this resolution and are incorporated by reference herein,

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the USA Board of Trustees approves and adopts the herein-described
revised guidelines and policies for MCl faculty appointments, promotion, and tenure.

Dr. Furr presented ITEM 8.4 as follows, saying that extensive discussion had taken place during the
Committee of the Whole meeting on June 9. He defined a revision in the language of the resolution
and moved approval. President Moulton asserted that, for USA’s Hospitals and Clinics to be
competitive, the University must adapt to changing times, utilize best practices and solutions, and
align its health care system with suitable compensation models. He stated that the protection of
USA employees’ interests is a paramount concern of the Administration in considering the creation
of a LLC, and assured that participation by current employees is entirely voluntary. Ms, Mitchell
seconded and the resolution was unanimously approved:

RESOLUTION
FORMATION OF USA HEALTHCARE MANAGEMENT, LLC

WHEREAS, pursuant to Title 16, Chapter 55 of the Code of Alabama 1975, as amended (the "Enabling Law"),
the University of South Alabama (the "University"} was established for the purpose of providing a state institution of higher
learning within Mobile County; and

WHEREAS, in furtherance of the purposes for which the University was established, there are owned and
operated by the University (1) the University of South Alabama Medical Center, a 406-bed tertiary care hospital which
includes a level one trauma center, a bum unit, and state-of-the-art facilities for internal medicine, surgery and
cardiovascular diagnostic and treatment techniques, and USA Children’s & Women’s Hospital, a 152-bed facility specializing
in pediatric services, which include pediatric oncology, pediatric intensive care and neonatal intensive care, as well as
obstetric, including high risk obstetrics, and gynecological services (together, the "Hospital"), and (i) the University of
South Alabama Mitchell Cancer Institute, a comprehensive cancer treatment center (the "MCI"). There is also the University
of South Alabama Health Services Foundation ("HSF"), an Alabama non-profit corporation, that provides a comprehensive
physician practice plan consisting of approximately 200 academic physicians representing multiple specialties and sub-
specialties that render patient care as a part of the University's academic health care enterprise.

WHEREAS, as a result of rising costs within the health care industry, the need to align related employee benefits
with those of similarly-situated providers, and the need to facilitate more efficient management and operation of the health
care enterprises of the University, and given the effects of proration and reduced funding levels for public universities and
institutions of higher education within the State of Alabama, the Board of Trustees has determined it necessary to explore
operational options, without sacrificing educational standards, the quality of patient care or the quality of employment
within the heaith services programs of the University; and
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WHEREAS, the Board of Trustees has determined that the University could achieve operational efficiencies
through the formation of a limited liability company, the sole member of which would be the University ("USA HealthCare
Management, LLC"), in order to, on behalf of and as agent for the University, manage and operate various aspects of, and
to provide general personnel support for, the University's health services programs, including but not limited to managing
and operating certain of the health care enterprises of the University and employing individuals who will perform services
for and on behalf of said programs; and

WHEREAS, the forms of Articles of Organization (the “Articles of Organization"} and Operating Agreement (the
"Operating Agreement") necessary for the creation and operation of USA HealthCare Management, LLC are attached hereto
as Exhibit A and Exhibit B, respectively.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the Board of Trustees has determined it best and in furtherance of
the purposes for which the University was created that USA HealthCare Management, LLC be created as a limited liability
company, the sole member of which shall be the University, for the purpose of managing and operating, on behalf of and
as agent for the University, substantially all of the health care enterprises of the University, including, but not limited to,
employing personnel to manage and operate the Hospital and the MCl, and in that regard to become a part of the
University's academic medical center. The President of the University, the Vice President for Financial Affairs and the Vice
President for Health Systems are hereby authorized and directed to execute, file and deliver the Articles of Organization
and the Operating Agreement, with such changes or modifications thereto as shalt be made or approved by the President
of the University, in consultation with the Vice President for Financial Affairs, the Vice President for Health Systems, the
Vice President for Health Sciences and the Director of the MU, as the case may be; and

FURTHER RESOLVED, by the members of the Board of Trustees that the President of the University is hereby
authorized and directed to adopt and cause to be adopted and implemented such policies and to undertake such actions
as shall be necessary or desirable to fulfill the objectives of this resolution respecting the staffing and operation of USA
HealthCare Management, LLC and, as existing employees of the University become employees of USA HealthCare
Management, LLC the elimination of the employment positions with the University occupied thereby; and, further, that any
person holding title of President, Vice President for Financial Affairs, Vice President for Health Systems, or Associate Vice
President for Financial Affairs within the University shall be authorized, in their respective capacities as officers of the
University and following the due creation of USA HealthCare Management, LLC, to execute such agreements, documents,
instruments and certificates as shall be necessary or desirable to cause the formation, staffing, and operation of USA
HealthCare Management, LLC as aforesaid and to consummate the transactions herein contemplated including, without
limitation, negotiating the terms of a definitive management and operating agreement between the University and USA
HealthCare Management, LLC, seeking a private letter ruling and determination letter from the U.S. Internal Revenue
Service respecting certain federal tax matters related to USA HealthCare Management, LLC and amending that certain
affiliation agreement between the University and HSF to reflect the revised relationship between such parties due to the
transactions herein contemplated; provided, however, that nothing herein or in any of the documents, agreements or
instruments authorized hereunder shall be interpreted as authorizing or otherwise permitting any officer or employee of
the University, or, once created, USA HealthCare Management, LLC, to undertake any action on behalf of or in connection
with USA HealthCare Management, LLC that such individual would not otherwise be permitted to undertake within the scope
of their employment or role with the University.

Chairman Stokes called for consideration of academic and student affairs items. Ms. Miree,
Academic and Student Affairs Committee Chair, asked Dr. Johnson to present ITEM 9, a report of
academic affairs activities. Dr. Johnson introduced Dr. Roy Daigle, Associate Dean of the School
of Computer and Information Sciences. He reported on the improved test scores of graduates from
the recently redesigned Mitchell College of Business MBA program. Graduates scored in the 90"
percentile as a group. Dr. Johnson introduced Dr. Bob Shipp, Chair of Marine Sciences, for a
perspective on the Gulf oil spill. Dr. Shipp discussed the conditions of wildlife, the shorelines and
estuaries, and the Gulf of Mexico while Trustees viewed photos and video footage. Dr. Shipp
introduced Dr. Sean Powers, Associate Professor, who has extensive expertise in oil-spill research.



USA Board of Trustees
Page 6
June 10, 2010

Dr. Shipp explained that three significant concerns in the recovery effort are the elimination of the
use of dispersants, the preservation of the Gulf habitat in spite of the potential for losing the current
generation of Gulf wildlife, and the protection of the sargassum, an algac which he deemed the
“forgotten habitat,” in and under which species reproduce and are abundant. He stated that, while

the outlook is not positive, the Department of Marine Sciences is fully committed to the expansive
effort to reclaim the Gulf.

Dr. Johnson presented ITEM 10 as follows. On motion by Ms. Miree, seconded by Dr. Furr, the
resolution was unanimously approved:

RESOLUTION
ASSOCIATE PROFESSOR EMERITUS

WHEREAS, the following faculty member has retired from the University of South Alabama:

Jerrold L. Downey, Ph.D., Associate Professor of Psychology
and,

WHEREAS, in recognition of his contributions to the University through extraordinary accomplishments in

teaching and in the generation of new knowledge through research and scholarship, and for serving as a consistently
inspiring influence to students for a period of time, and

WHEREAS, the faculty and chairperson from his department, academic dean, the Senior Vice President for
Academic Affairs, and the President have duly recommended the aforementioned retiree from the University faculty for
appointment to the rank of Associate Professor Emeritus, and

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Board of Trustees of the University of South Alabama in a seated
meeting held on June 10, 2010, hereby appoints the aforenamed individual to the rank of Associate Professor Emeritus
with the rights and privileges thereunto appertaining, and

FURTHER, BE IT RESOLVED that the Board of Trustees of the University of South Alabama, in recognition of his
extraordinary accomplishments and dedicated service to the University of South Alabama, wishes to convey its deep
appreciation to this individual.

Dr. Johnson recommended ITEM 11 as follows. On motion by Mr. Langham, seconded by
Ms. Maye, the resolution was unanimously approved:

RESOLUTION
TENURE AND PROMOTION

WHEREAS, in accordance with University policy, faculty applications for tenure and promotion have been
reviewed by the respective faculty peers, Departmental Chair, College Dean, and by the Senior Vice President for Academic
Aftairs or the Vice President for Medical Affairs, and the President, and of those faculty considered, the following individuals
are hereby recommended for tenure and/or promotion,

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the University of South Alabama Board of Trustees approves and grants
tenure and/or promotion to those individuals whose names are listed below to be effective August 15, 2010.

COLLEGE OF ALLIED HEALTH PROFESSIONS

Tenure: Promotion to Senior Instructor:
Julie M, Estis Gary L. Varner
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Promotion to Associate Professor:

Julie M. Estis

COLLEGE OF ARTS AND SCIENCES

Tenure:

jeannette Fresne
Kern M. lackson
Matthew A. Johnson
Zoya Khan

Patricia F. Mark
juan L. Mata

Mark C. Yates

Promotion to Senior Instructor:
Robert E. Faust
Alice M. Kracke
Clinton S. Major

MITCHELL COLLEGE OF BUSINESS

Promotion to Professor:
Kelly C. Woodford

COLLEGE OF EDUCATION

Tenure;
Andrea M. Kent

Promotion to Associate
Professor:
Andrea M. Kent

COLLEGE OF MEDICINE

Promotion to Adjunct Associate Professor:

Allison Chung, Pharm. D.

Tenure:

Michele Schuler, D.V.M., Ph.D.
David Weber, Ph.D.

Thomas Rich, Ph.D.

Dean Naritoku, M.D.

Promotion to Assistant
Professor:
Mykhaylo Ruchko, Ph.D.

Promotion to Associate Professor:
leannette Fresne

Zoya Khan

Patricia F. Mark

Juan L. Mata

Mark C. Yates

Promotion to Professor:
Anne A. Boettcher

John W. McCreadie
Sytske K. Kimball

Promotion to Professor:
Steven F. Pugh
Daniel W. Surry

Promotion to Professor:
Paul Maertens, M.D.

Daniel Preud"Homme, M.D.
James Elliott Carter, M.D,
John VandeWaa, D.0., Ph.D.

Promotion to Associate Professor:
Michele Schuler, D.V.M., Ph.D.
David S. Weber, Ph.D.

Ladonna Crews, M.D.

Abu Bakr Al-Mehdi, M.D., Ph.D.
Thomas Rich, Ph.D.

Songwei Wu, M.D.

Sheryl Falkos, M.D.

Martha Arrieta, M.D., Ph.D.
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COLLEGE OF NURSING
Promotion to Clinical Associate Professor: Promotion to Clinical Professor:
Suzanne E. Fogger Carolyn G. White
Anita H. King

Promotion to Associate Professor:
Heather R. Hall

MITCHELL CANCER INSTITUTE

Promotion to Associate Professor:
Rajeev Samant

Ms. Miree called for consideration of ITEM 12 as follows. Dr. Jim Connors, Chair of the Faculty
Senate, outlined the proposed revisions to the senate constitution. On motion by Ms. Miree,
seconded by Mr. Peek, the resolution was unanimously approved:

RESOLUTION
AMENDMENTS TO FACULTY SENATE CONSTITUTION

WHEREAS, Article Il of the University of South Alabama Faculty Senate Constitution provides that any
amendments must be approved by a majority of the University faculty and by the Board of Trustees, and

WHEREAS, amendments were properly proposed and unanimously passed by the University of South Alabama
Faculty Senate, and

WHEREAS, these amendments as outlined below were subsequently voted upon by the University faculty and
each obtained the required votes,

*  AFaculty Senator may be elected to a second three-year term.
»  The Chair of the Faculty Senate may be elected to a second one-year term.

»  Amendments to the Faculty Senate Constitution may be proposed by a 3/5 vote of the Senate. A majority of the
faculty must vote on the proposed amendment and a majority of those voting must approve the proposed change.

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, the Board of Trustees approves said amendments to the Faculty Senate
Constitution.

Ms. Miree called upon Dr. Smith to address ITEM 13, a report of student affairs activities Dr. Smith
introduced Dr. Chris Charlton, USA’s Director of Student Housing.

Dr. Smith presented ITEM 14 as follows, noting that food services for students is a self-sustaining
function, with the facility utilities and debt service supported by meal plan revenues. He stated that
all students living on campus will be required to purchase a meal plan. He said a variety of plans
are offered and that discussions with Aramark were beneficial in keeping costs to students at a
minimum. On motion by Ms. Miree, seconded by Judge Simon, the resolution was unanimously
approved:
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RESOLUTION
FOOD SERVICE SCHEDULE

WHEREAS, the University is constructing a new state-of-the-art dining facility in the area of the residence halls
to provide a high-quality and convenient dining option for the residence hall students, and

WHEREAS, this facility is to be financially self-supporting and an important part of campus life,

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the Board of Trustees approves the requirement that, effective Fall
Semester 2010, all students living in University Housing be required to purchase a meal plan, and approves the dining
services meal plans and rates for 2010-2011 as set forth in the attached schedule.

President Moulton presented ITEM 15 as follows, stating that considerable discussion had taken
place among the Administration to determine how best to address the University’s budget deficit.

Ms. Miree stated that the Board and the Administrators are conscientious when making difficult
decisions. She moved approval and Ms. Mitchell seconded. Judge Simon added that the matter had
been studied extensively, and noted that the Administration had communicated with the students and
made efforts to minimize expenses. He said many influencing factors are beyond the University’s
control and the increases are reasonable, necessary, and consistent with increases that other
institutions are recommending or have adopted. President Moulton said the prevailing thought,
based upon the actions of peer institutions in the state, is that the cost for a full-time student at USA
will remain at least 10 percent below what other schools will charge, putting the University at a
marketing advantage. He discussed the legislative mandate that limits tuition increases for PACT
students to 2.5 percent annually except for students enrolled at the University of Alabama and

Auburn University. He expressed hope for an equitable solution. The resolution was unanimously
approved:

RESOLUTION
TUITION, HOUSING AND FEE SCHEDULES, 2010-2011

WHEREAS, the University of South Alabama (“University”) is committed to maintaining high-quality educational
and student services programs at a competitive cost, and

WHEREAS, in the face of a global economic recession that has diminished state revenues, the Alabama
Legislature has approved a 2010-2011 education budget that reduces USA’s state funding by $40 million from three years
ago, a 29 percent decrease, and

WHEREAS, the University since 2007-08 has incurred more than $23.4 million in unavoidable additional costs
annually, including increases in employer contributions to the Alabama Teachers’ Retirement System, PEEHIP health
insurance for retirees, utilities and operations, and employee health insurance, and others, and

WHEREAS, the University has responded to the recession by implementing cost-cutting measures including the
reduction of 320 positions, as well as new initiatives to maximize efficiency of delivery of services, and

WHEREAS, the federal stimulus funds of $21.6 million that have helped defray a portion of the cuts in state
funding are expected to expire after the 2010-2011 budget year, and

WHEREAS, the recent legisiation limiting the University from raising tuition by more than 2.5 percent annually
for the 400 PACT students at USA will result in a loss of revenue of more than $1.6 million over the next five years, placing
an additional financial burden on non-PACT students, and
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WHEREAS, increases in tuition, fees, and housing rates are necessary to maintain the standard of quality that
USA students and their families desire and expect, and

WHEREAS, USA desires to adopt a simpler tuition structure that integrates required fees into credit hour
charges, providing students and parents with easier cost comparisons among institutions, greater predictability in
budgeting for college, and less complicated bilfing, at the same time ensuring that all student services previously supported

by individually designated fees will continue to receive funding at levels equal to those approved by the Board of Trustees,
and

WHEREAS, with the proposed tuition, housing and required fees for 2010-2011 as set forth in the attached
schedules, such costs at the University would continue to be among the lowest in effect at the public doctoral-evel
institutions in the State of Alabama,

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the Board of Trustees of the University of South Alabama approves the
tuition, housing and required student fees for 2010-2011 as set forth in the attached schedules.

Chairman Stokes called for consideration of budget and finance items. Mayor Nix, Budget and
Finance Committee Chair, noted receipt of ITEM 16 reports titled Monthly Fund Financial Reports
Jor January, February and March 2010, Quarterly GASB Financial Statement for the Six Months
Ended March 2010; and Summary Comparison of Fund Financial Reports to GASB Financial
Statements, March 31, 2010 and 2009. There was no discussion.

Mayor Nix called for discussion of ITEM 17 as follows. President Moulton stated that appointments
to the USA Research and Technology Corporation Board of Directors must be ratified by the USA

Board of Trustees. On motion by Mr. Langham, seconded by Mr. Yance, the resolution was
unanimously approved:

RESOLUTION
ELECTION OF DIRECTORS OF THE USA RESEARCH AND TECHNOLOGY CORPORATION BOARD

WHEREAS, pursuant to the Amended Bylaws of the USA Research and Technology Corporation (“Corporation”),
the Board of Trustees of the University of South Alabama (“University”) shall elect directors of the Corporation who are
not officers, employees or trustees of the University, and

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors of the Corporation is authorized to nominate new directors consistent with
the aforesaid for consideration and confirmation by the Board of Trustees of the University, and

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors of the Corporation has nominated for consideration and confirmation by the
Board of Trustees of the University Mr. Danny K. Patterson and Ms. Cheryl Williams for four (4)-year terms beginning lune
2010, and these persons have agreed to serve in this capacity if elected,

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the Board of Trustees of the University of South Alabama does hereby elect
as Directors of the USA Research and Technology Corporation Mr. Danny K. Patterson and Ms. Cheryl Williams, both for
four (4)-year terms beginning june 2010.

Mr. Ken Davis outlined ITEM 18 as follows. On motion by Mr. Langham, seconded by Mr. Peek,
the resolution was unanimously approved:
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RESOLUTION
ROTH OPTION ADDITION TO THE UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH ALABAMA TAX-DEFERRED ANNUITY PLAN

WHEREAS, the University of South Alabama in 1964 authorized the participation of all employees in the
Teachers’ Insurance and Annuity Association/College Retirement Equity Fund (TIAA/CREF) pursuant to an elective salary
reduction arrangement under which matching funds are not available, and

WHEREAS, on November 30, 1967, on October 24, 1980, on lanuary 1, 1986, on January 1, 1987, on
October 1, 1989, and on June 27, 1991, the plan was changed, and

WHEREAS, pursuant to final regulations under Section 403(b) of the Internal Revenue Code issued on luly 26,
2007, that became effective January 1, 2009, the plan was restated in written form, and

WHEREAS, it is desirable to have available for all employees the option of making after-tax contributions to the
plan under the Roth provisions of the Internal Revenue Code, and

WHEREAS, no changes to the Tax-Deferred Annuity Plan, other than the addition of the Roth option, are being
made,

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the Board of Trustees approves the addition of the Roth option for the

University of South Alabama Tax-Deferred Annuity Plan and authorizes the President to sign the amended plan adoption
agreement.

Mayor Nix called for a report on the sale of USA Brookley Center Campus, ITEM 18.A.
President Moulton reported that the USA Foundation Board of Directors had approved an option to
purchase the Brookley Campus for the sum of $20 million, to be paid in four annual installments
of $5 million. He said preparation of the documents will take some time, and formal approval of
the sale would be presented for the Board’s consideration at the September 17 meeting. For the
interim, President Moulton recommended that, if the Board desired, it could affirm acceptance of
the report. Dr. Stokes assured that the USA Foundation Board is committed to the aerospace
industry and economic development in the city of Mobile. President Moulton agreed, saying this
has been the position of the USA Foundation all along. On motion by Dr. Stokes, seconded by
Mr. Yance, the Board unanimously agreed to accept the report.

President Moulton introduced ITEM 18.B as follows. On motion by Ms. Maye, seconded by
Mr. Peek, the resolution was unanimously approved:

RESOLUTION
UNIVERSITY BUDGET FOR 2010-2011

BE IT RESOLVED, that the University of South Alabama Board of Trustees approves the 20102011 University
of South Alabama Budget, and

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the University of South Alabama Board of Trustees approves the 20102011
Budget as a continuation budget for 20112012 in order to be in compliance with bond trust indenture requirements if
the budget process cannot be completed prior to beginning the 20112012 fiscal year.

Mr. Wayne Davis discussed ITEM 19 as follows relative to various construction needs around the
campus, including the renovation of the Bookstore and the Student Center, and introduced
Messrs. Louis Cardinal of the firm of Thornton Farish, Inc., and Rod Kanter of the firm of Bradley
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Arant Boult Cummings, LLP, for details about financing these projects. Mr. Cardinal reported that
11 banks had been invited to bid on May 26, and that, based upon the University’s superior financial
rating and the Administration’s stipulation of specific terms, Compass Bank had delivered the most
appealing bid for a 3.81 percent interest rate on a 20-year, fixed-rate loan. He further noted that
more than $175,000 in miscellaneous fees had been waived, making for an extremely attractive deal.
Mr. Kanter stated that the loan closing is scheduled for June 16, and offered to answer questions
about the resolution. Judge Simon agreed that the opportunity is compelling, and he moved

approval. Mr. Langham seconded and the resolution was unanimously approved:

RESOLUTION

ISSUANCE OF ONE $29,750,000 UNIVERSITY FACILITIES REVENUE CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT BOND SERIES 2010

BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Trustees (herein called the "Board") of the UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH ALABAMA

(herein called the "University") as follows:

Section 1. (a) Findings. The Board has determined and hereby finds and dedlares that the following facts are

true and correct:

(1) it is necessary, advisable, in the interest of the University and in the public interest that the

University design, acquire, construct, install, furnish and equip various capital improvements on the property
of the University including, without limitation, a new dormitory to consist of approximately 330 bedrooms for
use by students of the University, capital improvements, renovations, equipment, and furnishings for the Student
Center, Student Recreation Center, and various other buildings and facilities of the University, and various other
general capital improvements (herein collectively called the "Improvements”) on the property of the University;

(2) it is necessary, advisable, in the interest of the University and in the public interest that the
University issue its $29,750,000 University Facilities Revenue Capital Improvement Bond, Series 2010 (the
"Bond") in order to: (1) pay the costs of designing, acquiring, constructing, installing, furnishing and equipping
the Improvements, and (i) pay the costs of issuing the Bond; and

(3)  theUniversity has undertaken a competitive bidding process for the issuance and sale of the Bond
pursuant to which the University has determined to award the sale of the Bond to Compass Bank, and Compass
Bank has agreed to purchase the Bond from the University.

(b) Bond to be Issued as an Additional Parity Bond Under the Indenture; Special Findings Under Section 8.2(b)

of the Indenture. The Bond shall be issued as an additional parity bond under Article VIIl of the Indenture hereinafter
referred to. In accordance with the provisions of Section 8.2(b) of the Indenture, the Board hereby finds and declares

as follows:

(1) the University is not now in default under the Indenture and no such default is imminent;

(2) the Bond shall be designated Series 2010;

(3) the person to whom the Bond is to be delivered is set forth in Section 6 hereof;

)
{(4) the Bond is to be issued by sale in accordance with Section 6 hereof;
(5) the sale price of the Bond is set forth in Section 6 hereof;

(6) (a) the only bonds that have previously been issued by the University under the Indenture are its
(1) $31,680,000 original principal amount of University Tuition Revenue Refunding and Capital Improvement
Bonds, Series 1996, dated February 15, 1996 (the "Series 1996 Bonds"), which were issued under and
pursuant to the Trust Indenture dated as of February 15, 1996 further described in Section 2 hereof, (i)
$7,055,000 original principal amount of University Tuition Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 19968, dated
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October 15, 1996 (the “Series 1996B Bonds"), which were issued under and pursuant to the First
Supplemental Trust Indenture dated as of October 15, 1996, (iii) $40,130,000.70 original principal amount
of University Tuition Revenue Bonds, Series 1999, dated March 1, 1999 (the "Series 1999 Bonds"), which were
issued under and pursuant to the Second Supplemental Trust Indenture dated as of October 15, 1996, (iv)
$51,080,000 original principal amount of Tuition Revenue Refunding and Capital Improvement Bonds, Series
2004, dated March 15, 2004 (the "Series 2004 Bonds"), which were issued under and pursuant to the Fourth
Supplemental Trust Indenture dated as of March 15, 2004, (v) $100,000,000 eriginal principal amount
University Tuition Revenue Refunding and Capital Improvement Bonds, dated December 1, 2006 (the "Series
2006 Bonds"), which were issued under and pursuant to the Fifth Supplemental Trust indenture dated as of
December 1, 2006, and (vi) $112,885,000 original principal amount University Facilities Revenue Capital
Improvement Bonds, Series 2008 (the "Series 2008 Bonds" and, together with the Series 1999 Bonds, the
Series 2004 Bonds and the Series 2006 Bonds, the "Outstanding Bonds"), which were issued under and
pursuant to the Sixth Supplemental Trust Indenture dated as of September 1, 2008; and (b) in Article VIl of
the Indenture, the University has reserved the right to issue additional bonds, secured by a pledge of the
Pledged Revenues on a parity with the Outstanding Bonds and with such additional bonds as shall have
thereafter been issued thereunder, upon compliance with the applicable provisions of said Article VIIt; and

(7) the Outstanding Bonds are the only bonds heretofore issued under the Indenture that are at this
time outstanding under the Indenture.

(8) theBondis being issued for the purpose of paying the costs of the Improvements and of issuing the
Bond.

The Trustee is hereby requested to authenticate and deliver the Bond to the purchaser specified in Section 6 hereof upon
payment of the purchase price designated therein.

Section 2. Authorization of Bond. For the purposes specified in Section 1 of this resolution, there is hereby
authorized to be issued by the University its $29,750,000 University Facilities Revenue Capital Improvement Bond, Series
2010, dated June 16, 2010 (herein called the "Bond"), all under the terms, conditions and provisions set out in the
Seventh Supplemental University Fadilities Revenue Trust Indenture dated June 16, 2010, between the University and The
Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as trustee (herein called the "Trustee"), which is supplemental to the
University Facilities Revenue Trust Indenture between the University and the Trustee dated as of February 15, 1996 (the
said Trust Indenture, as heretofore supplemented and amended and as further supplemented and amended by the said
Seventh Supplemental University Facilities Revenue Trust Indenture, herein called the "Indenture”). All the provisions of
the Indenture respecting the Bond are hereby adopted as a part of this resolution as fully as if set out at length herein.

Section 3. Source of Payment of the Bond. The principal of and the interest on the Bond shall be payable
solely from the Pledged Revenues as defined in the Indenture. Nothing contained in this resolution, in the Bond or in the
Indenture shall be deemed to impose any obligation on the University to pay the principal of or the interest on the Bond
except from and to the extent of the Pledged Revenues. The Bond shall not represent or constitute an obligation of any
nature whatsoever of the State of Alabama and shall not be payable out of moneys appropriated to the University by the
State of Alabama. The agreements, covenants and representations contained in this resolution, in the Bond and in the
Indenture do not and shall never constitute or give rise to any personal or pecuniary liability or charge against the general
credit of the University, and in the event of a breach of any such agreement, covenant or representation, no personal or
pecuniary liability or charge payable directly or indirectly from the general revenues of the University shall arise therefrom.
Neither the Bend, nor the pledge or any agreement contained in the Indenture or in this resolution shall be or constitute
an obligation of any nature whatsoever of the State of Alabama, and neither the Bond nor any obligation arising from the
aforesaid pledge or agreements shall be payable out of any moneys appropriated to the University by the State of
Alabama. Nothing contained in this section shall, however, relieve the University from the observance and performance
of the several covenants and agreements on its part herein contained and contained in the Indenture.

Section 4. Bond Payable at Par. Al remittances of principal of and interest on the Bond to the holder thereof
shall be made at par without any deduction for exchange or other cost, fees or expenses. The bank at which the Bond
shall at any time be payable shall be considered by acceptance of its duties under the indenture to have agreed that it will
make or cause to be made remittances of principal of and interest on the Bond, out of the moneys provided for that
purpose, in bankable funds at par without any deduction for exchange or other cost, fees or expenses. The University will
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pay to such bank or banks all reasonable charges made and expenses incurred by them in making such remittances in
bankable funds at par.

Section 5. Authorization of Indenture. The Board does hereby authorize and direct the President of the
University to execute and deliver, for and in the name and behalf of the University, to The Bank of New York Melion Trust
Company, N.A,, as Trustee under the aforesaid Indenture, a Seventh Supplemental University Facilities Revenue Trust
Indenture in substantially the form presented to the meeting at which this resolution is adopted and attached as Exhibit |
to the minutes of said meeting (which form is hereby adopted in all respects as if set out in full in this resolution), and does
hereby authorize and direct the Secretary of the Board to affix to the Seventh Supplemental University Facilities Revenue
Trust Indenture the corporate seal of the University and to attest the same.

Section 6. Sale of the Bond. The Bond is hereby sold and awarded to Compass Bank (the "Purchaser"), at
and for a purchase price equal to $29,750,000 (the face amount of the Bond). The Bond shall bear such date, shall
mature in annual installments at such times and in such manner, shall bear such rate of interest, shall be payable at such
place, shall be in such denomination, and shall be in such form and contain such provisions as are set out in the Seventh
Supplemental University Facilities Revenue Trust Indenture authorized in Section 5 above.

Section 7. Execution and Delivery of the Bond. The Board does hereby authorize and direct the President
of the University to execute the Bond, in the name and on behaif of the University, by causing a manual or facsimile of his
signature to be imprinted thereon, and does hereby authorize and direct the Secretary of the Board to cause the corporate
seal of the University to be imprinted or impressed on the Bond and to attest the same by causing a manual or facsimile
of her signature to be imprinted thereon, all in the manner pravided in the Indenture, and the President of the University
is hereby authorized and directed to deliver the Bond, subsequent to its execution as provided herein and in the Indenture,
to the Trustee under the Indenture, and to direct the Trustee to authenticate the Bond and to deliver it to the Purchaser.

Section 8. Application of Proceeds. The entire proceeds derived from the sale of the Bond shall be paid to
the University and applied for payments of the costs of the Improvements and of issuing the Bond.

Section 9. Designation of Bond as "Qualified Tax-Exempt Obligation”. The Board hereby designates the Bond
as a "qualified tax-exempt obligation” for the purpose of paragraph (b)(3)(A) of Section 265 of the Internal Revenue Code
of 1986, as amended, and, in connection therewith and after due investigation and consideration, herebyfinds, determines
and declares that the amount of tax-exempt obligations that have heretofore during the current calendar year been issued
by the University and all subordinate entities of the University and the reasonably anticipated amount of tax-exempt
obligations that will be issued by the University and all subordinate entities of the University during the current calendar
year (including, without limitation, the Bond) will not exceed the sum of $30,000,000.

Section 10. Resolution Constitutes Contract. The provisions of this resolution shall constitute a contract
between the University and the Purchaser of the Bond.

Section 11. Severability. The various provisions of this resolution are hereby declared to be severable. In the
event any provision hereof shall be held invalid by a court of competent jurisdiction, such invalidity shall not affect any
other portion of this resolution.

Section 12. General Authorization. The President of the University, the Vice President for Financial Affairs and
the Secretary of the Board are hereby authorized to execute such further agreements, certifications, instruments or other
documents and to take such other action as any of them may deem appropriate or necessary for the consummation of
the matters covered by this resolution, to the end that the Bond may be executed and delivered as promptly as practicable.

Mayor Nix called for consideration of ITEM 19.A as follows. President Moulton noted the
approaching deadline for the receipt of construction bids and said the Administration would be
prudent in selecting the firm that meets all requirements. He asserted that construction would begin
as quickly as possible in order for the facility to be complete for the 2011 fall semester. On motion
by Mr. Yance, seconded by Ms. Miree, the resolution was unanimously approved:
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RESOLUTION
GENERAL CONTRACTOR FOR RESIDENTIAL BUILDING

WHEREAS, the University of South Alabama has a growing enrollment, and
WHEREAS, the quality of student life is strongly enhanced by excellent residential facilities, and
WHEREAS, the recruitment of students is strongly enhanced by high quality residential facilities, and

WHEREAS, the number of students seeking residence on campus has grown significantly over the past three
years, and

WHEREAS, providing additional residential buildings is most beneficial at the beginning of a fall semester, and

WHEREAS, due to the increasing demand for on campus living-learning facilities, the fall of 2011 is the target
date for a new residential building, and

WHEREAS, request for bids for the General Contractor for this residential building project will be first advertised
June 8, 2010, with bids to be received on July 7, 2010, and

WHEREAS, in order to meet the above construction scheduling requirements, the contract awarded to the
General Contractor with the lowest responsible and responsive bid must be executed no later than July 12, 2010,

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the Board of Trustees of the University of South Alabama hereby authorizes

the President of the University to approve the General Contractor selected through the bid process prescribed by Alabama
law.

Chairman Stokes called for a report of audit items. Mayor Nix, Audit Committee Chair, asked for
presentation of ITEM 20, the Department of Examiners of Public Accounts Compliance Examination
of the University of South Alabama for the fiscal year ending September 30, 2008. Mr. Simmons
discussed the report, which presented two comments for the attention of the Board of Trustees. He
explained the findings and corrective measures, stating the weaknesses in internal controls had been
identified and strengthened. He addressed questions and remarks from Board members.

President Moulton presented ITEM 21 as follows, which honors the service and loyalty of former
longtime Trustee Jack Brunson with the naming of a University road in his memory. He said the
road leads into campus from the Hillsdale subdivision. President Moulton read the resolution and,

on motion by Ms. Mitchell, seconded by Ms. Maye, the resolution was unanimously approved.

Dr. Stokes remembered Mrs. Edna Brunson, wife of Mr. Brunson, as a gracious lady:

RESOLUTION
NAMING OF JACK BRUNSON DRIVE

WHEREAS, the University of South Alabama seeks to recognize persons who have rendered exemplary service
in its growth and development, and

WHEREAS, the naming of facilities and campus streets offers opportunities to honor and memorialize such
individuals for their significant roles in the history of the University, and

WHEREAS, Mr. fack Brunson, a member of the Board of Trustees from 1989 - 2006 and Chair Pro Tempore
from June 1998 through May 2001, made generous contributions of time, dedicated service, wise counsel, and financial
resources and exemplified the highest qualities of leadership and stewardship,
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THEREFORE, BE T RESOLVED, in recognition of Mr. Jack Brunson’s outstanding service souvenir commitment

to the University of South Alabama, the Board of Trustees authorizes the President to change the name of Hillsdale Drive
to Jack Brunson Drive.

Upon unanimous agreement, the Board took a brief recess.

Chairman Stokes reconvened the meeting and President Moulton addressed ITEM 21.A as follows.
He welcomed the Coveys and reminisced about Dr. Covey’s distinguished career at the University,
describing her as an innovator, He announced a major gift from the Coveys in the amount of
$2 million to create the Leeman Harper Covey Scholars Fund, an endowed scholarship for deserving
Allied Health Professions students. In recognition of this gift and her numerous accomplishments
and contributions over the years, President Moulton stated that the naming of the Pat Capps Covey
College of Allied Health Professions was fitting of Dr. Covey’s legacy as the founding Dean of the
College. To mark the occasion, President Moulton presented the Coveys with a framed resolution.
Dr. Covey spoke of the rewarding opportunities and friends she enjoyed during her tenure. The
Coveys recognized Arlene, Mayer and Abe Mitchell for their inspiring philanthropic support of the
University. Mr. Covey conveyed pride in the accomplishments of his wife and shared the
inspirations for his decision to make the gift. On motion by Mr. Langham, seconded by
Sheriff Mixon, the Board unanimously approved the resolution:

RESOLUTION
NAMING OF THE PAT CAPPS COVEY COLLEGE OF ALLIED HEALTH PROFESSIONS

WHEREAS, Dr, Pat Capps Covey, prior to her retirement in 2008, served the University of South Alabama with
highest distinction during a career spanning 33 years as a Professor of Biomedical Sciences, founding Chair of the
Department of Clinical Laboratory Sciences, Director of Allied Health Professions, founding Dean of the Coliege of Allied
Health Professions, and Senior Vice President for Academic Affairs, and

WHEREAS, during her distinguished tenure, Dr. Covey worked diligently to advance many University initiatives,
including development of graduate and undergraduate programs in the College of Allied Health Professions, a succession
of institutional self-study processes for accreditation renewal by the Southern Association of Colleges and Schocls;
creation of the USA Honors Program; development of guidelines for increased student recruitment and retention;
development of the University of South Alabama Strategic Plan for Racial and Ethnic Diversity, and creation of a partnership
with Auburn University to offer a pharmacy doctoral program on the USA campus, and

WHEREAS, Leeman H. Covey has been a staunch supporter of the University of South Alabama and the programs
and initiatives led by Dr. Covey, as well as a highly respected leader in higher education, government, and business
endeavors in the region, having served as Vice President for Financial Affairs at Spring Hill College, Director of Fiscal Affairs
for the City of Mobile, and President and Chair of the Board of Collegiate Housing Foundation, and

WHEREAS, Dr. Pat Capps Covey and Leeman H. Covey, in addition to numerous other significant gifts and
donations, recently have pledged to the University the sum of $2,000,000, the assets from which an endowment will be

established to fund scholarship programs in the College of Allied Health Professions to be named the Leeman Harper Covey
Schotars Program,

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, the Board of Trustees expresses its gratitude and appreciation for the generosity
and legacy of service and leadership of Dr. Pat Capps Covey and Leeman H. Covey and hereby names the Fat (apps Covey
College of Allied Health Frofessions in recognition thereof.

Chairman Stokes called for a report from the Nominating Committee for the election of officers,
ITEM 22. Mr. Langham, Committee Chair, congratulated Dr. Stokes for completion of his tenure
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as Chair Pro Tempore since 2007. He discussed the process for determining a slate of officers and
thanked Trustees for their input and involvement. He and Dr. Stokes attested to the excellent
qualifications of fellow Board members. On behalf of the Committee, he offered a recommendation
that Mr. Yance serve as Chair Pro Tempore, Dr. Furr serve as Vice Chair, and Ms. Maye serve as
Secretary. On motion by Ms. Miree, seconded by Ms. Mitchell, the officers were unanimously
approved. Dr. Stokes noted that the officers are connected with the community and health care
arena, an advantage for the University. Officer terms are for the period 2010 to 2013. Dr. Stokes
passed the gavel to Mr. Yance. Mr. Yance thanked Board members for their confidence.

There being no further business, the meeting was adjourned at 11:55 a.m.

Attest to: Respectfully Submitted:

Bettye R. Maye, Secretary Steven H. Stokes, M.D., Chair Pro Tempore
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UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH ALABAMA
BOARD OF TRUSTEES

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE

June 9, 2010
2:00 p.m.

A meeting of the Committee of the Whole was duly convened by Dr. Steven H. Stokes, Chair Pro

Tempore, on Wednesday, June 9,2010, at 2:02 p.m. in the Board Room of the Frederick P. Whiddon
Administration Building.

Members Present: Trustees Steven Furr (via phone), Cecil Gardner, Sam Jones,
Donald Langham, Bettye Maye, Christie Miree, Arlene Mitchell,

Bryant Mixon, Jim Nix, John Peek, Ken Simon, Steven Stokes, and
James Yance.

Members Absent: Trustees Scott Charlton, Joseph Morton, Bob Riley, and Larry Striplin.

Administration President Gordon Moulton; Drs. Michael Boyd, Joe Busta,
and Others: Jim Connors and Julie Estis (Faculty Senate), Ron Franks, David Johnson,
Russ Lea, Robert Shearer, John Smith and David Stearns;
Messrs. Louis Cardinal (Thornton Farish, Inc.), Wayne Davis,
Stan Hammack and Rod Kanter (Bradley Arant Boult Cummings, LLP);
and Mss. Kim Proctor (SGA) and Jean Tucker.

Press: Ms. Renee Busby (Press-Register).

Chairman Stokes called the meeting of the Committee of the Whole to order and welcomed Trustees
and guests. AtPresident Moulton’s recommendation, he proposed detailed discussion of ITEMS 8.4,
15,18.4, 18.B and 19, and any other agenda item a Committee member desired to address.

President Moulton discussed financial challenges amid the greatest economic recession in USA’s
history as the Committee viewed a graphic presentation of statistical data. He reported that the net
funding cut to the University over a four-year period is $40 million, a 29 percent reduction, and
noted that reductions of state appropriations are among the largest in the nation. The University is
further strained with state retirement system employer contributions at near historic levels.

President Moulton detailed increases in annual costs as compared to 2007-2008 levels, including
$8 million for health insurance, $2.8 million for PEEHIP, $4.8 million for retirees, and $7.8 million
in utilities and maintenance costs for a total of $23.4 million in additional expenses over the three

previous years. Inclusive with the net state funding cuts, the total fund reduction amounts to
$63.4 million.

President Moulton reported that aggressive cost-cutting measures had been implemented, and said

that the staff are doing more with less resources. He said that the hiring freeze resulted in a
reduction of 320 positions over three years for a savings of $15 million annually. He noted that
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faculty and staff have sacrificed to cover these duties, yet, for the first time in USA history, salary
increases have not been given for three consecutive years. Additional measures include the
elimination of overtime pay, temporary personnel, staff reclassifications, cell phones, travel, and
equipment and computer purchases unless absolutely necessary.

President Moulton outlined the positive factors that will help the University address the
$63.4 million deficit. He stated that the demand for USA products and services is on the rise and
employees must be retained to meet the need. He said that enrollment is expected to top 15,000
students for the 2010 fall semester, which would constitute a significant increase since 2007 by
approximately 1,000 students. He discussed that increased enrollment combined with raising tuition
would make up $32 million, and existing departmental cost reductions would make up $15 million,
leaving a $16.4 million net deficit. The proposed budget for 2010-2011 projects $690.9 million in
revenues and $707.3 million in expenses. When the federal stimulus funding of $10.8 million is
applied, the deficit is further reduced to $5.6 million. President Moulton noted that the stimulus
funding is expected to end in 2012. Questions and comments were addressed. The Committee was
advised that the disciplines which show the fastest rate of growth are Allied Health Professions,
Engineering, Nursing, and Computer and Information Sciences.

Ms. Miree recommended Board approval of ITEM 15 (for copies of resolutions, policies, and other
authorized documentation, refer to the USA Board of Trustees meeting minutes, June 10, 2010), a
resolution to adopt the tuition, housing, and fee schedules for 2010-2011 as set forth.
President Moulton presented comparative data showing what tuition peer institutions in the state are
expected to adopt or have already approved, which averages 14 percent or $7,559 for 15 credit
hours. He advised that Troy University had approved a 19 percent tuition increase. He reported that
miscellaneous required student fees charged at USA would henceforth be rolled into the credit-hour
charge, with the exception of a $150 registration fee for students taking up to 14 credit hours, which
will be waived for students taking 15 or more credit hours. He stated that USA’s non-resident fees
are well below those of the University of Alabama and Auburn University, and, under the proposed
schedules, the undergraduate rate for resident tuition will be $227 per credit hour, or $6,810
inclusive per academic year for 30 credit hours. Under the recommendation, USA would remain
10 percent below the state average of $7,559, a difference of $749.

Dr. Stearns reported that USA students receive $10 million in financial aid. President Moulton
called upon Ms. Kim Proctor, SGA President, for remarks. Ms. Proctor said students understand
the necessity to sustain programs. She noted the primary concern of students is that scholarships
are not keeping pace with tuition increases. She spoke of the importance of advising students how
tuition money is allocated. Mr. Peek expressed appreciation for student feedback, and commented
that the continued development of South Alabama is vital and that a USA degree becomes more
valuable as the University advances. He added that decisions about tuition increases are the most
difficult the Board must confront. President Moulton discussed a study by the Southern Regional
Education Board (SREB) which suggests the money USA spends on classes is among the highest
of most reporting institutions. Judge Simon inquired about feedback from the faculty.
President Moulton introduced Dr. Jim Connors, Faculty Senate President. Dr. Comnors said the
Administration and Faculty Senate Executive Committee meet regularly, and the
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Administration has done a tremendous job navigating the budget challenges. On motion duly made
and seconded, the Committee unanimously agreed to recommend approval by the full Board.
President Moulton noted that housing fees would increase by six percent. He made remarks about
the disparity of PACT legislation which imposes a 2.5 percent limit on annual tuition and fee
increases except for students attending the University of Alabama and Auburn University. With

approximately 400 PACT students enrolled at USA, the University stands to lose up to $1.6 million
in revenue over the next five years.

President Moulton called upon Mr. Wayne Davis to present ITEM 18.8, a resolution to approve the
University budget for 2010-2011. Mr. Davis discussed the report titled University of South Alabama
Budget Highlights 2010-201 1, noting the substantial reductions in state appropriations over a three-
year period. He compared the current year’s expenses and revenues to those proposed for the 2010-
2011 fiscal year. He stated that the Administration is confident in how the division managers are
analyzing needs and cutting expenses. On motion duly made and seconded, the Committee
unanimously agreed to recommend full Board approval.

President Moulton introduced ITEM 19, a resolution authorizing the issuance of one $29,750,000
University Facilities Revenue Capital Improvement Bond, Series 2010, to fund construction of a
student residence hall and various other construction and renovations projects on campus. Referring
to a drawing of the four-story residence hall, President Moulton stated the building will consist of
331 single-occupancy rooms. The layout is designed for two rooms to share a restroom. Aerial
photos were shown of the site close to existing residence halls. The facade will be similar to that
of other new buildings to promote a unified appearance of the campus. President Moulton reported
that the architects are on schedule to complete the plans in approximately three weeks. Noting the
urgency to complete an anticipated 12-month construction schedule by the 2011 fall semester, he
advised that the resolution provides authority for the President to award the construction bid

promptly upon the acceptance of completed architectural plans. He added that the new residence
hall is a self-funded project.

Mr. Davis stated that a request for bids had been submitted to all major banks. He explained the
prudence of considering the finance options of a bank-qualified loan or issuing bonds for the most
competitive terms. He introduced Messrs. Louis Cardinal of the firm of Thornton Farish, Inc., and
Rod Kanter of the firm of Bradley Arant Boult Cummings, LLP, for comments about the transaction.
Mr. Cardinal talked about the advantages of financing the University’s capital improvements with
a bank-qualified loan as compared to a traditional bond issue. He said 11 banks had been invited
to bid and the University had requested certain finance terms. He reported that four bids were
received, with Compass Bank submitting the most attractive proposal for a 3.81 percent fixed
interest rate on a 20-year loan. Additionally, approximately $180,000 in customary transaction costs
were waived, including printing, underwriting, and rating fees. Attorneys’ fees were significantly
reduced as well. Mr. Kanter talked about the resolution and invited questions. He said the bond
would close on June 16, and explained parity liens on gross revenues.

Dr. Smith reported that the housing demand for the upcoming fall semester is significantly above
what the University can accommodate. He discussed the room layout, which is based upon a design
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used at Spring Hill College. The rooms will be 18.5 feet by 9.5 fect. President Moulton and
Dr. Smith explained the benefits of establishing a “learning community” social concept, with
common areas for independent and group study, and a faculty member living on-site.
President Moulton noted that the “village” atmosphere is a rising trend seen on today’s college
campuses. Ms. Proctor observed that the students are enthusiastic about the new residence hall. On
motion duly made and seconded, the Committee unanimously agreed to recommend full Board
approval.

Mr. Hammack presented ITEM 8., a resolution authorizing the creation of USA HealthCare
Management, LLC, a limited liability company under which all health care enterprises of the
University would be managed. He explained that, under this entity, USA can structure a competitive
retirement plan at a cost well below what the University is required to pay to the State Teachers’
Retirement System (STRS) in employer contributions. This would provide a welcome cost-savings
and would allow employees flexibility with regard to retirement, an advantage not currently
available. He emphasized that participation is entirely voluntary for existing employees, and
projected that 20 to 25 percent of employees would elect to transition to the new company. Mr.
Gardner expressed concern. President Moulton explained that the Administration had considered
every possible solution to keep the hospitals viable amid the constraints of indigent funding and
Medicaid reimbursement uncertainties, and that an LLC option would help the University alleviate
some costs while preserving employees’ interests. A motion was made and seconded. Mr. Peek
recommended that the Committee take additional time to consider the matter before making a
decision. Consequently, the motion to recommend was withdrawn.

Concerning a report on the sale of the USA Brookley Center Campus, ITEM 18.A, Mayor Jones
remarked that economics should not prevent the University from growth. He further asserted that
Mobile’s future growth is tied into aerospace development, and noted that the Brookley property is
the means for this to evolve. He stated that the community is concerned for the use of Brookley.
President Moulton reported that the Administration had communicated with the Mobile Airport
Authority relative to acquisition of the property, and that common ground on terms of a purchase
could not ultimately be reached. He said that the state did not show interest. He assured that the
University is committed to the use of this asset to benefit the community. He said the sale of
Brookley was advertised for six weeks and one offer had been received. President Moulton reported
that the Foundation plans to invest sale proceeds to benefit the University and is on board with
preservation of the land for a suitable use. Mayor Jones agreed that utilization in an advantageous

way at a future time would bolster economic development in Mobile and the surrounding
community.

President Moulton discussed a resolution of the USA Foundation Board of Directors which gave
authorization for the Foundation to enter an option to purchase the USA Brookley Center. Copies
of the resolution were distributed. Mayor Jones conveyed support from the community for the
option to purchase. Dr. Stokes and Mr. Yance agreed that the resolution is a better solution than had
been previously considered. It was noted that the option to purchase would allow the Foundation
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to realize a savings on ad valorem taxes. On motion duly made and seconded, the Committee
unanimously agreed to recommend full Board approval.
There being no further business, the meeting was adjourned at 3:36 p.m.

Attest to: Respectfully Submitted:

Bettye R. Maye, Secretary Steven H. Stokes, M.D., Chair Pro Tempore
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ITEM 3
SEPTEMBER 17,2010

RESOLUTION

USA HOSPITALS
MEDICAL STAFF APPOINTMENTS AND REAPPOINTMENTS

FOR MAY, JUNE, JULY AND AUGUST 2010
WHEREAS, the Medical Staff appointments and reappointments for May, June, July and
August 2010 for the University of South Alabama Hospitals are recommended for approval by the
Medical Executive Committees and the Executive Committee of the University of South Alabama
Hospitals,
THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the Board of Trustees of the University of South

Alabama approves the appointments and reappointments as submitted.



UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH ALABAMA

STANLEY K. HAMMACK
VICE PRESIDENT

HEALTH SYSTEM

RECD
FICE OF THE PRESIDNN :

LG 1S 201

UBHVERSTTY OF SOUTH Al sBAR
TELEPHONE;%‘E}) '47’1‘-?%% BAEAL
2451 FILLINGIM STREET, SUITE 3040
MOBILE, ALABAMA 366172293
FAX: (251) 471-7751

MEMORANDUM
TO: V. Gordon Moulton
President
FROM:  Stan Hammack {(\A
DATE: August 11, 2010
Attached for review and approval by the Health Affairs Committee and the Board of
Trustees are:
For Approval:

University of South Alabama Hospitals

Credentials Report —May, June, July and August 2010

SKH:eb /‘
Attachment M l
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ITEM 4

September 17,2010

RESOLUTION

SECOND ADDENDUM TO THE AFFILIATION AGREEMENT
BETWEEN THE UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH ALABAMA
AND THE UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH ALABAMA HEALTH SERVICES FOUNDATION

WHEREAS, the University of South Alabama (“University”) and the University of South
Alabama Health Services Foundation (“USAHSF”) previously entered into that certain Affiliation
Agreement Between the University of South Alabama and the University of South Alabama Health
Services Foundation, dated October 1, 1976 (“Original Affiliation Agreement”), which was
subsequently amended January 2, 2004 (“First Amended Affiliation Agreement”) (together, the
“Amended Affiliation Agreement™), and

WHEREAS, on June 10, 2010, the Board of Trustees of the University determined it in the
best interest of the University, in furtherance of the purposes for which it was created, for USA
HealthCare Management, LLC (“HCM?”) to be created for the purpose of managing and operating, on
behalf of and as agent for the University, substantially all of the health care enterprises of the

University, and which is intended to operate as an integral part of the University, and

WHEREAS, the University, USAHSF, and HCM desire to amend the Amended Affiliation
Agreement to provide for the changes in connection therewith and the operation of the HCM as an

integral part of the University and a component of the University of South Alabama Academic
Medical Center,

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the Board of Trustees of the University of South

Alabama hereby approves the Second Addendum to Affiliation Agreement as set forth and attached
hereto.



OFFICEOFTHE VICE PRESIDENT

UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH ALABAMA

TELEPHONE: (251) 460-7189
MOBILE, ALABAMA 36688-0002

FORHEALTHSCIENCES FAX: (251) 460-6073
September 2, 2010
REC'D
QFFICE OF THE PRESIDENT
TO: V. Gordon Moulton
President SEP 02 2010
FROM: Ronald D. Franks,\M.D. ., "
Vice President for Health Sciences UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH ALABAM/
Samuel J. Strada, Ph.D.
Dean, College of Medicine
SUBJECT:

Resolution Approving the Second Addendum to Affiliation Agreement

Attached please find the above-referenced Resolution regarding the approval of

the Second Addendum to the Aftiliation Agreement between the University of South
Alabama, the University of South Alabama Health Services Foundation and the USA
HealthCare Management, LLC. I recommend that the resolution be presented to the

Board of Trustees for their consideration and approval at the September 17, 2010
meeting.

RDF/ce
Enclosures



SECOND ADDENDUM TO
AFFILIATION AGREEMENT

STATE OF ALLABAMA)

COUNTY OF MOBILE)

This Second Addendum to Affiliation Agreement is made and entered nto among THE
UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH ALABAMA, a public body corporate organized under the Acts of the
Legislature of the State of Alabama (herein call the “University”), the UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH
ALABAMA HEALTH SERVICES FOUNDATION, a non-profit corporation organized under the
laws of the State of Alabama (herein called the “Foundation™) and USA HEALTHCARE
MANAGEMENT LLC (“Manager”).

WITNESSETH

WHEREAS, the University and the Foundation previously entered into that certain
AFFILIATION AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF THE
UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH ALABAMA AND THE UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH ALABAMA
HEALTH SERVICES FOUNDATION, dated October 1, 1976 (the “Original Affiliation
Agreement”), which was subsequently amended January 2, 2004 (the “First Amended Affiliation
Agreement”)(together, the “Amended Affiliation Agreement”);

WHEREAS, the University owns and operates the University of South Alabama College of
Medicine (the “College of Medicine™) and its affiliated hospitals and clinics, including without
limitation the University of South Alabama Medical Center, USA Children’s & Women’s Hospital,

and the University of South Alabama Mitchell Cancer Institute (collectively, the “Hospitals and
Clinics™),

WHEREAS, the Foundation conducts a group practice health care provider organization
which is composed of Faculty of the College of Medicine, which Foundation is devoted to
supporting the University and the College of Medicine and which functions as a component of the
University of South Alabama Academic Medical Center (“USA Academic Medical Center”);

WHEREAS, the missions of the University, the College of Medicine, the Hospitals and

Clinics and the Foundation are teaching, patient care, research, and public service programs in the
health services field;

WHEREAS, the University is the sole owner of and has formed the Manager as an

additional component to operate and manage the Hospitals and Clinics and which is intended to
operate as an integral part of the University;

WHEREAS, the parties hereto desire to amend the Amended Affiliation Agreement to

provide for the changes in connection therewith and the operation of the Manager as an integral part
of the University;

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and the mutual agreements
hereinafter set forth, the parties hereto agree as follows:

1. The University and the Foundation hereby ratify and affirm that the Qriginal
Affiliation Agreement has been in continuous existence since October 1, 1976. The University and



the Foundation further ratify and affirm the various budgets and schedules that form a part of the
relationship among the components of the USA Academic Medical Center.

2. The University, as sole manager of the Manager, hereby affirms and declares that
the Manager is a component of the USA Academic Medical Center. The Manager hereby joins in
and becomes a part of the Amended Affiliation Agreement and accepts the rights and
responsibilities as one of the components of the USA Academic Medical Center.

3. The Original Affiliation Agreement is hereby amended as follows:

a. In sections 1 and 3(a), add after “and under financial contract with the
University of South Alabama” the words “or entities controlled thereby...” in
each place in which such langnage appears.

b. In section 1, add after “are not under financial contract with the University of

South Alabama” the words “or entities controlled thereby...” in the second
line.

c. In section 5, references to “the University” means “the University or entities
controlled thereby...”

d. In section 7, add after “employees of the University” the words “or entities
controlled thereby...” in four places in which such language appears.

4, The First Amended Affiliation Agreement is hereby amended as follows;:

a. In section 1, add after “The University...” the words “or entitics controlled
thereby...”

b. In section 3, insert in the last line after “personnel of the University of South
Alabama” the words “and entities controlled thereby....”

c. Delete section 4 (and Exhibits 1 and 2) and insert in lieu thereof: “Therefore,
the University, the Foundation and the Manager agree that the Foundation will
lease from the University the clinical services of certain Faculty and support
personnel of the University or persons provided to the University by the
Manager to provide the aforementioned patient health care services in
exchange for compensation from the Foundation to the University at the rate
charged by the University or by the Manager, including payroll expenses, all
at the rate of fair market value for the goods and services of the individuals

leased or provided. None of the money paid herein is intended to induce
referrals.”

5. The University, Manager and Foundation represent and covenant that during the
term of this Affiliation Agreement, the aggregate compensation paid to their physician employees
(as such term is defined in Social Security Act Section 1877 and regulations promulgated
thereunder) shall be set in advance and shall not compensate such employees, directly or indirectly,
in a manner that varies with, or takes into account, the value or volume of referrals to any of the
components of the USA Academic Medical Center.
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6. The parties to this agreement may from time to time agree to make contributions to
each other to support the missions of each of them. Such agreements may be set out in writing or
evidenced by budgets or schedules approved from time to time by their respective governance
procedures. All transfers of money between components must directly or indirectly support the
Missions of teaching, providing care for eligible medically indigent persons, research or community
service. Any money paid to the Foundation or one of its physicians for research must be used
solely to support bona fide research, must be consistent with the terms and conditions of the grant,
and the grantee must provide documentation satisfactory to the grantor that the money was used for
the stated purpose.

7. This SECOND ADDENDUM TO AFFILIATION AGREEMENT shall be
effective as of the 1* day of October, 2010 and shall automatically renew for additional one-year
terms, unless any party terminates the agreement on at least thirty (30) days prior written notice to
the others. In event this Second Addendum is terminated before the expiration of the first year, the
parties shall not enter into the same or similar referral until the expiration of the first year term.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Foundation, the University and the Manager have caused
this SECOND ADDENDUM TO AFFILIATION AGREEMENT to be executed in their respective
corporate names by their authorized representatives, all duly attested, in three counterparts, each of
which shall be deemed an original, all as of this day of , 2010.

By its signature below, USA HealthCare Management LLC shall become a part of the Amended
Affiliation Agreement and this Second Addendum to Affiliation Agreement.

ATTEST: THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF THE
UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH ALABAMA

By:

Chair Pro Tempore

ATTEST: THE UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH ALABAMA
HEALTH SERVICES FOUNDATION

By:
President, Board of Directors
ATTEST: USA HEALTHCARE MANAGEMENT, LLC
By:

Manager

11
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University of South Alabama

Management’s Discussion and Analysis

Introduction

The following discussion presents an overview of the financial position and financial
activities of the University of South Alabama (the University). This discussion was

prepared by University management and should be read in conjunction with the financial
statements and notes thereto, which follow.

Financial Highlights

At June 30, 2010, the University had total assets of $859,981,000, total liabilities of
$452,351,000 and net assets of $407,630,000. University net assets increased $951,000
for the nine months ended June 30, 2010 compared to a decrease of $12,544,000 for the
nine months ended June 30, 2009. An overview of each statement is presented below
along with a financial analysis of the transactions impacting the statement.

Condensed financial statements for the University at and for the nine months ended June
30, 2010 and 2009 follow (in thousands):

Condensed Statements of Net Assets

2010 2009
Assets
Current $ 270,118 $ 271,221
Capital and other noncurrent assets 589.863 541,024
859,981 812,245
Liabilities
Current 98,582 88,903
Noncurrent 353.769 327,559
452,351 416,462
Net Assets
Invested in capital assets, net
of related debt 197,823 180,311
Restricted, nonexpendable 29,275 26,440
Restricted, expendable 27,038 28,461
Unrestricted 153,494 160,571

8 407,630 $ 395,783
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (continued)

Condensed Statements of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Assets

2010 2009

Operating revenues
Tuition and fees 54,530 52,077
Hospital revenues, net 161,628 151,544
Other 87.818 89,780
303,976 293,401

Operating expenses
Salaries and benefits 284,810 285,508
Supplies and other services 95,818 88,452
Other 33.428 32,861
414,056 406,821
Operating loss (110,080) (113,420)

Nonoperating revenues (expenses)

State appropriations 75,017 83,166
State appropriated ARRA funds 8,185 -
Other, net 13,040 4,700
Net nonoperating revenues 96,242 87.866
Other revenues, expenses, gains or losses 14,789 13,010
Increase (decrease) in net assets 951 (12,544)
Beginning net assets 406,679 408,327
Ending net assets $ 407630 $ 395,783

Analysis of Financial Position and Results of Operations

Statements of Net Assets

The statements of net assets present the assets, liabilities and net assets of the University
as of the end of the current reporting period. The net assets are displayed in three parts,
invested in capital assets net of related debt, restricted and unrestricted. Restricted net
assets may either be expendable or nonexpendable and are those assets that are restricted
by law or by an external donor. Unrestricted net assets, while they are generally
designated for specific purposes, are available for use by the University tg meet current
expenses for any purposes. The statements of net assets, along with all qf the
University’s basic financial statements, are prepared under the accrual basis of
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (continued)

accounting, whereby revenues are recognized when the service is provided and expenses

are recognized when others provide the service to the University, regardless of when cash
is exchanged.

Assets included in the statements of net assets are classified as current or noncurrent.
Current assets consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents, operating investments and
hospital patient accounts receivable. Current liabilities consist primarily of accounts
payable and accrued liabilities.

Net assets represent the residual interest in the University’s assets after liabilities are
deducted and are classified into one of four categories as shown on the following
illustration, as of the end of the current reporting period:

Net Assets

Unrestricted - 39%

Ivested in capital assets,
net of related debt - 46%

Net assets invested in capital assets, net of related debt represent the University’s capital
assets less accumulated depreciation and outstanding principal balances of debt
attributable to the acquisition, construction or improvement of those assets.

Restricted nonexpendable net assets consist primarily of the University’s permanent
endowment funds. The corpus of these funds may not be expended and must remain with
the University in perpetuity. Only the earnings from these funds may be expended.
Restricted expendable net assets are subject to externally imposed restrictions governing

their use. The funds are restricted primarily for debt service, capital projects, student
loans and scholarship purposes.
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Although unrestricted net assets are not subject to externally imposed stipulations,
substantially all of the University’s unrestricted net assets have been designated for
various academic and research programs and initiatives as well as capital projects.

Statements of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Assets

Changes in total University net assets as presented on the statements of net assets are
based on the activity presented in the statement of revenues, expenses and changes in net
assets. The purpose of the statements is to present the revenues received by the
University, both operating and nonoperating, and the expenses paid by the University,

operating and nonoperating, and any other revenues, expenses, gains and losses received
or spent by the University.

Generally, operating revenues are received for providing goods and services to the
various customers and constituencies of the University. Operating expenses are those
expenses paid to acquire or produce the goods and services provided in return for the
operating revenues, and to carry out the mission of the University. Nonoperating
revenues are revenues received for which goods and services are not provided. GASB
Statement No. 34 requires that state appropriations be classified as nonoperating.

Approximately two-thirds of the operating revenues of the University are hospital patient
care revenues. The remainder consists primarily of tuition and fees, grants and contracts
and auxiliary enterprise revenues. The following illustration presents the major sources
of University revenues (operating, nonoperating and other) for the current period:

Sources of Revenues

Hospital patient services

/ revenues - 37%

Other - 15% \
Auxiliary - 3% — ) —
r//// ,

Grants and contracts - 12% /

Tuition and fees - 14% —

— State appropriations - 19%
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (continued)

University expenses are presented using natural expense classifications. Salaries a}nd
benefits represent the majority of the University’s operating expenses. The follm.)vmg
illustration presents the major University operating expenses, including the hospitals,

using natural classification for the current period:
Operating Expenses by Natural Classification

Salaries and benefits - 70%

~

/ Utiltties - 3%

Supplies and other
services - 22%

?—

Scholarships - 1%

Capital Assets and Debt Administration

During the current period, construction continued on the Student Recreation Center, the
Mouiton Bell Tower and Alumni Plaza, and Shelby Hall. Preliminary work is underway
on the new patient care tower at USA’s Children’s and Women’s Hospital. Additionally,
several construction and renovation projects at the University and Hospitals were
ongoing during the current period. In fiscal 2009, the Mitchell Cancer Institute and the
Health Sciences Building were completed and placed into service.

In September 2008, the University issued the University Facilities Revenue and Capital
Improvement Bonds, Series 2008, with a face value of $112,885,000. The net proceeds
of these bonds, issued at a premium of approximately $132,000, will be used to fund an

expansion of the USA Children’s and Women’s Hospital as well as other construction
and capital improvements at the University.

In June 2010, the University Facilities Revenue Capital Improvement Bond, Series 2010,
with a face value of $29,750,000. The net proceeds of these bonds will be used to fund

the construction of new student housing as well as other construction and capital
improvements at the University.
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During the year ended September 30, 2008, the University’s bond credit rating was
upgraded by Moody’s Investors Services from A2 to Al. This represents the first
upgrade of the University’s bond credit rating since 2004. The University also received a

rating of A+ from Standard & Poor’s Rating Services. The ratings remained unchanged
in the current period

Economic Outlook

While enrollment and tuition have both increased in recent years, state appropriations
have historically been relatively flat. However, in the 2008, 2007 and 2006 fiscal years,
the University experienced increases of 16.1%, 19.0% and 17.2%, respectively, or
approximately $19,349,000, $19,185,000 and $14,581,000, respectively, in state
appropriations. These increases are unusually high and are not expected to continue. For
the 2009 fiscal year, the University’s appropriation decreased 12.8% or approximately
$17,882,000. Additionally, in December 2008, the Governor of Alabama announced
proration of the original appropriation of 9% or approximately $10,967,000; and in July
2009, the Governor announced additional proration of 2%, or approximately $2,437,000.

Therefore, the total decrease in the 2009 state appropriation was approximately
$31,286,000 to $108,451,000, or 22.4% lower than in 2008.

A state appropriation in the amount of approximately $108,132,000 was authorized for
the year ending September 30, 2010; however, in September 2009, the Governor
announced proration of 7.5% for the year ending September 30, 2010. Following the

announcement of proration, the state appropriation for the year ending September 30,
2010 is currently $100,022,000.

A state appropriation in the amount of approximately $99,947,000 was authorized for the
year ending September 30, 2011. This represents a slight decrease from the prorated

2010 appropriation. Additionally, University management is aware that proration of the
2011 appropriation is possible.
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State appropriations (actual and adjusted for inflation) for the last ten years are illustrated
below:

State Appropriations - Ten Year History

Millions of Dollars

2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010

ll Actual @ Inflation AdjustedJ

In addition to state appropriations, the University is subject to declines in general
economic conditions in the United States and, specifically, the State of Alabama.
Declines in financial markets have had a significant impact on the value of the
University’s endowment. Further weakening of the economy could have a potential

further negative impact on the University’s enrollment, extramural funding, endowment
performance, and health care operations.

In early 2009, the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009 (ARRA) was
passed by Congress and signed into law by the President. As a result of this legislation,
the University has been awarded approximately $10,769,000 annually in 2010 and 2011
through the U. S. Department of Education’s State Fiscal Stabilization Fund Program.
Additional funding is available through the competitive grant process from various
federal agencies. As of the current date, the University has been awarded or appropriated

ARRA funding totaling approximately $46,222,000. Additional proposals remain
currently outstanding.

Other than the issues presented above, University administration is not aware of any other
currently known facts, decisions, or conditions that are expected to have a significant
effect on the University’s financial position or results of operations during fiscal year
2010 beyond those unknown variables having a global effect on virtually all types of
business operations.
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Statements of Net Assets

June 30, 2010 and 2009
(In thousands)
2010 2009

Assets
Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents $ 114,145 53,780

Investments, at fair value 47,259 117,470

Net patient service receivables 28,709 29,765

Accounts receivable, affiliates 20,532 17,258

Accounts receivable, other 52,038 46,261

Notes receivable, net 462 291

Prepaid expenses, inventories and other 6,973 6,396
Total current assets 270,118 271,221
Noncurrent assets

Restricted cash and cash equivalents 54,323 61,942

Restricted investments 71,365 50,763

Investments, at fair value 759 1,193

Accounts receivable 7,615 7,962

Notes receivable, net 4,380 5,167

Other noncurrent assets 29,568 24,018

Capital assets (net of accumulated depreciation) 421,853 389,979
Total noncurrent assets 589,863 541,024
Total assets 859,981 812,245
Liabilities
Current liabilities

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 46,009 46,461

Deferred revenue 45,198 36,037

Deposits 2,140 988

Current portion of long-term debt 5,235 5,417
Total current liabilities 98,582 88,903
Noncurrent liabilities

Long-term debt 334,308 307,714

Other long-term liabilities 19,461 19,845
Total noncurrent liabilities 353,769 327,559
Total liabilities 452,351 416,462
Net Assets
Invested in capital assets, net of related debt 197,823 180,311
Restricted, nonexpendable

Scholarships 12,888 11,945

Other 16,387 14,495
Restricted, expendable

Scholarships 7,258 3,268

Other 19,780 25,193
Unrestricted 153,494 160,571
Total net assets $ 407,630 395,783

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.
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Statements of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Assets

Nine Months Ended June 30, 2010 and 2009

(In thousands)
2010 2009

Revenues
Operating revenues

Tuition and fees (net of scholarship allowances) $ 54,530 § 52,077

Patient services and other (net of contractual

allowances and bad debt expense) 161,628 151,544

Federal grants and contracts 14,934 16,911

State grants and contracts 4,434 3,154

Private grants and contracts 36,393 35,785

Auxiliary enterprises (net of scholarship allowances) 10,608 10,792

Other operating revenues 21,449 23,138
Total operating revenues 303,976 293,401
Expenses
Operating expenses

Salaries and benefits 284,810 285,508

Supplies and other services 95,818 88,452

Scholarships and fellowships 3,724 2,828

Utilities 10,853 10,818

Depreciation and amortization 18,851 19,215
Total operating expenses 414,056 406,821
Operating loss (110,080) (113,420)
Nonoperating revenues (expenses)

State appropriations 75,017 83,166

State appropriated ARRA funds 8,185 -

Investment income and gains (losses) on investments 7,738 (167)

Interest on indebtedness (9,936) (9,028)

Other nonoperating revenues 18,066 15,339

Other nonoperating expenses (2,828) (1,444)
Net nonoperating revenues 96,242 87,866
Income before other revenues, expenses, gains or losses (13,838) (25,554)
Capital appropriations 3,697 3,924
Capital gifts and grants 8,420 4,211
Additions to endowment 2,672 4,875
Increase (decrease) in net assets 951 (12,544)
Net assets

Beginning of period 406,679 408,327

End of period $ 407,630 § 395,783

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.
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Statement of Cash Flows

June 30, 2010 and 2009
(in thousands)
2010 2009
Cash flows from operating activities:
Receipts related to tuition and fees $ 35334 §$ 36,436
Receipts from and on behalf of patients and third-party payers 163,466 146,744
Receipts from grants and contracts 55,257 54,873
Receipts related to auxiliary enterprises 9,398 9,844
Payments to suppliers and vendors (113,099) (101,388)
Payments to employees and related benefits (285,671) (286,875)
Payments for scholarships and fellowships (3,724) (2,828)
Other operating receipts 27,692 26,235
Net cash used in operating activities (111,347) (116,959)
Cash flows from noncapital financing activities:
State appropriations 66,682 74,108
State appropriated ARRA funds 7,281
Endowment gifts 2,672 4,875
Agency funds received 791 646
Agency funds disbursed (515) (639)
Stafford and PLUS loans received (92) (224)
Stafford and PLUS loans disbursed 292 394
New loans issued to students (47,324) (50,628)
Student loan repayments 47,424 50,699
Other nonoperating revenues 17,945 14,419
Other nonoperating expenses (2,833) (1,911)
Net cash provided by noncapital financing activities 92,323 91,739
Cash flows from capital and related financing activities:
Proceeds from issuance of capital debt 29,750 0
Capital gifts and grants 8,420.00 4,211
Purchases of capital assets (23,807) (49,340)
Principal payments on capital debt (5,025) (4,485)
Interest payments on capital debt (8,992) (8,734)
Net cash used in capital and related
financing activities 346 (58,348)
Cash flows from investing activities:
Interest and dividends on investments 962 3,906
Proceeds from sales of investments 56,922 (60,979)
Purchases of investments (4,683) 126,351
Net cash provided by investing activities 53,201 69,278
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 34,523 (14,290)
Cash and cash equivalents (unrestricted and restricted):
Beginning of year 133,945 130,012
End of period $ 168,468 $ 115,722
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Statement of Cash Flows

June 30, 2010 and 2009
(in thousands)

Reconciliation of operating loss to net cash used in operating activities:
Operating loss $
Adjustments to reconcile operating loss to net cash used in

operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization expense

Changes in assets and liabilities, net:
Student receivables
Net patient accounts receivable
Grants and contracts receivables
Other receivables
Prepaid expenses, inventories, and other
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Deferred revenue

Net cash used in operating activities $

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.
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(110,080) $ (113,420)
18,851 19,215
(29,624) (22,194)
2,873 (3,748)
413 (693)
(1,297) (1,946)
(24) 4,984
(8,485) (9,204)
16,026 10,047
(111,347) $ (116,959)




University of South Alabama
Notes to Financial Statements
June 30, 2010

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Reporting Entity

The accompanying basic financial statements present the financial position and activities
of the University of South Alabama (the University), which is a component unit of the
State of Alabama.

The financial reporting entity, as defined by Governmental Accounting Standards Board
(GASB) Statement No. 14, The Financial Reporting Entity and amended by
GASB Statement No. 39, Determining Whether Certain Organizations Are Component
Units, consists of the primary government and all of its component units. Component
units are legally separate organizations for which the primary government is financially
accountable and other organizations for which the nature and significance of their
relationship with the primary government are such that exclusion would cause the
financial statements to be misleading or incomplete. Accordingly, at year-end, the basic
financial statements include the accounts of the University, as the primary government,
and the accounts of the following entities as component units. For quarterly reporting

purpose, however, component units are not presented in the University’s basic financial
statements.

The University has adopted GASB Statement No.39 which provides criteria for
determining whether certain organizations should be reported as component units based
on the nature and significance of their relationship with the primary government. The
statement also clarifies reporting requirements for those organizations. Based on these
criteria, the University reports the University of South Alabama Foundation (USA
Foundation), the University of South Alabama Health Services Foundation (USAHSF),
and the USA Research and Technology Corporation (the Corporation) as discretely
presented component units in its annual financial statements. For quarterly reporting
purposes, component unit financial statements are not presented.

The University is also affiliated with the South Alabama Medical Science Foundation.

This entity is not considered a component unit of the University under the provisions of
GASB Statement Nos. 14 and 39.

Professional Liability and General Liability Trust Funds

GASB Statement No. 14 requires the University, as the primary government, to include
in its financial statements, as a component unit, organizations that, even though they are
legally separate entities, meet certain requirements as defined by GASB Statement
No. 14. The medical malpractice liability of the University is maintained and managed in
a separate professional liability trust fund (the PLTF) in which the University and
USAHSEF are the only participants. In accordance with the bylaws of the trust fund, the
president of the University is responsible for appointing members of the trust fund policy
committee. Additionally, the general liability of the University is maintained and
managed in a general liability trust fund (the GLTF) for which the University is
responsible, as defined by GASB Statement No. 14. The PLTF and GLTF are separate
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legal entities which are governed by the University Board of Trustees through the
University president. As such, PLTF and GLTF are reported as blended component units
in its annual financial statements. For quarterly reporting purposes these entities are not
blended into the University’s statements.

University of South Alabama Foundation

The USA Foundation is a not-for-profit foundation that was organized for the purpose of
promoting education, scientific research and charitable purposes, and to assist in
developing and advancing the University in furthering, improving and expanding its
properties, services, facilities, and activities. Because of the significance of the
relationship between the University and the USA Foundation, the USA Foundation is
considered a component unit of the University. The Board of Directors of the USA
Foundation is not appointed or controlled by the University. The University receives
distributions from the USA Foundation primarily for scholarship, faculty and other
support. The USA Foundation presents its financial statements in accordance with
standards issued by the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB). The USA

Foundation has a June 30 fiscal year end which differs from the University’s
September 30 fiscal year end.

University of South Alabama Health Services Foundation

The USAHSF is a not-for-profit corporation that exists to provide a group medical
practice for physicians who are faculty members of the University and to further medical
education and research at the University. Because of the significance of the relationship
between the University and USAHSF, USAHSF is considered a component unit of the
University. The USAHSF reimburses the University for salaries, certain administrative
expenses, Dean’s clinical assessment and other support services. The USAHSF presents
its financial statements in accordance with standards issued by the FASB.

USA Research and Technology Corporation

The Corporation is a not-for-profit corporation that exists for the purpose of furthering
the educational and scientific mission of the University by developing, attracting, and
retaining technology and research industries in Alabama that will provide professional
and career opportunities to the University’s students and faculty. Because of the
relationship between the University and the Corporation, the Corporation is considered a

component unit of the University. The Corporation presents its financial statements in
accordance with the GASB.

Measurement Focus and Basis of Accounting

For financial reporting purposes, the University is considered a special purpose
governmental agency engaged only in business type activities, as defined by
GASB Statement No. 34. Accordingly, the University’s basic financial statements have
been presented using the economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of
accounting. Under the accrual basis, revenues are recognized when earned, and expenses
are recorded when an obligation has been incurred.
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The University prepares its basic financial statements in accordance with U. S. generally
accepted accounting principles, as prescribed by the GASB, including all applicable

effective statements of the GASBand all statements of the FASBissued through

November 30, 1989 that do not conflict with GASB pronouncements. The University has

elected not to apply the provisions of any pronouncements of the FASB issued after
November 30, 1989.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U. S. generally accepted
accounting principles requires that management make estimates and assumptions
affecting the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, revenues and expenses, as well as

disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. Actual results could differ from those
estimates.

In particular, laws and regulations governing the Medicare and Medicaid programs are
extremely complex and subject to interpretation. As a result, there is at least a reasonable

possibility that recorded estimates related to these programs could change by a material
amount in the near term.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents are defined as petty cash, demand accounts and any short-term
investments that take on the character of cash. These investments generally, but not

always, have maturities of less than three months and include repurchase agreements and
money market accounts.

Investments and Investment Income

Investments are recorded at fair value. Investments received by gift are recorded at fair

value at the date of receipt. Changes in the fair value of investments are reported in
investment income.

Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable primarily result from net patient service revenue. Accounts
receivable from affiliates primarily represent amounts due from USAHSF for salaries,
and certain administrative and other support services. Accounts receivable — other
includes amounts due from students, the federal government, state and local
governments, or private sources in connection with reimbursement of allowable

expenditures made pursuant to the University’s grants and contracts. Accounts receivable
are recorded net of estimated uncollectible amounts.

Inventories

The University’s inventories primarily consist of bookstore inventories and medical
supplies and pharmaceuticals. Bookstore inventories are valued at the lower of cost
(moving average basis) or market. Medical supplies and pharmaceuticals are stated at the
lower of cost (first-in, first-out basis) or market.
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Capital Assets

Capital assets are recorded at cost, if purchased, or at fair value at date of donation.
Depreciation is provided over the useful life of each class of depreciable asset using the
straight-line method. Major renewals and renovations are capitalized. Costs for repairs
and maintenance are expensed when incurred. When assets are retired or otherwise
disposed of, the cost and related accumulated depreciation are removed from the accounts

and the gain or loss, if any, is included in nonoperating revenues (expenses) in the
statements of revenues, expenses, and changes in net assets.

All capital assets other than land are depreciated using the following asset lives:

Buildings, infrastructure and certain

building components 40 to 100 years
Fixed equipment 10 to 20 years
Land improvements 8 to 20 years
Library materials 10 years
Other equipment 4 to 15 years

Certain buildings are componentized for depreciation purposes.

Interest costs for certain assets constructed are capitalized as a component of the cost of
acquiring those assets.

Deferred Revenue

Student tuition, fees, and dormitory rentals are deferred and recognized over the
applicable portion of each school term.

Opergting lease rental payments related to the University’s lease of USA Knollwood
Hospital to the Infirmary Health System, Inc. are deferred and recognized as revenue
over the term of the lease using the straight-line method.

Classification of Net Assets
The University’s net assets are classified as follows:

Invested in capital assets, net of related debt represents the University’s total investment
in capital assets, net of outstanding debt obligations related to those capital assets. To the
extent debt has been incurred but not yet expended for capital assets, such debt is
excluded from the calculation of invested in capital assets, net of related debt.

Restricted, nonexpendable net assets consist of endowment and similar type funds which
donors or other outside sources have stipulated, as a condition of the gift instrument, the
principal is to be maintained inviolate and in perpetuity, and invested for the purpose of

producing present and future income, which may either be expended or added to
principal.
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Restricted, expendable net assets include resources that the University is legally or
contractually obligated to spend in accordance with restrictions imposed by external
parties.

Unrestricted net assets represent resources derived from student tuition and fees, state
appropriations, net patient service revenue, sales and services of educational activities
and auxiliary enterprises. Auxiliary enterprises are substantially self-supporting activities
that provide services for students, faculty, and staff. While unrestricted net assets may be
designated for specific purposes by action of management or the Board of Trustees, they
are available for use at the discretion of the governing board, to meet current expenses for
any purpose. Substantially all unrestricted net assets are designated for academic and
research programs and initiatives, and capital programs.

When an expense is incurred that can be paid using either restricted or unrestricted
resources, the University addresses each situation on a case-by-case basis prior to
determining the resources to be used to satisfy the obligation.

Scholarship Allowances and Student Financial Aid

Student tuition and fees, and certain other revenues from students, are reported net of
scholarship discounts and allowances in the statements of revenues, expenses, and
changes in net assets. Scholarship discounts and allowances are the difference between
the stated charge for goods and services provided by the University and the amount that
is paid by students and/or third parties making payments on the students’ behalf. Certain
governmental grants, such as Pell grants and other federal, state, or nongovernmental
programs are recorded as either operating or nonoperating revenues in the University’s
basic financial statements based on their classification as either an exchange or
nonexchange transaction. To the extent that revenues from such programs are used to

satisfy tuition and fees and certain other student charges, the University has recorded a
scholarship discount and allowance.

Donor Restricted Endowments

The University is subject to the “Uniform Prudent Management of Institutional Funds
Act (UPMIFA)” of the Code of Alabama. This law allows the University, unless
otherwise restricted by the donor, to spend net appreciation, realized and unrealized, on
the endowment. The law also allows the University to appropriate for expenditure or
accumulate to an endowment fund such amount as to University determines to be prudent
for the purposes for which the endowment was established. The University’s endowment
spending policy provides that 5% of the three-year invested net asset moving average
value (inclusive of net realized and unrealized gains and losses), as measured at
September 30, is available annually for spending. The University’s policy is to retain the
endowment net interest and dividend income and net realized and unrealized appreciation
with the endowment after distributions allowed by the spending policy have been made.

These amounts, unless otherwise directed by the donor, are included in restricted,
expendable net assets.
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Classification of Revenues

The University has classified its revenues as either operating or nonoperating revenues.

Operating revenues include activities that have the characteristics of exchange
transactions such as student tuition and fees, net of scholarship discounts and allowances;

sales and services of auxiliary enterprises, net of scholarship allowances; most federal,
state, and local grants and contracts; and, net patient service revenue.

Nonoperating revenues include activities that have the characteristics of nonexchange
transactions, such as gifts and contributions, and other revenue sources such as state
appropriations, investment income, and gifts.

Gifts and Pledges

Pledges of financial support from organizations and individuals representing an
unconditional promise to give are recognized in the basic financial statements once all
eligibility requirements, including time requirements, have been met. In the absence of
such a promise, revenue is recognized when the gift is received. Endowment pledges
generally do not meet eligibility requirements, as defined by GASB Statement No. 33,
Accounting and Financial Reporting for Nonexchange Transactions and are not recorded
as assets until the related gift has been received. Unconditional promises that are

expected to be collected in future years are recorded at the present value of the estimated
future cash flows.

Grants and Contracts

The University has been awarded grants and contracts for which funds have not been
received or expenditures made for the purpose specified in the award. These awards have
not been reflected in the basic financial statements, but represent commitments of
sponsors to provide funds for specific research or training projects. For grants that have
allowable cost provisions, the revenue will be recognized as the related expenditures are
made. For grants with work completion requirements, the revenue is recognized as the

work is completed. For grants without either of the above requirements, the revenue is
recognized as it is received.

Net Patient Service Revenue

Net patient service revenue is reported at estimated net realizable amounts due from
patients, third-party payers and others for healthcare services rendered, including
estimated retroactive revenue adjustments due to future audits, reviews and
investigations. Retroactive adjustments are considered in the recognition of revenue on an
estimated basis in the period the related services are rendered and such amounts are
adjusted in future periods, as adjustments become known or as years are no longer
subject to such audits, reviews and investigations.
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State Appropriated ARRA Funds

Pursuant to the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009 the University has

been awarded approximately $10,769,000 annually in 2010 and 2011 through the U. S.
Department of Education’s State Fiscal Stabilization Fund Program. These funds are
billed and recorded as revenue as they are expended and reported in the Statement of
Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Assets as State Appropriated ARRA Funds.

Costs of Borrowing

Debt financing costs and bond premium and discounts are deferred and amortized using

the straight-line method, which approximates the effective interest rate method, over the
term of the related bond issue.

Compensated Absences

The University accrues annual leave for employees as incurred at rates based upon length
of service and job classification.

Reclassifications

Certain amounts in the fiscal 2009 basic financial statements have been reclassified in
order to conform to fiscal 2010 classification.

2. Income Taxes

The University is classified as both a governmental entity under the laws of the State of
Alabama and as a tax-exempt entity under Section 501(a) of the Internal Revenue Code
as an organization described in Section 501(c)(3). Consistent with that designation, no

provision for income taxes has been made in the accompanying basic financial
statements.

3. Cash

Pursuant to the Security for Alabama Funds Enhancement Act, funds on deposit may be
placed in an institution designated as a qualified public depository (QPD) by the State of
Alabama. QPD institutions pledge securities to a statewide collateral pool administered
by the State Treasurer’s office. Such financial institutions contribute to this collateral
pool in amounts proportionate to the total amount of public fund deposits at their
respective institutions. The securities are held at the Federal Reserve Bank and are
designated for the State of Alabama. Additional collateral was not required for University
funds on deposit with QPD institutions. At September 30, 2009, the net public deposits

subject to collateral requirements for all institutions participating in the pool totaled
approximately $6,396,247,000.

4. Investments

The investments of the University are invested pursuant to the University of South
Alabama “Nonendowment Cash Pool Investment Policy,” the “Endowment Fund
Investment Policy,” and the “Derivatives Policy” (collectively referred to as the
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University Investment Policies) as adopted by the Board of Trustees. The purpose of the
nonendowment cash pool investment policy is to provide guidelines by which pooled
funds not otherwise needed to meet daily operational cash flows can be invested to earn a
maximum return, yet still maintain sufficient liquidity to meet fluctuations in the inflows
and outflows of University operational funds. Further, endowment fund investment
policies exist to provide earnings to fund specific projects of the endowment fund, while
preserving principal. The University Investment Policies require that management apply
the “prudent person” standard in the context of managing its investment portfolio.

Certain investments, primarily related to the University’s endowment assets, are pooled.

The University uses this pool to manage its investments and distribute investment income
to individual endowment funds.

Credit Risk and Concentration of Credit Risk

The University Investment Policies limit investment in corporate bonds to securities with
a minimum “A” rating, at the time of purchase, by both Moody’s and Standard and
Poor’s. Investments in corporate paper are limited to issuers with a minimum quality
rating of P-1 by Moody’s, A-1 by Standard and Poor’s or F-1 by Fitch.

Additionally, the University Investment Policies require that not more than 10% of the
cash, cash equivalents and investments of the University be invested in the obligations of
a single private corporation and not more than 35% of the cash, cash equivalents and

investments of the University be invested in the obligations of a single government
agency.

Interest Rate Risk

The University’s Investment Policies do not specifically address the length to maturity on
investments which the University must follow; however, they do require that the maturity
range of investments be consistent with the liquidity requirements of the University.

5. Derivative Transactions

In January 2008, the University entered into a synthetic advance refunding of the
outstanding Series 2004 and 2006 bonds with a counterparty. This transaction was
effected through the sale of two swaptions by the University to the counterparty. The
transactions resulted in an up-front payment to the University totaling $9,328,000 in
exchange for selling the counterparty the option to enter into an interest rate swap with
respect to the Series 2004 and 2006 bonds in 2014 and 2016, respectively.

Objective of the derivative transaction

The objective of this transaction is to realize debt service savings currently from future
debt refunding and create an economic benefit to the University.

Terms
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A summary of the transactions is as follow:

Option Effective
Date of  Expiration Date of Termination  Payment

Issue Issue Date Swap Date Amount
Series 2004 bonds 2-Jan-08 16-Dec-13 15-Mar-14 15-Mar-24 § 1,988,000
Series 2006 bonds 2-Jan-08  1-Sep-16  1-Dec-16  1-Dec-36 7,340,000

If the counterparty exercises its options in 2014 and 2016, the University would, at the
counterparty’s option, be forced into an underlying swap. If the option is exercised, the
University would begin to make payments on the notional amount, currently $46,245,000
and $100,000,000 for the 2004 bonds and 2006 bonds, respectively, of the underlying
swap contract. Simultaneously, the University would call outstanding 2004 and 2006
bonds and issue variable rate demand notes (VRDNSs) in their place. Under the swap
contract, the University would pay a fixed rate of 4.9753% on the 2004 bonds and 5.0%
on the 2006 bonds to the counterparty and would receive payments based on 68% of the
one-month LIBOR index. Alternatively, although it is not anticipated that this option
would be to the University advantage, the University could, at its option, cash settle the
swap and retain its right to refund the 2004 and 2006 bonds.

If the interest rate environment is such that the counterparty chooses to not exercise its

option, the swaption would be cancelled and the University would have no further
obligation under this agreement.

Financial statement presentation

A swaption is considered a hybrid instrument and consists of two components, a time
value and an intrinsic value. The intrinsic value of the swaption represents the value of
the counterparty’s option if it were exercised immediately. The time value of the
swaption is the difference between the total value and the intrinsic value and represents
the probability weighted, discounted values of a range of future possible outcomes. The
time and intrinsic values at the date of execution of this transaction were as follows:

2004 Bonds 2006 Bonds
Time value $ 520,000 1,741,000
Intrinsic value 1,468,000 5,599,000
$ 1,988,000 7,340,000

The time value of the payment to the University is considered an embedded derivative
and is reported at its fair value in the statement of net assets as of the current date.
Changes in the fair value of the derivative are reported as deferred cash inflows or
outflows in the statement of net assets.
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The intrinsic value of the payment to the University is considered a borrowing, and as
such is included in long-term debt on the University’s statement of net assets. Interest is

being accrued on, and added to, the borrowing through the expiration date of the option.

Pursuant to the terms of the agreement, the University is required to maintain certain

collateral with the counterparty. Such amounts are included as restricted investments on
the statement of net assets.

Risks associated with this transaction

Certain risks are inherent to derivative transactions.

Interest rate risk. Interest rate risk, as a result of rising short-term interest rates causing
higher interest rate payments, is effectively hedged by the University’s fixed rate bonds.
If the counterparty exercises its options, the underlying swaps are expected to effectively
hedge the potentially higher payments on VRDNSs as well. The University is also subject
to interest rate risk as a result of changes in long-term interest rates, which may cause the
value of fixed rate bonds or interest rate derivatives to change. If long-term interest rates
fall subsequent to the execution of this transaction, the value of the swaptions will
change, with negative consequences for the University.

Market access risk. This transaction assumes that VRDNs will be issued as a
replacement of the 2004 and 2006 bonds. If the University is unable to issue variable rate
bonds after the counterparty exercises its right under the swaptions, the University would
still be required to begin making periodic payments on the swaps, even though there are

no related bonds. Alternatively, the University could choose to liquidate the swaps,
which may create a substantial cash outlay.

Basis risk. If the counterparty exercises its option, there is a risk that the floating

payments received under the swaps will not fully offset the variable rate payments due on
the assumed VRDNS.

Credit risk. Although the underlying swap exposes the University to credit risk should
the swap be executed, the swaption itself does not expose the University to credit risk. If
the option is exercised on one or both issues, the University would begin to make
payments on the appropriate notional amount of the underlying swap contract. In that
situation, if the fair value of the swap is positive, the University would be exposed to
credit risk on the swap in the amount of its fair value. As of the current date, the swap

counterparty was rated Aa2 by Moody’s investors Services, AA by Standard and Poor’s
and AA- by Fitch Ratings.

Termination risk. The University may be required to terminate the swaptions or swaps
under certain circumstances, such as credit downgrades or other events specified in the
contracts. In the event that a position needs to be terminated, the University may owe a
substantial amount of money to terminate the contracts. As of the current date, no events
of termination have occurred.
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6. Bonds Payable
Bonds payable consisted of the following at the end of the current period:

University Tuition Revenue Bonds, Series 1999 Current Interest, 3.7% to 4.35%
payable through November 2010

University Tuition Revenue Bonds, Series 1999 Capital Appreciation, 4.7% to 5.25%,
payable November 2011 through November 2018

University Tuition Revenue Refunding and Capital Improvement Bonds, Series 2004,
2.00% to 5.00%, payable through March 2024

University Tuition Revenue Refunding and Capital Improvement bonds, Series 2006,
5.00%, payable through June 2037

University Facilities Revenue Capital Improvement Bonds, Series 2008, 3.00% to
5.00%, payable through August 2038.

University Facilities Revenue Capital Improvement Bond, Series 2010, 3.81%,
payable through August 2030.

Borrowing arising from swaption, Series 2004 Bonds
Borrowing arising from swaption, Series 2006 Bonds

Substantially all student tuition and fee revenues secure University bonds. Additionally,
security for Series 2008 bonds include Children’s and Women’s Hospital revenues in
amounts not exceeding $10,000,000. Series 1999 Current Interest Bonds began maturing
November 2002, and Series 1999 Capital Appreciation Bonds mature beginning
November 2011. Series 1999 Bonds are not redeemable prior to maturity. Series 2004
Bonds began maturing in March 2005 and are redeemable beginning in March 2014.
Series 2006 Bonds begin maturing in December 2024 and are redeemable beginning in
December 2016. Series 2008 Bonds begin maturing in August 2009 and are redeemable

beginning September 2018. Series 2010 bonds begin maturing in August 2011 and are
redeemable beginning in February 2020.

In January 2008, the University entered into a synthetic advance refunding of the
outstanding Series 2004 and 2006 bonds. This transaction was effected through the sale
of two swaptions by the University to a counterparty. The proceeds from each sale,
totaling $9,328,000, consist of two components, a time value and an intrinsic value. The
intrinsic value of the payment is considered a borrowing and is included in long-term
debt. As a result of this transaction, the counterparty has the option to force the
University to redeem its Series 2004 and 2006 bonds at their respective redemption dates.
See footnote five for a complete description of this transaction.
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The University defeased certain indebtedness during 1978 and 1984 by depositing funds
in escrow trust accounts sufficient to provide for the subsequent payment of principal and
interest on the defeased indebtedness. Neither the assets of the escrow trust accounts nor
the defeased indebtedness is included in the accompanying statements of net assets.

The University is subject to restrictive covenants related to certain note and bonds
payable. As of the end of the current period, management believes the University was in
compliance with such financial covenants.

7. Net Patient Service Revenue

The Hospitals have agreements with governmental and other third-party payers that
provide for reimbursement at amounts different from their established rates. Contractual
adjustments under third-party reimbursement programs represent the difference between

the Hospitals’ billings at established rates for services and amounts reimbursed by
third-party payers.

A summary of the basis of reimbursement with major-third party payers follows:

Medicare — Substantially all acute-care services rendered to Medicare program
beneficiaries are paid at prospectively determined rates. These rates vary according to
patient classification systems that are based on clinical, diagnostic, and other factors.
Additionally, the Hospitals are reimbursed for both direct and indirect medical education
costs (as defined), principally based on per-resident prospective payment amounts and
certain adjustments to prospective rate-per-discharge operating reimbursement payments.
The Hospitals generally are reimbursed for certain retroactively settled items at tentative
rates, with final settlement determined after submission of annual cost reports by the
Hospitals and audits by the Medicare fiscal intermediary. The cost report for the USA
Medical Center has been audited through 2006 and settled through 2005. The cost report
for USA Children’s and Women’s Hospital has been audited through 2007 and settled
through 2006. The cost report for USA Knollwood Hospital has been audited and settled
through March 2006 and settled through September 2004. Revenue from the Medicare
program accounted for approximately 18% of the Hospitals’ net patient service revenue
for both years ended September 30, 2009 and 2008.

Blue Cross — Inpatient services rendered to Blue Cross subscribers are paid at a
prospectively determined per diem rate. Outpatient services are reimbursed under a cost
reimbursement methodology. For outpatient services, the Hospitals are reimbursed at a
tentative rate with final settlement determined after submission of annual cost reports by
the Hospitals and audits thereof by Blue Cross. The Hospitals’ Blue Cross cost reports
have been audited and settled for all fiscal years through 2006. Revenue from the Blue
Cross program accounted for approximately 23% and 20% of the Hospitals’ net patient
service revenue for the years ended September 30, 2009 and 2008, respectively.
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Medicaid — Inpatient services rendered to Medicaid program beneficiaries are reimbursed
at all-inclusive prospectively determined per diem rates. Outpatient services are

reimbursed based on an established fee schedule.

The Hospitals qualify as Medicaid essential providers and, therefore, also receive
supplemental payments based on formulas established by the Alabama Medicaid Agency.
There can be no assurance that the Hospitals will continue to qualify for future

participation in this program or that the program will not ultimately be discontinued or
materially modified.

Revenue from the Medicaid program accounted for approximately 37% and 30% of the

Hospitals’ net patient service revenue for the years ended September 30, 2009 and 2008,
respectively.

Other — The Hospitals have also entered into payment agreements with certain
commercial insurance carriers, health maintenance organizations, and preferred provider
organizations. The bases for payments to the Hospitals under these agreements include
discounts from established charges and prospectively determined daily and case rates.

8. Hospital Lease

The University and Infirmary Health System, Inc. (the Infirmary) have entered into a
Lease Agreement (the Lease) in which the University agreed to lease certain land,
buildings and equipment used in connection with the operation of its USA Knollwood
Hospital campus to the Infirmary. The lease is effective through March 2056 with an
automatic renewal, for an additional forty-nine years, through March 2105; and may be
canceled by the Infirmary after the initial fifty-year term. Upon the expiration or
termination of the lease, the assets, along with responsibility for the operation of such
assets, will revert to the University and the University will pay the Infirmary, at fair
market value, for any capital improvements to the assets. Additionally, the lease may be
terminated at any time, at the option of the Infirmary, in the event that a change in any
law, statute, rule, or a regulation of any governmental or other regulatory body or any
third-party payment program is deemed by the Infirmary to be significant, as defined by

the lease. University management does not anticipate that this option will be exercised
by the Infirmary.

In January 2009, the Infirmary and the University entered into a “First Amendment to
Lease Agreement” (the Amendment). The Amendment deferred the original payment
terms of the lease for two years such that during the period from January 2009 to
December 2010, annual lease payments are reduced to $1 annually. Beginning in
January 2011, the original payment schedule resumes. The payment schedule and
narrative presented below reflect these revised terms.

The total amount of lease payments due the University was based on the fai.r market
value of the appraised assets, $32,418,000. The allocation of the appraised fair market
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value was $29,370,000 for the land and buildings and $3,048,000 for medical equipment,
office furnishings and other equipment.

Upon execution of the lease, a partial lease prepayment in the amount of $7,418,000 was
made by the Infirmary. In addition to the prepayment, required lease payments by the
Infirmary to the University are as follows (payable monthly):

e Months one through thirty-three of the initial lease term - $1,000,000 annually
(383,333 monthly)

¢ Months thirty-four through fifty-seven of the initial lease term - $1 annually

e Months fifty-eight through eighty-four of the initial lease term - $1,000,000
annually ($83,333 monthly)

o Years eight through twelve of the initial lease term - $1,250,000 annually

e Years thirteen through seventeen of the initial lease term — $1,500,000 annually
Years eighteen through thirty-two of the initial lease term — The monthly payment
will be the remaining unpaid balance of the lease payments amortized over years
sixteen through thirty using an interest rate calculated from the immediately
previous 15-year monthly average of the 20-year state and local tax exempt
general obligation bond issues as determined by the United States Federal
Reserve System. The remaining unpaid balance at the end of year fifteen,
$17,401,000, is derived by taking the initial unpaid balance of rent due after the
partial lease prepayment, $25,000,000, plus accrued interest at an annual rate of
3.75%, less monthly lease payments.
Years thirty-three through fifty of the initial lease term — $1 annually

Year fifty-one through ninety-nine of the extended lease term — $1 annually

F_or reporting purposes, management assumed that the interest rate utilized in years
sixteen through thirty would remain at 3.75%. This assumption will be reviewed, and
amortization schedules adjusted, if necessary, when the actual interest rate is determined.

In o.rder to properly report this transaction, the University has bifurcated the lease into an
equipment component and a real property component, as required by FASB Statement
No. 13, based on the appraised fair value of each such component. The financial

considerations of the lease are then applied to, and the accounting treatment is determined
for, each component based on this bifurcation.

The equipment component of the lease is considered a capital lease (sales-type lease) and
as such has been recorded as a capital lease receivable, both current and noncurrent, in
the accompanying basic financial statements of the University. The capital equipment
lease 1s being amortized through fiscal 2011 at a fixed rate of 3.75%.

The component of the lease attributable to land and buildings is considered an operating
lease. As such, lease revenue will be recorded as it is earned over the ninety-nine year
lease term (the fifty-year initial term and the forty-nine year automatic renewal term).
The expected total lease payments to be received over the next twenty-eight years are
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approximately $43,788,000. These total receipts will be recognized as revenue in the
amount of approximately $485,000 annually. Payments received in excess of this amount,
along with cash and other consideration already received in the amount of $6,327,000,
will be deferred and amortized over the ninety-nine year lease term.

9. Employee Benefits
Retirement and Pension Plans

Employees of the University are covered by two pension plans: a cost sharing
multiple-employer defined benefit pension plan administered by the Teachers’

Retirement System of the State of Alabama (TRS), and a defined contribution pension
plan.

Permanent employees of the University participate in TRS, a public retirement system
created by an act of the State Legislature, with benefit provisions established by the Code
of Alabama. Responsibility for general administration and operation of the TRS is vested
in the Board of Control (currently 14 members). Benefits fully vest after 10 years of
full-time, permanent employment. Vested employees may retire with full benefits at
age 60 or after 25 years of service. Participating retirees may elect the maximum benefit,
or may choose among four other monthly benefit options. Under the maximum benefit,
participants are allowed 2.0125% of their average final salary (average of three highest
years of annual compensation during the last ten years of service) for each year of
service. The TRS issues a publicly available financial report that includes financial
statements and required supplementary information. That report may be obtained by

writing to the Retirement Systems of Alabama, P.O. Box 302150, Montgomery, Alabama
36130-2150, or by calling (334) 832-4140.

All employees covered by this retirement plan must contribute 5% of their eligible

earnings to TRS. An actuary employed by the TRS Board of Control establishes the
employer-matching amount annually.

The defined contribution pension plan covers certain academic and administrative
employees employed prior to October 1, 2009, and participation by eligible employees is
optional. Under this plan, administered by Teachers Insurance and Annuity Association —
College Retirement Equities Fund (TIAA-CREF), contributions by eligible employees
are matched equally by the University up to a maximum of 3% of current annual pay.

Compensated Absences

Regular University employees accumulate vacation and sick leave, subject to maximum
limitations, at varying rates depending upon their employee classification and length of
service. Upon termination of employment, employees are paid all unused accrued
vacation at their regular rate of pay up to a maximum of two times their annual
accumulation rate. No accrual is recognized for sick leave benefits since no terminal cash
benefit is available to employees for accumulated sick leave.

79



University of South Alabama
Notes to Financial Statements
June 30, 2010

Other Postretirement Employee Benefits

In September 2003, the State of Alabama Legislature passed legislation that requires all
colleges and universities to fund the healthcare premiums of its participating retirees. In
prior years, such costs have been paid by the State. Beginning in October 2003, the

University was assessed a monthly premium by the Public Education Employees’ Health

Insurance Plan (PEEHIP) based on the number of retirees in the system and an actuarially
determined premium.

10. Risk Management

The University and USAHSF participate in the professional liability trust fund and the
University participates in the general liability trust fund. Both funds are administered by
an independent trustee. These trust funds are revocable and use contributions by the
University and USAHSF, together with earnings thereon, to pay liabilities arising from
the performance of its employees, trustees and other individuals acting on behalf of the
University. If the trust funds are ever terminated, appropriate provision for payment of
related claims will be made and any remaining balance will be distributed to the
University and USAHSF in proportion to contributions made.

Claims and expenses are reported when it is probable that a loss has occurred and the
amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated. Those losses include an estimate of
claims that have been incurred but not reported and the future costs of handling claims.

These liabilities are generally based on actuarial valuations and are reported at their
present value.

The University participates in a self-insured health plan, administered by an unaffiliated
entity. Contributions by the University and its employees, together with earnings
thereon, are used to pay liabilities arising from healthcare claims. It is the opinion of
University administration that plan assets are sufficient to meet future plan obligations.

11.  Other Related Party

The South Alabama Medical Science Foundation (SAMSF) is a not-for-profit corporation
that exists for the purpose of promoting education and research at the University. SAMSF

reimburses the University for certain administrative expenses and other related support
services.

12.  Commitments and Contingencies
Grants and Contracts

The University had been awarded certain amounts in grants and contracts for which
resources had not been received and for which reimbursable expenditures had not been
made for the purposes specified. These awards, which represent commitments of
sponsors to provide funds for research or training projects, have not been reflected in the
accompanying basic financial statements as the eligibility requirements of the award have
not been met. Advances include amounts received from grant and contract sponsors
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which have not been earned under the terms of the agreements and, therefore, have not
yet been included in revenues in the accompanying basic financial statements. Federal
awards are subject to audit by Federal agencies. The University’s management believes
any adjustment from such audits will not be material.

Letter of Credit

In connection with the Hospitals’ participation in the State of Alabama Medicaid
Program, the University has established a $1,400,000 irrevocable standby letter of credit
with Wachovia Bank. The Alabama Medicaid Agency is the beneficiary of this letter of
credit. No funds are currently advanced under this letter.

Litigation
Various claims have been filed against the University alleging discriminatory
employment practices and other matters. University administration and legal counsel are

of the opinion the resolution of these matters will not have a material effect on the

financial position or the statement of revenues, expenses, and changes in net assets of the
University.

Rent Supplement Agreement

The University has entered into two irrevocable rent supplement agreements with the
Corporation and a financial institution. These agreements require that, in the event the
Corporation fails to maintain a debt service coverage ratio of one to one with respect to
all of its outstanding indebtedness, the University will pay to the Corporation any and all
rent amounts necessary to cause the Corporation’s net operating income to be equal to the
Corporation’s annual debt service obligations. As of the end of the current period, no
amounts were payable pursuant to these agreements.

State Bond Issue

The State of Alabama has made allocations to the University from bonds issued in prior
years. Pursuant to the allocations, funds are available to the University for certain future

construction costs. The allocations have not been reflected in the accompanying financial
statement.

13. Significant New Accounting Pronouncements

In February 2009, the GASB issued Statement No. 54, Fund Balance Reporting and
Governmental Fund Type Definition. GASB Statement No. 54 revised classification
requirements related to fund balance reporting and will be effective for the year ending
September 30, 2011. In December 2009, the GASB issued Statement No. 57, OPEB
Measurements by Agent Employers and Agent Multiple-Employer Plans. GASB
Statement No. 57 addresses issue related to the use of the alternative measurement
method and the frequency and timing of measurements by employers that participate in
agent multi-employer other post-employment benefit plans and will be effective for the
year ending September 30, 2011. In June 2010, the GASB issued Statement No. 59,
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Financial Instruments Omnibus. Statement No. 59 clarifies numerous issues related to
the financial reporting for financial instruments.

GASB Statements No. 54 and 57 are not applicable to the University. The effect of the
implementation of GASB Statement No. 59 has not been determined.
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June 30, 2010 and 2009
Nine Months Ended Year Ended
June 30, September 30,
2010 2009 2009

Net increase (decrease) in current unrestricted
operating funds (fund accounting format)  $§ (8,103,266) § (20,562,088) $ (22,557,941)

Add:
Debt service 3,384,593 3,551,398 3,160,915
Equipment* - - 7,259,482
Depreciation (14,264,741) (13,812,277) (21,615,731)
Plant Fund revenues 9,957,800 13,898,908 18,127,139
Other, net 9,976,614 4,380,059 13,978,136
Net increase (decrease) in net assets $ 951,000 $ (12,544,000) $ (1,648,000)

- GASB Statement 34/35

* Netted for quarterly reporting purpose
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Detailed Reconciliation of Fund Financial Reports to Nine Months Ended June 30, 2010
GASB Statement No. 34 Financial Statements

Net increase (decrease) from operating (current unrestricted) funds
- fund accounting format $ (8,103,266)

Add back:
Debt service:
Principal payment on long term debt 5,025,000
Actual payment of principal and interest in

in excess of amounts transferred (timing issue) (1,640,407) 3,384,593

Equipment purchases*

Depreciation of buildings and equipment:

Computed depreciation (18,696,666)

Non-capitalized plant fund expenditures* -

Transfers of funded depreciation 4,431,925  (14,264,741)

(18,983,414)
Add:

Plant fund income/transfers (net) not previously combined with operating: 9,957,800
Other fund income not previously combined with operating:

Endowment fund gifts, investment gain and other, net 8,268,218

Loan fund 35,019

Restricted fund 1,132,487

Other transfers, changes, GASB adjustments and rounding, net 540,890 9,976,614

Net increase in net assets - GASB Statement No. 34 Format $ 951,000

* Netted for quarterly reporting purpose
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Detailed Reconciliation of Fund Financial Reports to
GASB Statement No. 34 Financial Statements

Net increase (decrease) from operating (current unrestricted) funds
- fund accounting format

Add back:
Debt service:
Principal payment on long term debt
Actual payment of principal and interest in
in excess of amounts transferred (timing issue)

Equipment purchases*
Depreciation of buildings and equipment:
Computed depreciation

Non-capitalized plant fund expenditures*
Transfers of funded depreciation

Add:

Plant fund income/transfers (net) not previously combined with operating:

Other fund income not previously combined with operating:
Endowment fund gifts, investment gain and other, net
Loan fund
Restricted fund

Other transfers, changes, GASB adjustments and rounding, net

Net increase in net assets - GASB Statement No. 34 Format

* Netted for quarterly reporting purpose
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Nine Months Ended June 30, 2009

4,484,596

(933,198)

(19,060,148)

5,247,871

$ (20,562,088)

3,551,398

(13,812,277)
(30,822,967)
13,898,908
3,219,508
33,826
1,833,877
(707,152) 4,380,059

$ (12,544,000)



Detailed Reconciliation of Fund Financial Reports to Year Ended September 30, 2009

GASB Statement No. 34 Financial Statements

Net decrease from operating (current unrestricted) funds
- fund accounting format $ (22,557,941)
Add back:
Debt service:
Principal payment on long term debt 4,868,073
Actual payment of principal and interest in
in excess of amounts transferred (timing issue) ( 1,707,158) 3,160,915
Equipment purchases 7,259,482
Depreciation of buildings and equipment:
Computed depreciation (25,183,157)
Non-capitalized plant fund expenditures (3,415,010)
Transfers of funded depreciation 6,982,436 (21,615,731)
(33,753,275)
Add:
Plant fund income (net) not previously combined with operating; 18,127,139
Other fund income not previously combined with operating:
Endowment fund gifts and investment gain, net 12,719,833
Loan fund (752)
Restricted fund 1,259,055 13,978,136

$ (1,648,000

Net increase in net assets - GASB Statement No. 34 Format
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ITEM 10
September 17, 2010

RESOLUTION

EXECUTION OF NOTICE OF FEDERAL INTEREST
IN A USA SPECIALIZED LABORATORY

WHEREAS, the University of South Alabama has been awarded a federal grant from the

National Center for Research Resources of the National Institutes of Health to partially fund the
construction of a Specialized Laboratory, and

WHEREAS, applicable regulations require use of the building be restricted for a period
of up to 20 years to those purposes documented in the application approved by the agency that

promulgated the subject award unless subsequent preapproval of alternative uses is granted by
the federal government, and

WHEREAS, such regulations also require the recording of such federal interests in the
public records of Mobile County, and

WHEREAS, the University of South Alabama intends to construct and operate the
Specialized Laboratory as proposed under the approved grant award to sustain and support
existing, well-regarded research programs and to provide space for an expanding program
focused on select agent pathogens that pose significant threats to human health and security,

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the Board of Trustees authorizes the
University President to execute, file, and record such documents as necessary to affirm the
federal interests in the Specialized Laboratory as required under applicable federal regulations.
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University of South Alabama
Office of the Vice President for Research

[g MEMORANDUM

September 3, 2010

TO: V. Gordon Moulton
President

M. Wayne Davis
Vice President for Financial Affairs

Jean Tucker, Esq.
Senior University Attorney

)2«% (o

FROM: Russ Lea
Vice President for Research

AD 200 « Mobile, AL 36688-0002
Telephone (251) 460-6333 Fax (251) 460-7955

REC'D
JFFICE OF THE PRESIDENY

SEP 03 2010

HNIVERSITY OF SOUTH ALABASA~

SUBJECT: Resolution for Execution of Notice of Federal Interest

An official resolution of the Board of Trustees for the University is required approving execution
of a Notice of Federal Interest in the Specialized Laboratory. The Notice is a federal
requirement and a term of the awards received from the Department of Health and Human
Services/National Institutes of Health/National Center for Research Resources.

Thank you.
$SC

Attachment
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ITEM 11

REVISED

September 17, 2010

RESOLUTION

EXECUTION OF NOTICE OF FEDERAL INTEREST IN
OFFICE AND LABORATORY SPACE ON THE SECOND AND THIRD FLOORS
OF THE MEDICAL SCIENCES BUILDING

WHEREAS, the University of South Alabama has been awarded a federal grant from the
National Institutes of Health to partially fund interior completion of office and laboratory space
located on the second and third floor of the Medical Sciences Building, and

WHEREAS, applicable regulations require use of the specific space be restricted for a
period of up to 20 years to those purposes documented in the application approved by the agency
that promulgated the subject award unless subsequent preapproval of alternative uses is granted
by the federal government, and

WHEREAS, such regulations also require the recording of such federal interests in the
public records of Mobile County, and

WHEREAS, the University of South Alabama has completed the office and laboratory
under the terms of the award,

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the Board of Trustees hereby ratifies and
affirms the execution, filing, and recording by the President of the University of such documents
as necessary to affirm the federal interests in specific office and laboratory space on the second

and third floors of the Medical Sciences Building, as required under applicable federal
regulations.
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@ MEMORANDUM

University of South Alabama
Office of the Vice President for Research

September 3, 2010

TO: V. Gordon Moulton
President

M. Wayne Davis

Vice President for Financial Affairs

Jean Tucker, Esq.

Senior University Attorney

}2»% (o

FROM: Russ Lea

Vice President for Research

AD 200 ¢« Mobile, AL 36688-0002
Telephone (251) 460-6333 Fax (251) 460-7953

REC'D
JFFICE OF THE PRESIDEN

S0P 6o 2010

WNIVERSITY OF SOUTH ALABARAA

SUBJECT: Resolution for Execution of Notice of Federal Interest

An official resolution of the Board of Trustees for the University is required approving execution
of a Notice of Federal Interest in interior completion of space on the second and third floors of
the Medical Science Building addition. The Notice is a federal requirement and a term of the

awards received from the Department of Health and Human Services/National Institutes of
Health/National Center for Research Resources.

Thank you.
ss¢

Attachment
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ITEM 12
September 17, 2010

RESOLUTION

SALE OF MEDICAL RESEARCH BUILDING
AND
GROUND LEASE TO ALABAMA DEPARTMENT OF FORENSIC SCIENCES

WHEREAS, the Alabama Department of Forensic Sciences (“ADFS”) has occupied space at
the University of South Alabama Medical Center (“USAMC”) since 1983 and wishes to expand its

operations at the USAMC campus, having obtained external funding for purposes of expansion, and

WHEREAS, the Medical Research Building (“Building”) on the campus of the USAMC has
been identified by ADFS as an appropriate space for its expansion, and ADFS has determined that
the best use of the external funds would be to purchase the Building and lease the real property on

which it is built on a long term basis for a nominal cost, and

WHEREAS, an appraisal was obtained which indicated that the value of the Building is Four

Hundred Eighty-Eight Thousand Dollars ($488,000), and the parties have agreed upon that figure as
the sale price, and

WHEREAS, pursuant to the University’s Land Sale/Lease Policy and Procedure, the
attached Agreement for Purchase and Sale and the attached Lease Agreement have been negotiated
by USA and ADFS and set forth the terms of the purchase and sale of Building and the terms of the

ground lease to which the Board of Trustees of the University agrees, and

WHEREAS, the Board of Trustees has determined that the sale of the Building and ground

lease under the negotiated terms and conditions would be in the best interests of the University,

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the Board of Trustees of the University of South
Alabama approves and authorizes the sale of the Building and lease of the real property by the
President of the University pursuant to the terms and conditions set forth in the Purchase and Sale

Agreement and Lease Agreement attached hereto.
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REC'D
L+FICE OF THE PRESIDEN

UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH ALABAMA '38{]‘7‘;/\1(“15

LABHVERSITY OF SOUTH ALABAJ A~
STANLEY K. HAMMACK TELEPHONE: (251) 471-7118
VICE PRESIDENT 2451 FILLINGIM STREET, SUITE 3040
HEALTH SYSTEM

MOBILE, ALABAMA 36617-2293
FAX: (251) 471-7751

September 1, 2010

TO: V. Gordon Moulton
President

FROM Stan Hammack
4;/ Vice President for Health System

SUBJECT: Resolution Regarding the Sale of the Medical Research Building and
Ground Lease to Alabama Department of Forensic Sciences

Attached please find the above-referenced Resolution regarding the sale of the
Medical Research Building on the campus of the USA Medical Center and ground lease
of the real property upon which the building sits. I recommend that the Resolution be

presented to the Board of Trustees for their consideration and approval at the September
17, 2010 meeting.

Enclosure
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AGREEMENT FOR PURCHASE AND SALE OF BUILDING

THIS AGREEMENT FOR PURCHASE AND SALE OF BUILDING (“Agreement”) is
dated as of the day of , 2010, by and between the
UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH ALABAMA, a public body corporate, (the “Seller”), and the

ALABAMA DEPARTMENT OF FORENSIC SCIENCES, a State of Alabama
departmental entity(the “Buyer”) with reference to the following facts:

A. Seller owns a certain building located on the campus of the USA Medical Center
(“Medical Center”) in Mobile County, Alabama, having an address of 2451 FILLINGIM
STREET, MOBILE ALABAMA, and more specifically described in Exhibit A attached

hereto (the “Building”), commonly known as Medical Research Building as herein
described.

B. Seller desires to sell to Buyer and Buyer desires to purchase from Seller the
Building and the associated assets.

C. Seller will lease the land upon which the Building is located to Buyer in a long-
term, nominal lease, which shall be controlled in a separate instrument.

D. Seller will retain the right of first refusal to purchase the Building back from

Buyer at market appraisal price at the time of the future sale, should Buyer, at some point
in the future, decide to sell or vacate Building.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants, premises and agreements
herein contained, the parties hereto do hereby agree as follows:

1. Purchase and Sale.

1.1. The purchase and sale includes that Seller shall sell, transfer, grant and assign to
Buyer, Seller’s entire right and interest in and to the Building, except as herein described,
together with all structures, buildings, improvements, fixtures, and equipment affixed or

attached to the Building (all of the foregoing being collectively referred to herein as the
“Property™);

2. Purchase Price.

The total Purchase Price of the Property shall be FOUR HUNDRED AND EIGHTY-
EIGHT THOUSAND Dollars ($488,000.00) (“Purchase Price”), and payable as follows:

2.1. Within sixty (60) days following a fully executed original of this Agreement (date
this agreement is fully executed shall be deemed the “Delivery Date”) being presented to
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the State of Alabama Building Commission (Commission), the Alabama Department of
Finance shall tender payment directly to Seller in the name of THE UNIVERSITY OF
SOUTH ALLABAMA for the total of the Purchase Price. Department agrees that it will
take all action necessary to expedite tender and delivery of said funds;

3. Title to Property.

3.1. This instrument conveys complete and absolute title to the Building, with no
reservation of rights or outstanding obligations, except as provided in this agreement.
Seller affirmatively states that to the best of its knowledge, there are no outstanding liens,
encumbrances or adversarial/third-party claims or rights to the Building;

4. Due Diligence Items.

4.1. Seller shall, on or before the Delivery Date, deliver to Buyer each of the following
(collectively, the “Due Diligence Items™):

4.1.1. Copies of appraisals of the Building which have already been completed,
said Appraisals being those performed by Courtney & Morris Appraisals, Inc.

dated November 18, 2009 and by M.D. Bell Company, Inc. dated November 5,
2009 (the “Appraisals™),

4.1.2. Copies of all Leases presently in effect with respect to the Property, together
with any amendments or modifications thereof;,

4.1.3. A list of all contracts, including service contracts, warranties, management,

maintenance, leasing commission or other agreements affecting the Real Property,
if any, together with copies of the same;

4.1.4. All site plans, leasing plans, as-built plans, drawings, environmental,
mechanical, electrical, structural, soils and similar reports and/or audits, surveys,

and plans and specifications relative to the Real Property in the possession of
Seller or under the control of Seller, if any;

4.1.5. Written statement or results of any environmental surveys and/or any
environmental abatement efforts and relief performed by Seller following the
removal of the Animal Research Laboratory, which was previously housed and
contained in the Building;

4.1.6. Written statement that the Building is not subject to any liens or other claim
of interest from any third party;
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4.2. Seller certifies that all representations made by Seller under this Contract are true,
complete and correct in all material respects as of the Closing Date (if accurate or, if not
accurate, a description of the basis for such inaccuracy). Such certificate will survive for
a period of one (1) year following the Closing Date;

5. “As Is” Condition

5.1 Buyer understands that the Building is being sold “as is” and Buyer thereby accepts
the Building in its current condition. Seller makes no representations or warranties as to
the condition of the Building, structural or otherwise;

6. Buyer’s Use of Premises

6.1 Buyer hereby represents and warrants that its use of the Building and Premises will be
only for the purposes of the Alabama Department of Forensic Sciences and that it will be
in full compliance with all applicable laws, orders and regulations or all federal, state,
county and municipal authorities having jurisdiction over the Building and surrounding
Premises. Buyer agrees that it will not assign or lease the Building to any assignees or
lessees whose occupancy of the Building would not further the medical mission of the

USA Medical Center, and which would not be in keeping with other occupants of the
USA Medical Center campus;

7. Right of First Refusal

7.1 Buyer will provide Seller with, at a minimum, two hundred seventy (270) days’
notice of Buyer’s intention to vacate or desire to sell the building (“Notification Date”).
Buyer, at its expense, will provide Seller with two (2) independent appraisals of the
building at the Notification Date. The lowest independent appraisal shall be the price at
which Buyer will sell the building to Seller. Seller shall notify Buyer within one hundred
twenty (120) days of the Notification Date whether it will purchase the building from the
Department. Should Seller elect not to purchase the building upon Buyer’s decision to
vacate the building, Buyer will seek a proposed purchaser whose occupancy of the
Building will further the medical mission of the USA Medical Center, and which will be
in keeping with other occupants of the USA Medical Center campus. Seller will have
right of approval of any proposed purchaser, said approval not to be unreasonably
withheld. Seller will negotiate in good faith with any proposed purchaser of the building
for either a lease of the real property or a purchase of the real property, as negotiated
independently by the interested parties;
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8. Utilities

8.1 The Building will be metered separately from the Medical Center at Buyer’s expense,

and Buyer will be solely responsible for all costs associated with utility usage of any kind
at the Building;

9. Parking

9.1 Buyer will be executing a land lease of the land upon which the Building sits, said
lease to include an area extending approximately 41.26feet in front of the building.
Buyer, at its expense, will be allowed, with written approval of the design by Seller, to
construct parking spaces upon the afore-mentioned area which extends in front of the

building. Buyer will be responsible for construction, striping, and maintenance of said
parking spaces;

10. Recording.

10.1 This Agreement will be recorded in the Probate Court of Mobile County, Alabama.
Recording expenses will be paid by Department;

11 Approval of Board of Trustees

11.1 The Parties recognize that this Purchase and Sale Agreement is subject to the
approval of the Board of Trustees of the University of South Alabama.

[Signatures on Following Page]
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WITNESS OUR HANDS THIS day of , 2010.

SELLER BUYER

Contract Officer Michael F. Sparks

University Of South Alabama Director
Alabama Department of Forensic
Sciences
APPROVED:

Bob Riley, Governor
State of Alabama
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LEASE AGREEMENT

This lease made by and between the University of South Alabama, a public body
corporate, hereafter called "USA", and the Alabama Department of Forensic Sciences
of the State of Alabama, hereinafter called “Department”,

WITNESSETH THAT:

WHEREAS, Department currently occupies space at the University of South
Alabama Medical Center (“USAMC”) in order to house the offices, laboratories and
other facilities of the State Toxicologist; and

WHEREAS, the Department desires to expand its operation from the original
building and renovate another existing building for the Department’s use;

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the promises and of the mutual
covenants and agreements herein set forth, USA and the Department do hereby
covenant, promise and agree as follows:

1. Premises. USA does hereby demise, let and lease to Department the following
real property located on the campus of USA, in Mobile County, Alabama:

See attached Exhibit A

for and during the term of thirty (30) years, beginning on the date of execution of
this Agreement. At the expiration of the 30-year term of this lease, the
Department shall have the right to renew said lease for an additional term of up
to and through ten (10) years on the same terms, conditions, and stipulations
contained herein, said right to be exercised by written notice to USA, no less than
six (6) months prior to expiration of the primary term.

2. Good Title. USA covenants that it has good title to the demised premises and
that, except as aforesaid, they are free and clear of all liens and encumbrances,
and further covenants to keep Department in quiet possession of the premises
during the term of this lease, provided Department shall comply with all
stipulations hereof.

3. Rent. Rent is as follows: Department shall make rental payment to USA of One
Dollar per year ($1.00/year).

4.  Renovation of Building. Department shall renovate, at its sole risk and expense a

Building, suitable for use as a laboratory for purposes set out above, upon said
described real property, said Building known more specifically as the Medical
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Research Building on the campus of the USA Medical Center, which is the

subject of a separate Purchase and Sale Agreement being executed between the
Parties contemporaneously herewith. Building shall be free of any liens or
security interests except as otherwise set out herein or in the separate
Agreement referenced herein (said Building and the real property made the
subject of this Lease Agreement being known collectively as the “Premises’).
Department agrees that the design, construction, maintenance, operation, and
use of the Building and Premises shall be in compliance with all applicable USA,
State and Federal rules, regulations, and codes, including but not limited to,
building, health, and safety codes, the standards of the Alabama Building
Commission in consultation with USA and the current standards, if any, for
publicly funded forensic science laboratories. Department agrees to use every
means at its disposal, including the architect, consultants, contractors, Alabama
Building Commiission, including any arbitration or court procedures available to
expedite the renovation of the building at the earliest possible time and in
accordance with all construction and other agreements pertaining thereto.

5. Insurance. Department is insured through the Risk Management Department of
the State of Alabama (“Risk Management”). Department shall, through Risk
Management or otherwise in the event that Risk Management cannot or will not
provide said coverage, maintain the following insurance: Building shall be
insured in the amount of its value. In the event that any sums are received from
said insurance fund due to damage or destruction of the insured premises, such
funds shall be used to repair or replace the facilities damaged or destroyed.
Department shall also maintain commercial general liability insurance in amounts
of coverage equal to a minimum of $1 million/$2 million, providing coverage for
injury or death to third parties or damage to property as a result of claims against
employees of Department or claims on or about the Building or Premises, as well
as the use and occupancy by Department thereof. Upon written request of USA,
Department shall provide USA with a certificate of insurance or other appropriate
evidence that said insurance is in force and effect.

6. Costs of Operation. Department shall pay all costs of any kind incurred in the
operation of the laboratory including, without in any way limiting the generality of
the foregoing, salaries, taxes, permits, all utilities or Operational Expenses,
materials and equipment and otherwise. Recurring operational expenses
hereafter called “Operational Expenses” are defined as including but not limited
to, electricity, natural gas, hot water, chilled water, sanitary sewer, water,
telephone and data service and trash collection metered or directly attributable to
the ongoing operation of the laboratory. All herein-referenced utilities will be
separately metered from the remainder of the USA Medical Center campus at the
expense of Department.

Department and USA may wish to provide some or all utilities and operational
services from USA'’s Facilities and Maintenance Division, which shall be covered
by a separate agreement.
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10.

1.

Maintenance and Repairs. Department shall pay all costs of maintenance and
repair of the building constructed or renovated hereunder, and shall take
reasonable care of the same in order to maintain the property and facilities in a
manner that meets or exceeds maintenance and repair standards of buildings of
similar age and function in current operation by USA.

Equipment. Department shall equip said building with fixtures and moveable
equipment usual in such laboratory and shall operate therein a laboratory for the
purposes aforesaid, and shall pay all costs of every kind incurred in the building
and equipping of said laboratory; but Department shall have the right to remove
moveable equipment and fixtures upon the termination of this lease. USA, in
consultation with Department, may provide equipment for use in the facility. Any
such equipment shall remain the property of USA, unless specifically provided for
in writing to the contrary

Hazardous Substances. Except for hazardous substances or other toxic
materials or medical waste brought, kept or used in the Building in commercial
quantities similar to those quantities usually kept on similar premises by others in
the same business or profession, and which are used and kept in compliance
with applicable public health, safety and environmental laws, Buyer shall not
allow any hazardous substance, or other toxic material or medical waste to be
located in, on or under the Building or elsewhere on the Premises, nor allow the
Building or Premises to be used for the disposal of any hazardous substance or
other toxic material. Any hazardous substances, other toxic materials or medical
waste which are properly used by Buyer in its daily operations shall be contained

and disposed of in accordance with all applicable standards, laws, or other
regulations.

New Parking. The Premises include not only the land underneath the
Building, but also an area extending approximately forty-one (41) feet
directly in front of the building, as represented in Exhibit A. Department, at
its expense, will be allowed, with written approval by USA of the design, to
construct parking spaces upon the afore-mentioned area which extends in
front of the building, or any other portion of the premises, as shown in
Exhibit A. Buyer will be responsible for obtaining any permits or approvals

of any kind, as well as the construction, striping, and maintenance of said
parking spaces.

Signs. Subject to applicable governmental laws, ordinances, codes, and
regulations, and to the written approval of USA, such approval to not be
unreasonably withheld, at its cost and expense Department shall have the right
to erect on the Building or the Premises such signs and/or monument signs as
Tenant desires.

12.. Liability. It is specifically agreed by and between the parties hereto that any
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13.

14.

15..

damage or injury occurring on the demised premises, or incurred because of or
due to the operation of the laboratory established hereunder whether or not
occurring on the demised premises, shall be considered damage or injury caused
by Department, and not by USA, for the purpose of any claims presented to the
State Board of Adjustment based on said damage or injury; it being specifically
understood that any payments or charges assessed by said State Board of
Adjustment based on such damage or injury shall be assessed against
Department and not against USA. Provided, as to the claim of any third party,
nothing in this paragraph shall be construed to in any way to conflict with or
contravene any existing Alabama statutory or common law to the contrary, or to
waive or limit the Department's right to assert any and all legal defenses which
may be available to it in any city, county, state or federal court, to include the
State of Alabama Board of Adjustment.

Condemnation. In the event that any part of the Premises are taken by
condemnation, eminent domain, or otherwise by governmental authorities or
those acting on their behalf, the proceeds from said taking will be divided as
follows: the amount of said award attributable to the real property subject to this
Lease Agreement will belong to USA, and the amount of said award attributabie
to the Building will belong to ADFS.

Assignment. There shall be no assignment or subletting of this lease by
Department to any other entity than a successor entity of the ownership or
control of Department. Any such assignment or subletting is subject to the
written consent of USA, said consent not to be unreasonably withheld.

Right of First Refusal. Shouid the Department decide to sell or vacate the
Building, USA will retain the right of first refusal to purchase the Building back
from the Department at market appraisal price at the time of the future sale. The
Department will provide USA with, at a minimum, two hundred seventy (270)
days’ notice of the Department’s intention to vacate or desire to sell the building
(“Notification Date”).USA shall notify the Department within one hundred twenty
(120) days of the Notification Date whether it will purchase the building from the
Department. The Department will provide USA with two (2) independent
appraisals of the building at the Notification Date. The lowest independent
appraisal shall be the price at which the Department agrees to sell the building to
USA. In the event that USA should purchase the Building, this ground lease will
automatically terminate upon the closing of the sale. Should USA exercise its
right to refuse to purchase the building upon the Department’s decision to vacate
the building, USA will negotiate in good faith with any proposed purchaser of the
building for, either, a lease of the real property or a purchase of the real property,
as negotiated independently by the interested parties, provided that said
purchaser promotes the medical mission of USA and that said purchaser agrees
to the reasonable terms and conditions of USA.
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16.

17.

18.°

19.

20.

Compliance. Department agrees to maintain the Premises in a clean, orderly,
healthful condition and to comply with all laws, ordinances, codes, rules and
regulations of all governmental and municipal agencies having jurisdiction over
the Premises. Department will not use, occupy or permit the use or occupancy of
the Premises for any unlawful or hazardous purpose; or maintain or permit the
maintenance of any public or private nuisance in or about the Premises; or do or
permit any act or thing which may disturb the quiet enjoyment of USA or any
other tenant of the USA Medical Center; or permit anything to be done which
would increase the applicable insurance rates of USA, or violate the terms of any
fire or other insurance policies covering the USA Medical Center. Department

shall use the Premises for the provision of services related to forensic sciences,
and for no other use or purpose.

Waste. Department agrees to keep the Premises in good condition and not to
allow or commit any waste with respect to the Premises. Any damage to the
Premises resulting from acts or neglect of ADFS or the agents, contractors,
employees, patrons, or invitees of ADFS, shall be repaired or replaced by
Department, or in the absence of repair or replacement by Department within a
reasonable time after notice of such need, by USA at the sole expense of
Department. The Premises shall not be altered, changed, nor shall any additions
or improvements be made without the prior written consent of USA.

Waiver. The failure of either party to insist in any one or more instances
upon a strict performance of any of the terms or conditions of this Lease
Agreement shall not be construed as a waiver or relinquishment for the future of

any such term or condition, but the same shall continue and remain in full force
and effect.

Severability. In the event any provision of this Lease Agreement should

be held by a court of competent jurisdiction to be contrary to law or void as
against public policy or otherwise, such provision shall be either modified to
conform to law or considered severable with the remaining provisions hereof
continuing in full force and effect.

Cancellation. It is expressly understood and agreed by the parties hereto that the
Department shall have the option to terminate this lease at the end of any fiscal
year of the State of Alabama in the event the State Legislature fails to appropriate
sufficient funds to the Department to make the rental payments set out herein
which are due and payable under the terms of the lease during each ensuing fiscal
year. |t is further agreed that in the event of the proration of the fund from which
payment under this lease is to be made, the lease will be subject to termination.
Under no circumstances shall the commitment of the Department under this lease
constitute a debt to the State of Alabama as prohibited by Section 213,
Constitution of Alabama 1901, as amended by Amendment No. XXVI.
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21.

22.

23,

24.

Exemption. Neither party, notwithstanding any provision of this lease,
incorporations or amendments hereto, releases or waives, expressly or impliedly

its right to assert sovereign immunity or any other affirmative defense right it may
have under law.

Notice. Any and all notices, demands and communications hereunder shall be
sent to the parties at the addresses set forth below or at such other addresses as
either party may hereafter designate in writing. All such notices, demands or
communications given hereunder shall be deemed properly given if sent by U.S.
mail, postage prepaid, to the proper address of the party to be notified. The proper
addresses of the parties for all purposes hereunder shall be as follows:

To USA:

Hospital Administrator

University of South Alabama Medical Center
2451 Fillingim Street
Mobile, AL 36617-2293

With a copy to:

University Attorney
University of South Alabama
AD 140

307 University Boulevard, North
Mobile, AL 36688-0002

Department:

Chief Medical Examiner

Alabama Department of Forensic Sciences
Post Office Box 3510

Auburn, AL 36831-3510

and

Regional Deputy Chief Medical Examiner
Alabama Department of Forensic Sciences
Post Office Box 7925

Mobile, AL 36670-7925

Modification. This Lease Agreement may be modified only by written agreement
signed by both parties.

Applicéble Law. This Lease shall be governed by and interpreted under the laws
of Alabama.
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25. Titles and Captions. The titles and captions in this Lease Agreement are used
only to facilitate reference, and in no way to define or limit the scope or intent of
any of the provisions of this Lease.

26. Recording. This Lease Agreement will be recorded in the Probate Court of
Mobile County, Alabama. Recording expenses will be paid by Department.

27. Approval by Board of Trustees. The Parties recognize that this Agreement is
subject to the approval of the Board of Trustees of the University of South
Alabama.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, USA, a public body corporate, has caused this instrument to

be executed for and in its behalf by , its Contract Officer, and the Alabama
Department of Forensic Sciences has caused this instrument to be executed for and in
its behalf by , its Director, all as of this day
of , 2010.

ATTEST:

UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH ALABAMA

BY:
Contract Officer

ALABAMA DEPARTMENT OF FORENSIC SCIENCES

BY: BY:

Michael Sparks, Director Marc Bass, ADFS General Counsel
RECOMMENDED:

BY: BY:

James W. Yoder, Office of Space Management ~ Bob Riley, covemor of the state of Alabama
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ITEM 12.A
September 17,2010

RESOLUTION
ARCHITECT FOR STUDENT CENTER RENOVATION
WHEREAS, the University of South Alabama has a growing enrollment, and

WHEREAS, the quality of student life is strongly enhanced by an excellent student
center, and

WHEREAS, the recruitment of students is strongly enhanced by a high-quality student
center, and

WHEREAS, the current student center, built in 1971, is in need of renovation, and

WHEREAS, other adjacent renovations and improvements will be completed in 2011,
and

WHEREAS, the summer of 2011 is the best time to begin renovations, and

WHEREAS, Harvey Gandler, Architect, has a history of successfully designing similar
projects on campus,

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the Board of Trustees authorizes the President

to approve awarding the design contract for the Student Center renovation to Harvey Gandler if
his fee proposal, design plan and staffing plan are judged by the President to be satisfactory.
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REC'D

OFFICE OF THE PRESIDENT
UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH ALABAMA SEP 142000
Vice President for Financial Affairs
AD170 INIVERSITY OF SOUTH ALABAR~
MEMORANDUM
September 13, 2010
TO: President V. Gordon Moulton
FROM: M. Wayne Davis

SUBJECT:  Awarding of Construction Design Contract
for the Student Center Renovation

Attached is a resolution concerning the awarding of a construction design contract for the
Student Center renovation. I recommend that the resolution be presented to the Board of
Trustees for consideration and approval at the September 17, 2010, meeting.

Thank you.
MWD/cbm

Attachment
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ITEM 13
September 17, 2010

RESOLUTION

SALE OF USA BROOKLEY CENTER CAMPUS

WHEREAS, the University of South Alabama (“University”) owns land and buildings
known as the USA Brookley Center Campus (approximately 327.11 acres), and

WHEREAS, the subject property currently houses a golf course, conference facilities, office
facilities and housing, all of which are being utilized by the University in furtherance of its mission,
and

WHEREAS, given the current fiscal constraints imposed on the University by the economy
of the state and the country, the Board of Trustees of the University believed it to be in the best
interest of the Institution to explore the possibility of a sale of this property, with a lease of the

property back to the University at a nominal fee for its continued use, and other such conditions as
would benefit the University, and

WHEREAS, the Board of Trustees of the University of South Alabama authorized the
President of the University to proceed with exploring the possibility of sale of the land and buildings
which make up the area known as USA Brookley Center Campus, pursuant to the laws of the State
of Alabama, and report to the Board for approval as provided in the “Policy and Procedure by which

the University of South Alabama Would Sell or Lease Real Property or Interest Owned by the
University of South Alabama,” and

WHEREAS, the sale of the land and buildings was bid pursuant to the above-referenced
Policy and Procedure with the sole bid response being from the University of South Alabama

Foundation (the “Foundation™) which offered to purchase the land and buildings for Twenty Million
Dollars ($20,000,000), and

WHEREAS, the attached Purchase and Sale Agreement was negotiated by USA and the

Foundation and sets forth the terms of said purchase and sale to which the Board of Trustees of the
University agrees,

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the Board of Trustees of the University of South
Alabama approves and authorizes the President of the University to proceed with the sale of the land

and buildings which make up the area known as USA Brookley Center Campus pursuant to the terms
and conditions set forth in the Purchase and Sale Agreement attached hereto.
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REC'D
OFFICE OF THE PRESIDENT
UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH ALABAMA ED (10 96
Financial Affairs Office ~2 02 2010
AD 170
UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH ALABAMA

MEMORANDUM
TO: President V. Gordon Moutlton

FROM: Stephen H. Simmons < W/’l # r G cumrrenr_

SUBJECT: Proposed Resolution for Sale of USA Brookley Center Campus

DATE: September 2, 2010

Attached to this memorandum is a proposed resolution for the Board of Trustees meeting
scheduled for September 17, 2010, to consider the sale of the USA Brookley Center Campus.

We received one bid for the property in the amount of $20 million from the USA Foundation.
Through discussions with the Foundation, we have completed the due diligence from both sides

and are prepared to recommend this to the Board of Trustees.

With your approval, we will place this on the agenda for the upcoming Board of Trustees
meeting.

SHS/cbm
Attachment

c: Mr. M. Wayne Davis
Ms. Jean W. Tucker
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JONESP
WALKER

MEMORANDUM
To: Maxey Roberts
From: Ron Snider
Rivers Lelong
Date: August 30, 2010
Re: Summary of Brookley Purchase and Sale Agreement Material Terms

Our File No. 330050-01

As per your request, this memo summarizes the principal terms of the Purchase and Sale
Agreement (the “Purchase Agreement”) under negotiation between the University of South
Alabama Foundation (the “Foundation™) and the University of South Alabama (the “University”)
with respect to the Brookley campus (the “Brookley Campus™):

1. Property to be Purchased: The University’s Brookley Campus, consisting of
approximately 327 acres adjacent to Brookley airfield and Mobile Bay.

2. Price: $20,00,000, payable $4,000,000 at closing with the University financing
the remaining $16,000,000, to be payable in annual, interest-free $4,000,000 instaliments on the
first through fourth anniversaries of the closing date.

3. University’s Retention of Surface Rights: The University is retaining an
easement to use the surface of the Brookley Campus and ownership of the buildings on the
Brookley Campus for five years following closing (the “Use Period”), subject to the
Foundation’s right to terminate the Use Period early upon payment in full of the remainder of the
$20,000,000 purchase price.

4, Maintenance and Repair Obligations During the Use Period: The University must
maintain the improvements on the Brookley Campus during the Use Period to the extent that the
University continues to use the improvements. The University has the right to abandon
improvements that are no longer desired by University, with or without demolishing such
improvements. Upon termination of the Use Period, the Foundation will acquire title to any
buildings that the University has not elected to demolish (without the payment of any additional
consideration), and the Foundation will be responsible for completing the demolition process.

{N2196366.1}
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August 30, 2010
Page 2

5. Rental Income During Use Period: The University is entitled to all rental income
from the Brookley Campus during the Use Period.

6. University Leasing Rights: The University may continue to enter into leases with
respect to the Brookley Campus during the Use Period so long as such new leases are terminable
on 90 days’ notice by the lessor. The Foundation will inherit any remaining outstanding leases
on the Brookley Campus upon expiration or early termination of the Use Period.

7. Responsibility for Taxes During the Use Period: The Foundation is responsible
for the payment of all taxes on the Brookley Campus during the Use Period.

8. Due Diligence: The Purchase Agreement provides for a due diligence period
following execution of the Purchase Agreement and prior to closing. The Foundation is
currently actively pursuing such due diligence in advance of signing the Purchase Agreement.
The attached memo provides a summary of the current status of the due diligence process.

9. Creation of Subsidiary: The Foundation contemplates creating a subsidiary to
acquire title to the Brookley Campus, but the Foundation remains liable as a guarantor for the
subsidiary’s obligations to the University, including payment of the purchase price.

FRLjr/ll
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PURCHASE AND SALE AGREEMENT

THIS PURCHASE AND SALE AGREEMENT (the “Agreement”) is entered into as of
the  day of , 2010 (the “Execution Date”) between the University of South
Alabama, a public body corporate created by act of the Alabama Legislature, Ala. Code §§ 16-
55-1 et seq. (1975) (“Seller”), and the University of South Alabama Foundation, an Alabama
not-for-profit corporation (“Buyer”).

For and in consideration of the purchase price and the mutual covenants and
undertakings herein contained, and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and
sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties hereto agree as follows:

RECITALS:

A. Buyer is a “supporting organization” of Seller, and Seller is the sole “supported
organization” of Buyer, as such terms are contemplated by Section 509(a)(3) of the Internal
Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code™).

B. In an effort to assist Seller in furtherance of its tax-exempt purpose, and
consequently, to further Buyer’s tax-exempt purposes of supporting Seller, Buyer is purchasing

and Seller is selling, the Property (as defined below) that Seller currently uses in its tax-exempt
higher-educational purposes.

C. Seller is retaining the related Excluded Property (as defined below) that will allow
Seller to continue to carry out its tax-exempt activities.

D. Buyer is supporting Seller’s tax exempt activities by purchasing the Property to
provide Seller with funds to further its tax exempt purpose.

E. Seller acknowledges and welcomes the continued support from Buyer, its
supporting organization, and desires to enter into this Agreement to allow Seller to focus more

on provision of education and less on the ownership of the Property.

I. PURCHASE AND SALE

1.01  Agreement to Sell and Convey. Seller agrees to sell and convey to Buyer (the
“Sale”), and Buyer agrees to purchase from Seller, subject to the terms and conditions hereinafter
set forth, that certain parcel of real property consisting of approximately 327 acres fronting
Mobile Bay in Mobile County, Alabama, and more particularly described on Exhibit “A” (the
“Land”™), together with the following (collectively, with the Land, the “Property™):

(a) all and singular the rights and appurtenances pertaining thereto including
but not limited to any right, title and interest of Seller in and to adjacent streets, roads, alleys,
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casements (other than the Surface Easement, as hereinafter defined) and rights-of-way to the
extent that such right, title and interest exist;

(b) all accretion, alluvion and sedimentary deposits associated with the Land;

(¢ the mineral rights associated with the Land to the extent owned by Seller
or its affiliates;

(d) all of Seller’s assignable licenses and permits necessary for the ownership,
operation, maintenance or development of the Land, other than those associated with the
operation of the Buildings and Improvements (herein defined);

(e) such other rights, interests and properties as may be specified in this
Agreement to be sold, transferred, assigned or conveyed by Seller to Buyer;

3] all subsurface improvements such as sewer, drainage, and water lines (the
“Subsurface Improvements™) to the extent owned by Seller;

(g) all roads, sidewalks, and parking surfaces (the “Access Improvements™);

and

(h) all of Seller’s right, title, and interest to the Excluded Property (hereinafter
defined) but only effective on the earlier to occur of (i) the fifth anniversary of the Closing Date
or (ii) the effective date of Purchaser’s termination under Section 2.02 (with the period between
the Closing Date and such expiration or termination date being the “Use Period”).

It is specifically agreed to by Buyer and Seller that the Property conveyed by Seller to
Buyer shall not include any of the following during the Use Period: (i) any and all buildings and
other improvements located on the Land (other than the Subsurface Improvements and the
Access Improvements), including, without limitation the buildings, improvements and golf
course located on the Land (collectively, the “Buildings and Improvements™); (ii) any and all
leases, licenses or other occupancy agreements affecting or otherwise related to the Buildings
and Improvements, including, without limitation, those agreements described on Exhibit “B”
(collectively, the “Leases™); (iii) any of Seller’s licenses and permits necessary for the
ownership, operation and maintenance of the Buildings and Improvements (collectively, the
“Licenses and Permits™), (iv) all furniture and readily removed equipment located on or used in
connection with the use, maintenance and operation of the Land, Buildings and Improvements
(the “Personal Property”), (v) all fixtures located on or in the Land, Buildings and
Improvements, and (vi) an easement to be retained by Seller pursuant to the Deed (as hereinafter
defined) over the surface of the Land permitting the continued location and use of the Buildings
and Improvements on the Land throughout the Use Period and the continued use of the
Subsurface Improvements and the Access Improvements (the “Surface Easement” and together
with the Buildings and Improvements, Leases, Licenses and Permits, and the Personal Property,
the “Excluded Property”). The Excluded Property shall be reserved by Seller from the Sale and
shall remain owned by Seller subject to the terms and conditions of Section II of this Agreement.
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Buyer and Seller acknowledge and agree that the exact limits of the Property have not
been established as of the Execution Date, and Buyer will endeavor in good faith to obtain the
Survey (as defined in Section 1.06) within 45 days following the Execution Date (the “Survey
Period”), pursuant to which Seller and Buyer shall jointly establish the metes and bounds legal
description of the Property. Establishment of the limits of the Property in accordance with the
foregoing covenant shall be effective upon Buyer’s and Seller’s execution of an amendment to
this Agreement replacing the legal description set forth in Exhibit “A” as of the Execution Date
(the “Original Legal Description™) with the legal description contained in the Survey. If Seller
and Buyer cannot reach written agreement on the legal description of the Property within 30 days
of the Survey’s receipt, either party may terminate this Agreement, in which event neither party
shall have any further obligation to the other under this Agreement other than those obligations
that survive the termination of this Agreement.

1.02  Purchase Price.

(a) Buyer has delivered a fifty thousand dollar ($50,000) deposit (the
“Deposit™) to Seller to be held in accordance with the further terms of this Agreement. In the

event of any termination of this Agreement prior to Closing, Seller shall retain the Deposit as a
donation from Buyer.

(b) The purchase price (the “Purchase Price”) to be paid by Buyer to Seller at
Closing shall be TWENTY MILLION AND NO/100 DOLLARS ($20,000,000). The Purchase
Price shall be payable as follows: (a) one $4,000,000 installment in cash at Closing to Seller,
minus the Deposit; and (b) four $4,000,000 installments (“Remaining Installments”™), payable
annually on the anniversary date of the Closing, in cash, such remaining $16,000,000 balance
(the “Remaining Balance™) shall be evidenced by a promissory note (the “Note”) executed by
Buyer in favor of Seller in the form attached hereto as Exhibit “C”. The Note shall be secured by
Seller retaining a vendor’s lien in the Closing Deed (as defined in Section 4.02(a) below). The
Purchase Price shall be subject to Closing prorations and adjustments as hereinafter set forth.

1.03  Investigation Period. Seller acknowledges that to enable Buyer to proceed with
the transactions contemplated by this Agreement Buyer must undertake or cause to have
undertaken the following environmental tests and studies at Buyer’s expense: (a) a Phase I
environmental assessment and (b) such other non-physically intrusive tests, studies, inspections
and analysis that Buyer deems necessary or desirable in order to determine, in Buyer’s sole
discretion, the environmental condition of the Property (collectively, (a) and (b) shall be referred
to as the “Initial Tests and Studies™). Buyer shall have 60 days commencing the day following
the Execution Date (as such period may be extended in accordance with this Agreement, the
“Investigation Period™) in which to undertake such Initial Tests and Studies. If the results of
Buyer’s Initial Tests and Studies require, in Buyer’s sole determination, a Phase 11 environmental
assessment or any other physically intrusive tests and studies, then Buyer shall deliver to Seller
written notice that Buyer wishes to perform such Phase II environmental assessment or other
physically intrusive tests and studies, accompanied by a copy of the results of any Initial Tests
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and Studies relating to Buyer’s request and Buyer shall be permitted to proceed with such Phase
IT environmental assessment or other physically intrusive tests and studies at Buyer’s sole cost
and expense. If such Phase Il environmental assessment or physically intrusive test or study
cannot be completed prior to the scheduled expiration of the Investigation Period, then the
Investigation Period shall be automatically extended for a sufficient period, not to exceed 60
additional days, as Buyer deems necessary to permit Buyer to obtain the Phase II environmental
report or the results of such physically intrusive tests and studies. If, during the Investigation
Period (as same may be extended), Buyer determines that the environmental condition of the
Property is unsatisfactory or not determinable to Buyer’s satisfaction, Buyer shall, within 5 days
commencing the day after the expiration of the Investigation Period, deliver to Seller written
notice terminating this Agreement, in which event neither party shall have any further obligation
to the other under this Agreement other than those obligations that survive the termination of this
Agreement.

If Buyer fails to terminate this Agreement within 5 days after the expiration of the
Investigation Period, Buyer shall be deemed to have waived its right to terminate this Agreement
as set forth in this Section 1.03, and Buyer shall be obligated to close this transaction subject to

and in accordance with all other terms and conditions of this Agreement, including its remaining
termination provisions.

During the Investigation Period, Buyer and its employees, contractors, subcontractors
and consultants shall have the right to enter upon the Property, Buildings and Improvements for
the purpose of performing the Survey, the Initial Tests and Studies, any additional physically
intrusive test and studies required by Buyer, and visual inspections of the Property, Buildings
and Improvements and other Excluded Property, upon notice to Seller a reasonable period of
time (but in any event not less than twenty-four hours) before any entry onto the Property,
Buildings and Improvements, and Seller shall have the right (but not the obligation) to have a
representative present at all times during any such entry. Buyer shall restore the Property,
Buildings and Improvements to the condition which existed immediately prior to Buyer’s or its
employees’, contractors’, subcontractors’ or consultants’ entry into the Property, Buildings and
Improvements. At all times during the Investigation Period, Buyer shall maintain reasonably
appropriate insurance for its activities. Buyer shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless Seller
and its tenants from and against any and all claims, causes of actions, demands, damages, losses,
liabilities, costs, expenses, injuries, liens, fines or penalties (including, without limitation,
reasonable attorneys’ fees) arising or resulting from Buyer’s or its employees’, contractors’,
subcontractors’ or consultants’ entry onto the Property and exercise of Buyer’s rights under this
Section 1.03. Buyer’s indemnification and defense obligations set forth in this Section 1.03 shall
survive the termination of this Agreement.

1.04  Governmental Approvals. During the Investigation Period, Buyer shall
investigate (a) the current zoning of the Property and any pending plans for rezoning of the
Property and/or Buildings and Improvements that might adversely affect Buyer’s intended use
once the Use Period expires, (b) the availability of demolition permits that might be necessary
for Buyer to demolish the Buildings and Improvements once the Use Period expires, and (c) the
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availability of coastal use and any other permits necessary to develop the Land. Any coastal
permit and other governmental approvals deemed advisable by Buyer shall be considered
“Required Buyer Governmental Approvals.” If Buyer is not satisfied with the zoning of the
Property or the availability or terms of any Required Buyer Governmental Approvals prior to the
expiration of the Investigation Period, Buyer may terminate this Agreement by providing written
notice to Seller within 5 days after the expiration of the Investigation Period and neither party
shall have any further obligation to the other under this Agreement other than those obligations
that survive the termination of this Agreement. If Buyer fails to timely terminate this Agreement
in accordance with this Section, Buyer shall be deemed to have waived its right to terminate this
Agreement as set forth in this Section 1.04 and Buyer shall be obligated to close this transaction
subject to and in accordance with all of the other terms and conditions of this Agreement,
including its remaining termination provisions.

During the Investigation Period, Seller shall obtain any governmental approvals required
for Seller to enter into and perform the transactions contemplated by this Agreement (“Seller
Required Governmental Approvals”). During the Investigation Period, Seller shall keep Buyer
informed of the status of Seller Required Governmental Approvals and Seller shall immediately
notify Buyer if Seller is unable to obtain or Seller becomes aware of any inability to obtain Seller
Required Government Approvals. If Seller Required Governmental Approvals are not obtained
prior to the Closing, this Agreement shall automatically terminate and neither party shall have

any further obligation to the other under this Agreement other than those obligations that survive
the termination of this Agreement.

1.05  Permitted Exceptions. The Property shall be conveyed to Buyer subject to no
liens, charges, encumbrances, servitudes, restrictions, exceptions or reservations of any kind or
character other than the following exceptions (the “Permitted Exceptions™):

(a) Ad valorem taxes (if applicable) for the year of Closing and subsequent
years that are not yet delinquent; and

(b) Any matters that constitute “Permitted Exceptions” pursuant to Section
1.07.

1.06  Title Evidence and Survey. Buyer shall have 45 days commencing the day after
the Execution Date to obtain (a) an owner’s commitment for title insurance in a form acceptable
to Buyer and including such endorsements as Buyer desires (the “Title Commitment™) covering
the Property and issued by a nationally recognized title insurance company designated by Buyer
(the “Title Company”), which Title Company shall agree to issue to Buyer, upon the Closing, an
owner’s title insurance policy in the full amount of the Purchase Price, without exception for any
matters other than the Permitted Exceptions; and (b) a current survey (the “Survey”) of the
Property. The Survey shall set forth an accurate description of the Property, including a
statement of acreage of the Land and depicting all access, structures, golf courses, easements,
rights-of way, alleys, encroachments, streets and roads on or pertaining to the Land or Property

and prepared in conformity with the standards of the Title Company and otherwise acceptable to
Buyer.
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1.07 Cure of Title and Survey Defects. If the Title Commitment reveals any matters
other than standard exceptions which will be removed at Closing and/or if the Survey reveals
any matters affecting the Property, Buildings and Improvements that are not contained in the
Title Commitment or if Buyer has actual knowledge of other title matters that would render title
to the Property or Buildings and Improvements unmarketable, Buyer shall notify Seller of any
such matters which are unacceptable to Buyer prior to the expiration of the Investigation Period.
The following matters on the Title Commitment or the Survey shall be deemed to be Permitted
Exceptions: (1) all matters shown on the Title Commitment or the Survey which are not the
subject of a timely objection by Buyer, and (2) all matters that are the subject of a timely
objection by Buyer but then waived or deemed to be waived by Buyer in accordance with this
Section. Upon receipt of an objection notice from Buyer to Seller, Seller shall, within 3 days
after receipt of Buyer’s objection notice, deliver to Buyer written notice of Seller’s election to (i)
cure such title objection, in which event Seller shall use commercially reasonable efforts to
eliminate such objection to the reasonable satisfaction of Buyer and the Title Company within 30
days thereafter (or within such longer period as Buyer and Seller may agree upon) or (ii) not to
cure such title objection. If Seller does not respond timely, Seller will be deemed to have
declined to cure such objection. If Seller delivers written notice electing to cure any title
objection, but is unable to cure such title objection prior to the Closing on the Property or elects,
or is deemed to elect, not to satisfy any title objection, then Buyer may, at its option, (a) accept
title subject to the objections raised by Buyer, in which event such objections shall be deemed to
be waived for all purposes and to constitute Permitted Exceptions pursuant to Section 1.05
above, or (b) terminate this Agreement, and neither party shall have any further obligation to the

other under this Agreement other than those obligations that survive the termination of this
Agreement.

1.08 Information. Prior to the Execution Date, Seller provided Buyer with copies of its
undated agreement with the Mobile Airport Authority concerning an access road for a possible
tanker manufacturing facility and its December 15, 2009 agreement with the Mobile Airport
Authority concerning temporary water/sewer usage rights. Within 7 business days after the
Execution Date, Seller shall provide Buyer with, to the extent relating to the Property and within
Seller’s possession, copies of the Leases, all title commitments, title policies, surveys, site plans,
studies, engineering reports, environmental studies, wetlands studies, agreements pertaining to
any water rights or supply, and other materials prepared for Seller to assess the physical
character or condition of the Land, Buildings and Improvements, the title to the Property, the
boundaries of the Land, any encroachments on the Land or by the Buildings and Improvements,
any encumbrances on the Land, the zoning of the Land, Buildings and Improvements or the
presence of Hazardous Materials (hereinafter defined) in, on, under or around the Land or
Buildings and Improvements and shall disclose in writing any other such reports of which Seller
has actual knowledge (collectively, the “Property Reports™). If this Agreement is terminated, the
information provided will be returned to Seller within 5 days after such termination. Seller shall

disclose any material changes with respect to any information delivered to Buyer pursuant to this
Section which occur prior to Closing.
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II. EXCLUDED PROPERTY, THE SURFACE EASEMENT,
AND THE USE PERIOD

2.01 Use Period. Seller shall reserve and retain ownership of the Excluded Property
until the expiration of the Use Period, in accordance with the terms of the Surface Easement,
and, upon the expiration or early termination of the Use Period with respect to any portion of the
Excluded Property, Seller shall convey title to the Excluded Property, other than the Personal
Property, to Buyer in accordance with Section 2.06. Seller and its successors and assigns shall
retain title to the Personal Property in perpetuity.

2.02 Additional Leases. During the Use Period, Seller may grant additional leases on
the Property and Excluded Property, so long as such leases are terminable within 90 days of the
expiration or earlier termination of the Use Period without the payment of any termination fee or
penalty. Such additional leases shall be considered “Leases” under this Agreement.

2.03  Early Termination of the Use Period and Surface Easement. At any time during
the Use Period, Buyer shall have the option (the “Option”), exercisable at one time only, to
terminate the Use Period and the Surface Easement with respect to all of the Excluded Property.
If Buyer elects to exercise the Option, Buyer shall send written notice thereof (the “Exercise
Notice™) to Seller at least 90 days in advance of the termination date. If the Note remains
outstanding and Buyer is exercising its Option, Buyer’s right to exercise its Option to terminate
the Use Period and Surface Easement prior to their scheduled expiration dates is conditioned
upon Buyer’s prepayment of the Note in full upon the effective date of the termination.

2.04 Evidence of Release. Effective as of the expiration or early termination of the
Use Period and Surface Easement, Seller shall execute a release of the Surface Easement and
acknowledgment of the termination of the Surface Easement as Buyer reasonably requests to
evidence in the public records the exercise of its rights under Section 2.03.

2.05 Removal of Parties in Possession. On or prior to the expiration or early
termination of the Use Period, Seller shall remove all of its Personal Property from the Property
and cause all parties in possession of the remaining Excluded Property to remove themselves and
their goods from the Property, Buildings and Improvements; provided, however, that, if Buyer
terminates the Use Period early, then existing tenants of Seller pursuant to written Leases may
remain in possession of their leaseholds for a period not to exceed 90 days following the
effective date of the Use Period termination, except in the case of the Lease to the Alabama State

Department of Education (Disability Determination Service) which expires on, and shall be
honored through, November 30, 2011.

2.06 Conveyance of Excluded Property. Upon expiration or early termination of the
Use Period with respect to the Excluded Property, Seller shall convey the Excluded Property,
other than the Personal Property, to Buyer, or to any purchaser or other transferee from Buyer as
may be designated by written notice from Buyer to Seller, pursuant to the form of Statutory
Warranty Deed attached hereto as Exhibit “D-1” (the “Improvements Deed”), to be delivered to
Buyer within 10 days of Buyer’s request. The sole consideration for the delivery of the
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Improvements Deed shall be Buyer’s original obligation to pay the Purchase Price under this
Agreement and to allow Seller to retain the Excluded Property during the Use Period, subject to
Buyer’s early termination rights under Section 2.03. Buyer shall obtain, at its expense, a
commitment to endorse the existing title insurance policy on the Property with respect to the
Excluded Property acquired pursuant to the Improvements Deed, and, if such title commitment
reveals any liens, encumbrances or other title defects with respect to the Excluded Property other
than the original Permitted Exceptions, Seller shall cure such title matter within 30 days of the
date of Buyer’s notice. In connection with the delivery of the Improvements Deed, Seller shall
provide a seller/owner affidavit as required by Buyer’s title company as well as evidence of
Seller’s authorization to execute and deliver the Improvements Deed. Upon such conveyance,
Seller shall turn over any security deposits relating to the Leases to Buyer. Seller is also
responsible for terminating all services contracts relating to the Excluded Property upon the
expiration or early termination of the Use Period.

2.07 Governmental Permits. During the Use Period, Seller shall cooperate with Buyer,
at Buyer’s expense, in any application Buyer elects to file to rezone all or any part of the
Property (provided that such rezoning does not materially adversely affect Seller during the Use
Period or cause a breach of the Leases) or to obtain any other governmental permits and
authorizations that Buyer deems desirable to develop or sell the Property after the Use Period
expires or is terminated.

2.08 Maintenance of Buildings and Improvements. Seller shall maintain the Buildings
and Improvements throughout the Use Period in substantially the same condition as existed on
the Closing Date, normal wear and tear excepted; provided, however, that Seller may (i) if it
discontinues using or renting any Building, cease maintaining and secure such Building in such a
manner as to protect occupants of and visitors to the Property from personal injury or death
resulting from such abandoned Buildings and to protect against unauthorized entry into or
occupancy of such abandoned Building and (ii) demolish any Buildings and Improvements that it
does not wish to maintain so long as the demolition is performed by qualified contractors and
authorized by applicable law. If Seller secures any Building, Seller shall terminate its utility
service, periodically inspect such Building, and restore any security measures taken which have
become damaged to protect against unauthorized entry into or occupancy of the abandoned
Building. If Seller demolishes any Buildings and Improvements, it must cause all resulting
debris to be removed from the Property at Seller’s expense.

2.09 Maintenance of Grounds. During the Use Period, Seller will, at its own cost and
expense, cut the grass, trim trees and shrubs, remove dead trees, and otherwise maintain the
landscaping of the Property in accordance with Seller’s customary practices prior to the date
hereof (provided, however, that Seller may abandon the golf course and thereafter maintain the
former golf course under the same standards that Seller maintains the remainder of the Property).
During the Use Period, Seller will, at its own cost and expense to the extent not performed by the
applicable utility companies and public authorities, also maintain the Subsurface Improvements
and Access Improvements as necessary for the safe use of such by Seller, Seller’s tenants, and
their invitees. Seller may at any time abandon any such Subsurface Improvements and Access
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Improvements no longer required by Seller, Seller’s tenants or their invitees, so long as any
utilities are disconnected and the abandonment does not jeopardize the safety of any such
persons.

2.10 Notice of Litigation. Seller shall provide Buyer with (i) notice of all suits against
Seller filed or pending during the Use Period that relate to the Property or the Excluded Property
and (ii) copies of all default notices received by Seller under the Leases.

III. REPRESENTATIONS AND COVENANTS

3.01 Seller’s Representations and Covenants. Except for Seller’s (Seller being defined
for the purposes of Article III as the president, all vice presidents, in-house legal counsel, and all
other officers having current or prior management responsibility for the Property, including,
without limitation, Mr. Steve Simmons and Mr. Pat Downing) express written representations in
this Agreement and the Deeds, Buyer shall rely solely on Buyer’s due diligence and own
judgment in determining whether to purchase the Property. Seller makes the following
covenants for the period commencing on the Execution Date and terminating on the Closing
Date, as well as the following representations which are true and accurate as of the Execution
Date and as of the Closing Date:

(@ No Violations of Zoning and other Laws. To the best of Seller’s
knowledge, the existing use and condition of the Property, Buildings and Improvements does not
violate any zoning, building, health, fire or similar statute, ordinance, regulation or code, nor has
Seller received any notice, written or otherwise, from any governmental agency alleging
violations of building codes, building or use restrictions, zoning ordinances, rules and
regulations, or any other such matters that have not been cured. Seller shall not knowingly permit

any such law violations and shall immediately notify Buyer in writing if Seller receives notice of
same.

(b) Pending and Threatened Litigation. There are no pending or, to the best of
Seller’s knowledge, threatened matters of litigation, administrative action or examination, claim
or demand whatsoever relating to the Property, Buildings and Improvements or other Excluded
Property. Buyer is aware that Seller is terminating numerous leases and contracts related to the
Property and its use by Seller. Seller agrees to notify Buyer in writing as soon as practicable if
any claim or litigation ensues as a result of said termination or otherwise.

(c) Eminent Domain, etc. There is no pending or, to the best of Seller’s
knowledge, contemplated eminent domain, condemnation or other governmental taking of the
Property, Buildings and Improvements or other Excluded Property or any part thereof. Seller
shall immediately notify Buyer in writing if Seller receives notice of same.

(d) Access to Property, Buildings and Improvements; Utilities. To the best of
Seller’s knowledge, there is no fact or condition which would result in the termination or
impairment of access to the Property, Buildings and Improvements from adjoining public or
private streets or ways or which could result in discontinuation of presently available or
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otherwise necessary sewer, water, electric, gas, telephone or other utilities or services. Seller
shall maintain such access and utilities through the Closing Date and notify Buyer immediately
in writing if such access or utilities are compromised.

(e) Assessments. To the best of Seller’s knowledge, there are no public
improvements in the nature of off-site improvements, or otherwise, which have been ordered to
be made and/or which have not heretofore been assessed, and there are no special or general
assessments pending against or affecting the Property, Buildings and Improvements or other
Excluded Property. Seller shall immediately notify Buyer in writing if any such assessments
arise.

® Accuracy of Information. To the best of Seller’s knowledge, the Property
Reports and all other documents being delivered by Seller are true, accurate and complete. Such
Property Reports and other documents fairly present the information purportedly set forth therein
in a manner which is not misleading in any material way, and the Property Reports do not fail to
present any information or data which would be necessary in order to prevent the information
contained therein from being misleading.

(g) No Breach of Other Agreements. To the best of Seller’s knowledge, the
consummation of the transactions herein contemplated and the compliance by Seller with the
terms of this Agreement do not and will not conflict with or result in a breach of any of the terms
or provisions of, or constitute a default under, any agreement, arrangement, understanding,
accord, document or instrument by which Seller or the Property, Buildings and Improvements or
other Excluded Property are bound; and will not and does not constitute a violation of any
applicable law, rule, regulation, judgment, order or decree of any governmental instrumentality
or court, domestic or foreign, to which Seller or the Property, Buildings and Improvements or
other Excluded Property are subject or bound.

(h) Executory Agreements. Seller is not party to, and the Property, Buildings
and Improvements and other Excluded Property are not subject to, any contract or agreement of
any kind whatsoever, written or oral, formal or informal, with respect to the Property, Buildings
and Improvements and other Excluded Property, other than the Leases described in Exhibit “B”.
Buyer shall not, at Closing, become subject to or bound by any agreement, contract, lease,
license, invoice, bill, undertaking or understanding pertaining to the Property, Buildings and
Improvements and other Excluded Property, including, without limitation the Leases, which shall
remain Seller’s sole liability throughout the Use Period.

(1) Insuring Property, Buildings and Improvements and other Excluded
Property. Between the Execution Date and the Closing, Seller will keep the Property, the

Buildings and Improvements and other Excluded Property, fully insured in accordance with
prudent and customary practice.

) All Required Action Taken. All Seller Required Governmental Approvals
that are necessary to effectuate the transactions contemplated herein, have been or will be
obtained by Seller prior to the Closing. The execution and delivery of this Agreement by Seller

{N2120237.27}

125



and the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement will not violate any
federal or Alabama state laws, ordinances, rules and regulations to which Seller, the Property or
Excluded Property are subject.

(k) Obligations Under Leases: Mechanic’s Liens. Any and all alterations,
installations, decorations and other work required to be performed by Seller as lessor (or as any
other responsible party) prior to the Closing Date under the provisions of any Leases or other
agreements affecting the Property, Buildings and Improvements, have been or will be paid for in
full by Seller, whether before or after the Closing Date. As of the Closing Date, there will be no
mechanic’s liens or other claims outstanding or available to any party in connection with the
Property, Buildings and Improvements and other Excluded Property.

)] Government Obligations. To the best of Seller’s knowledge, there are no
unperformed obligations relative to the Property, Buildings and Improvements and other
Excluded Property outstanding to any governmental or quasi-governmental body or authority.

(m)  Schedule of Ieases.

(1) Exhibit “B” is a list of the only Leases affecting the Property,
Buildings and Improvements as of the Execution Date setting forth the name of
each tenant (a “Tenant” and collectively, “Tenants”), the date of each of the
Leases, and the term of each of the Leases. Said list is complete and all
information therein is materially accurate as of its date, and there are no leases,
tenancies, licenses, occupancy or other similar agreements with respect to the
Property, Buildings and Improvements or any part thereof except as therein set
forth, other than those residential tenant leases which will be terminated effective
November 30, 2010. Seller has provided a complete copy of each such Lease, as
amended, to Buyer for review; and

(11) The Leases have not been modified, amended or altered, in writing
or otherwise, other than as indicated on Exhibit “B”.

(n) Utility Services. To the best of Seller’s knowledge, the sewage,
sanitation, plumbing, water retention and detention, refuse disposal and similar facilities in and
on and/or servicing the Property, Buildings and Improvements are fully adequate to service the
Property, Buildings and Improvements and are in full compliance with all governmental and
environmental protection authorities’ laws, rules, regulations and requirements. Seller shall
immediately notify Buyer in writing if, prior to the Closing, Seller receives any notice of non-
compliance or other interruption in connection with utility services and shall maintain or cause to
be maintained such compliance.

(0) Rights in the Property, Buildings and Improvements and other Excluded
Property. Between the Execution Date and the Closing, no part of the Property and Excluded
Property will be alienated, encumbered or transferred in favor of or to any party whatsoever,
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except for Leases. There are no currently effective purchase contracts, options or any other
agreements (other than those with the Mobile Airport Authority referenced in Section 1.08
herein) of any kind, written or oral, formal or informal, choate or inchoate, recorded or
unrecorded, whereby any person or entity other than Seller will have acquired or will have any
basis to assert any right, title or interest in, or right to possession, use, enjoyment or proceeds of
all or any portion of the Property, Buildings and Improvements or other Excluded Property other
than as may be described in the Title Commitment. Seller shall not enter into any such purchase
contracts, options or any other agreements without first obtaining Buyer’s written consent.

(p) Environmental Matters. To the best of Seller’s knowledge, during Seller’s
ownership of the Property, Buildings and Improvements (i) no Hazardous Materials (herein
defined) have been located on the Property, Buildings and Improvements or have been released
into the environment, or discharged, placed or disposed of at, on or under the Property, Buildings
and Improvements except in full compliance with Environmental Laws (as hereinafter defined);
(1) no underground storage tanks have been located on the Property, Buildings and
Improvements; (iii) the Property, Buildings and Improvements have never been used as a dump
site for waste material; and (iv) the Property, Buildings and Improvements comply with, and
during Seller’s ownership have complied with, any applicable governmental law, regulation or
requirement relating to environmental and occupational health and safety matters and Hazardous
Materials, including, without limitation, all Environmental Laws (herein defined). Seller shall

immediately notify Buyer in writing if Seller receives any notice of a violation of Environmental
Laws.

The term “Hazardous Materials” shall mean any substance, material, waste, gas or
particulate matter which is regulated by any local governmental authority, the State of Alabama,
or the United States Government, including, but not limited to, any material or substance which
is (i) defined as a “hazardous waste,” “hazardous material,” “hazardous substance,” “extremely
hazardous waste,” or “restricted hazardous waste” under any provision of Alabama law; (ii)
petroleum; (iii) asbestos; (iv) designated chlorinated biphenyl; (v) radioactive material; (vi)
designated as a “hazardous substance” pursuant to Section 311 of the Clean Water Act, 33
U.S.C.Article 1251 et seq. (33 U.S.C. Article 1317); (vii) defined as a “hazardous waste”
pursuant to section 1004 of the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act, 42 U.S.C. Section
6901 et seq. (42 U.S.C. Article 6903); or (viii) defined as a “hazardous substance” pursuant to
section 101 of the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act,
42 U.S.C. Article 9601 et seq. (42 U.S.C. Article 9601).

The term “Environmental Laws” shall mean all of the most current statutes specifically
described in the foregoing sentence and all federal, state and local environmental health and
safety statutes, ordinances, codes, rules, regulations, orders and decrees regulating, relating to or
imposing liability or standards concerning or in connection with Hazardous Materials.

(q) Binding Obligation. This Agreement and all other documents and
agreements to be executed and/or delivered in connection with or pursuant to this Agreement
constitute or shall constitute the valid and binding obligation of Seller, enforceable against Seller
in accordance with their terms, except as such enforcement may be limited by (A) the effect of
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bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, receivership, conservatorship, arrangement, moratorium
or other Applicable Laws affecting or relating to the rights of creditors generally, or (B) the rules
governing the availability of specific performance, injunctive relief or other equitable remedies
and general principles of equity, regardless of whether considered in a proceeding in equity or at
law.

In the event of a material breach of any covenant or representation made in this Section
3.01 or elsewhere in this Agreement by Seller before or at Closing, Buyer shall have the right to
terminate this Agreement by providing written notice to Seller. Upon any such termination
pursuant to Section 3.01 prior to the Closing, neither party shall have any further obligation to
the other under this Agreement other than those obligations that survive the termination of this
Agreement.

3.02 Buyer’s Representations. Buyer makes the following representations which are
true and accurate as of the Execution Date and as of the Closing Date:

(a) All Required Action Taken. All action required pursuant to this
Agreement necessary to effectuate the transactions contemplated herein has been, or will be,
taken promptly and in good faith by Buyer and its representatives and agents.

(b) Binding Obligations. This Agreement and all other documents and
agreements to be executed and/or delivered in connection with or pursuant to this Agreement
constitute or shall constitute the valid and binding obligation of Buyer, enforceable against Buyer
in accordance with their terms, except as such enforcement may be limited by (A) the effect of
bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, receivership, conservatorship, arrangement, moratorium
or other applicable laws affecting or relating to the rights of creditors generally, or (B) the rules
governing the availability of specific performance, injunctive relief or other equitable remedies

and general principles of equity, regardless of whether considered in a proceeding in equity or at
law.

3.03  Survival. The covenants and representations contained in Sections 3.01 and 3.02
shall survive the execution and delivery of the Closing Deed and the Closing for the longest
period allowed by applicable law, and shall remain in full force and effect regardless of any

investigation made by or on behalf of any party or of the actual or constructive knowledge by
any party of any inaccuracy or breach thereof.

IV.  PROVISIONS WITH RESPECT TO CLOSING

4.01  Closing Date. Consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement
(the “Closing”) shall take place in the offices of Buyer’s attorneys 15 days following the
expiration of the Investigation Period (the “Closing Date”); provided, however, that the Closing
Date may be extended as necessary under Section 1.07 (to perform title curative work).

Notwithstanding anything contained in this Section 4.01 to the contrary, Buyer may elect
to schedule an earlier Closing Date provided that (a) all conditions precedent to the Closing have
been satisfied or waived, and (b) Buyer furnishes Seller with written notice of Buyer’s election to
close early at least 10 days prior to the date upon which Buyer desires to close the applicable
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transaction evidenced by this Agreement.

4.02  Seller’s Obligations at Closing. At the Closing, Seller shall do the following:

(a) Execute, acknowledge and deliver to Buyer a special warranty deed, with
reserved vendor’s lien, in substantially the form attached hereto as Exhibit “D-2” (the “Closing
Deed”) conveying the Property to Buyer subject only to the Permitted Exceptions;

(b) Execute and deliver to Buyer a mechanic’s lien and possession affidavit in
sufficient form and substance so as to allow the Title Company to remove the mechanic’s lien
exception and parties-in-possession exception from the Title Commitment provided that, with
respect to parties-in-possession, Seller shall not be obligated to execute any possession affidavit
with respect to parties that shall remain in possession after the Closing in accordance with
Section 2.05 above;

() Execute and deliver to the Title Company an affidavit that, to Seller’s
knowledge, there have been no changes to the conditions of title from that shown in the Title
Commitment in order for the Title Company to delete the “gap” exception;

(d) Execute and deliver instruments satisfactory to Buyer and the Title
Company reflecting the proper power, good standing and authorization for the Sale of the
Property from Seller to Buyer hereunder;

(e) Execute and deliver to Buyer and the Title Company a FIRPTA affidavit

in form and substance acceptable to Buyer and the Title Company certifying that Seller is not a
foreign entity;

63 Execute and deliver to Buyer a closing statement setting forth the

Purchase Price, adjustments, prorations and closing costs as set forth herein (the “Settlement
Statement™);

(g) Cause its counsel to execute and deliver to Buyer an opinion of counsel

with respect to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement in form and substance
satisfactory to Buyer;

(h) Execute and deliver to the Title Company or its agent escrow instructions
instructing the Title Company or its agent to perform such acts as are necessary to consummate
the transactions contemplated in this Agreement; and

(1) Execute and deliver such other documents as may be reasonably required
by Buyer and the Title Company to consummate the transactions contemplated in this
Agreement or as may be required under this Agreement.

4.03  Buyer’s Obligations at Closing. Contemporaneously with but conditional upon
the performance by Seller of its obligations set forth in Section 4.02 above, at Closing, Buyer
shall deliver to Seller the cash portion of the Purchase Price (net of the Deposit and closing

adjustments) in cash or by wire transfer received no later than 5:00 p.m. (Central) on the Closing
Date.
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In addition, Buyer shall do the following:

(a) Execute and deliver instruments reasonably satisfactory to Seller and the
Title Company reflecting the proper power, good standing and authorization for the purchase of
the Property from Seller by Buyer hereunder;

(b) Execute and deliver to Seller the Note;
(c) Execute the Deed and deliver a duplicate original to Seller;
(d) Execute and deliver to Seller the Settlement Statement;

(e) Cause its counsel to execute and deliver to Seller an opinion of counsel
with respect to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement in form and substance
satisfactory to Seller;

® Execute and deliver to Title Company or its agent escrow instructions
instructing Title Company or its agent to perform such acts as are necessary to consummate the
transaction contemplated in this Agreement; and

(g) Execute and deliver such other documents as may be reasonably required
by Seller and the Title Company to consummate the transactions contemplated in this Agreement
or as may be required by this Agreement.

4.04 Closing Costs.

(a) Seller shall pay the following costs and expenses in connection with the
Closing:

1) Its costs of preparing documents, such as authorizing resolutions,
necessary for Seller’s authorization of and entry into the transactions

contemplated by this Agreement and its attorneys’ fees (subject to Section 9.02
below);

(i1) The incremental tax cost of recording the Closing Deed resulting
from Seller’s vendor’s lien in excess of the tax cost that would have applied if the
Closing Deed did not include a vendor’s lien; and

(i1i)  Any costs of operating the Property, Buildings and Improvements
and other Excluded Property which have accrued prior to the Closing Date.

(b) Buyer shall pay the following costs and expenses:

) Its costs of preparing the Closing Deed and other closing
documents and its attorneys’ fees (subject to Section 6.02 below);

(11) The cost of its environmental assessment work;
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(i1i) Al of the premium payable for the owner’s policy of title
insurance in connection with the Closing;

(iv)  The cost of the Survey; and

(v) All recording fees in connection with the Deed, including, without
limitation, any transfer or recording tax, other than the portion of such tax payable
by Seller under Section 4.04(a)(ii).

(c) Property Taxes. Seller shall pay its pro-rated share of city, state and
county ad valorem taxes (if any) for the current calendar year accruing pre-Closing based upon
the ad valorem tax bill for the Property for 2009.

4,05 Seller’s Conditions Precedent to Closing. The following shall be conditions
precedent to Seller’s obligation to proceed with the Closing and consummate the sale of the
Property in accordance with this Agreement:

(a) Seller shall have received from Buyer, or received confirmation from Title
Company or its agent that same has received from Buyer, all of the items required to be delivered
by Buyer pursuant to Section 4.03 above;

(b) Buyer shall have performed, in all material respects, all covenants and

obligations to be performed by Buyer at or prior to the Closing in accordance with this
Agreement; and

(c) Buyer’s representations and warranties set forth in Section 3.02 of this
Agreement shall be true and correct as of the Closing, as if made on the Closing Date.

4.06 Buyer’s Conditions Precedent to Closing. The following shall be conditions

precedent to Buyer’s obligation to proceed with the Closing and consummate the sale of the
Property in accordance with this Agreement:

(a) Buyer shall have received from Seller, or received confirmation from Title
Company or its agent that same has received from Seller, all of the items required to be delivered
by Seller pursuant to Section 4.02 above;

(b) Seller shall have performed, in all material respects, all covenants and

obligations to be performed by Seller at or prior to the Closing in accordance with this
Agreement; and '

(c) Seller’s representations and warranties set forth in Section 3.01 of this
Agreement shall be true and correct as of the Closing, as if made on the Closing Date.

V. RISK OF LOSS

5.01  Risk of Loss by Casualty. If, prior to Closing, all or any material portion of the
Property is destroyed or damaged by casualty or any other act or occurrence (an “Qccurrence”™),
Buyer may, at its option and within 5 days following the date that Buyer becomes aware of the
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Occurrence, (a) elect to terminate this Agreement and neither party shall have any further
obligation to the other under this Agreement except those obligations that survive termination of
this Agreement, or (b) elect to close the transactions in which case Buyer shall be conclusively
deemed to have elected to accept the Property subject to such Occurrence at Closing, and Seller
shall assign all of its interest to any insurance proceeds resulting from such Occurrence relative
to Property but not Buildings or Improvements to Buyer at Closing. If the Property or Buildings
and Improvements becomes subject to environmental contamination after the expiration of the
Investigation Period but prior to the Closing which adversely and materially affects the Property,
Buildings and Improvements in Buyer’s reasonable discretion, then Buyer may, at its option and
within 5 days following written notice by Seller to Buyer of the contamination, (a) elect to
terminate this Agreement and neither party shall have any further obligation to the other under
this Agreement except those obligations that survive termination of this Agreement, or (b) elect
to close the transactions in which case Buyer shall be conclusively deemed to have elected to
accept the Property subject to such contamination at Closing, and Seller shall assign all of its
interest to any insurance proceeds and claims against third parties resulting from such
contamination to Buyer at Closing, except to the extent that Seller is responsible for remedying
such contamination or paying any other expenses associated therewith, including but not limited
to as required under the terms of this Contract, or as necessary for Seller’s continued use during
the Use Period. Buyer shall not maintain any claim against Seller for any Occurrence. Seller

shall immediately notify Buyer in writing immediately upon Seller’s knowledge of any
Occurrence.

5.02 Risk of Loss by Condemnation, Taking, Transfer or Other Action by State or
Federal Government. If prior to Closing any condemnation, eminent domain proceedings, any
transfer from or to any Alabama state agency or entity other than Seller or any threats or
contemplations thereof or any proposals therefor (collectively, a “Governmental
Taking/Transfer”) are initiated or threatened which might result in the taking or other transfer of
all or any portion of the Property or Excluded Property, Buyer may, at its option and within 5
days following written notice by Seller to Buyer of the Governmental Taking/Transfer, (a) elect
to terminate this Agreement and neither party shall have any further obligation to the other under
this Agreement, except those obligations that survive termination of this Agreement, or (b) elect
to close the transaction (which Buyer shall be deemed to have elected to do if no such
termination notice is given by Buyer to Seller) in which case Buyer shall be conclusively deemed
to have elected to accept the Property subject to such Governmental Taking/Transfer at Closing.
If the Closing occurs after any Governmental Taking/Transfer or the commencement of any
Governmental Taking/Transfer proceedings with respect to the Property or Excluded Property,
Seller shall assign all of its interest to all proceeds relating thereto to Buyer at Closing. Seller

shall immediately notify Buyer in writing if to its knowledge any Governmental Taking/Transfer
is pending, threatened or contemplated.

V1. INSURANCE AND INDEMNITY

6.01  General Liability Insurance. Seller shall provide at its sole expense, and keep in
force at all times during the Use Period, such insurance and in such amounts as are reasonable
and customary in connection with the Excluded Property and Seller’s use thereof and reasonably
satisfactory to Buyer including, without limitation (a) commercial or self-funded liability
insurance (which, in the case of commercial policies only, shall include Buyer and any
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mortgagee of Buyer as additional insureds, shall include waivers of subrogation in their favor
and shall also be endorsed to provide that their coverage is primary to any liability insurance
coverage carried by the additional insureds, whose liability coverage shall be excess); and (b)
automobile liability insurance for any vehicles owned by Seller in connection with the Property.

6.02 Certificates. Seller shall provide Buyer with certificates of insurance evidencing
the required coverages and renewal and replacement certificates as necessary to continuously
evidence the maintenance of the required coverages. Such insurance certificates shall be in a
form acceptable to the Buyer.

6.03 Blanket Insurance Permitted. Any insurance required to be provided by the Seller
pursuant to this Agreement may be provided by blanket insurance covering the Property,
Excluded Property, and other property that is subject to the Surface Easement, and other
locations of Seller, provided such blanket insurance complies with all of the other requirements
of this Agreement with respect to the insurance involved.

6.04 Notice of Cancellation. Seller shall use its best efforts to cause all such policies to
provide that they may not be canceled or the coverage afforded thereby diminished or otherwise

altered by the insurer until at 30 days after service of notice of the proposed cancellation upon
Buyer.

6.05 Right to Obtain Insurance. Should Seller fail to timely provide the insurance as
required by this Article VI, Buyer may immediately obtain same and Seller shall be required to
repay all costs and expenses associated with such insurance immediately upon demand by Buyer.

6.06 Indemnification. To the extent allowed by applicable law, Seller shall protect,
indemnify and save harmless Buyer and its directors, officers, employees, agents, successors and
assigns (the “Indemnitees™) from and against any and all liabilities, losses, causes of action, suits,
claims, demands, administrative proceedings, judgments, damages, punitive damages,
remediation expenses, penalties, fines, costs (including sums paid in settlement of claims and
monitoring costs) and expenses (including all reasonable attorneys’ fees, consultants’ or experts’
fees and other expenses of Indemnitees in connection with any of the foregoing and all
reasonable costs incurred in enforcing the indemnities under this Agreement) of any nature
whatsoever (collectively, “Losses”) arising from or as the result of (i) any Environmental
Violation (as defined in Section 7.01(a) below) occurring during the Use Period as the result of
Seller’s act or omission, (ii) Seller’s use, occupancy, and leasing of the Property, Excluded
Property, or the Surface Easement during the Use Period, (iii) any injury to, or the death of, any
person or any damage to property on the Property, Excluded Property or other property subject to
the Surface Easement occurring prior to Closing or during the Use Period, or (iv) any act,
omission, circumstance or event creating a breach of Seller’s representations in Section 3.01.
For the purpose of subsections (i) through (iv) of the preceding sentence, the term “Seller” shall
include Seller and its officers, employees, and agents of the Seller. All Losses subject to
indemnification under this Section are to be reimbursed as incurred. To the extent allowed by
applicable law, Seller upon notice from Buyer will defend any claim of the nature described in
this Section at Seller’s expense by counsel reasonably approved in writing by Buyer. Seller’s
duty of indemnification does not apply to Losses resulting from an Indemnitee’s sole negligence
or to Losses to the extent resulting from an Indemnitee’s gross negligence or willful act. Seller’s
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duty of indemnification otherwise applies to all Losses, even those resulting from an
Indemnitee’s contributory simple negligence or strict liability. Seller’s obligations under this
Section shall survive the Closing or any earlier termination of this Agreement for the longest
period allowed by applicable law.

VII. ALLOCATION OF ENVIRONMENTAL EXPENSES

7.01 Definitions.

(a) “Environmental Violation” means (i) Hazardous Materials have been or
are hereafter located on the Property, Buildings and Improvements or have been or are hereafter
released into the environment, or discharged, placed or disposed of at, on or under the Property,
Buildings and Improvements in violation of Environmental Laws; (ii) underground storage tanks
are now or hereafter located on the Property, Buildings and Improvements; (1ii) the Property,
Buildings and Improvements have been or are hereafter used as a dump site for waste material;
and (iv) the Property, Buildings and Improvements have not complied, or hereafter do not
comply, with all applicable Environmental Laws.

(b) “Environmental Expenses” mean any Expenses arising in connection with
or as the result of any past, present or future Environmental Violation relating to the Property,
Buildings and Improvements, whether suffered or incurred by Seller or Buyer.

(c) “Expenses” mean any liabilities, losses, judgments, settlements, punitive
damages, penalties, fines, monitoring, investigation and remediation costs, and expenses
(including all reasonable attorneys’ fees, consultants’ or experts’ fees) of any nature whatsoever.

7.02  Allocation of Environmental Expenses. As between Seller and Buyer (with each
reserving all rights it may have against third parties), Environmental Expenses are allocated as
follows: (i) Buyer releases Seller from (but Buyer does not assume) any Environmental Expenses
resulting from acts, omissions, events or circumstances prior to the Closing Date, except in the
case of Environmental Expenses that result from a matter that constitutes a breach of Seller’s
representations in Section 3.01(p), (i) Seller shall pay all Environmental Expenses resulting
from acts, omissions, events or circumstances prior to the Closing Date if they result from a
matter that constitutes a breach of Seller’s representations in Section 3.01(p), (iii) Seller shall pay
Environmental Expenses resulting from acts, omissions, events or circumstances caused or
allowed by Seller, its employees, agents, and tenants during the Use Period, and (iv) Buyer shall
pay Environmental Expenses resulting from acts, omissions, events or circumstances following
the Use Period. For purposes of this Section, the discovery or reporting of an Environmental
Violation does not constitute an act, omission, event or circumstance resulting in an
Environmental Expense; rather the act, omission, event or circumstance creating the
Environmental Violation is the relevant act, omission, event or circumstance to determine
allocation of the resulting Environmental Expenses under this Section.

7.03 Payment of Environmental Expenses. The party responsible for payment of
Environmental Expenses under Section 7.02 shall pay such Environmental Expenses and, if a
party shall ever pay Environmental Expenses that are the other party’s responsibility under
Section 7.02, the responsible party shall reimburse the paying party upon demand.
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VIII. ALLOCATION OF CERTAIN OTHER EXPENSES

8.01 Definitions.

(a) “Allocated Expenses” mean any Governmental Violation Expenses, Lease
Expenses, Personal Injury Expenses, and Section 3.01 Expenses.

(b)  “Governmental Violation” means any violation or breach of laws and
regulations applicable to the Property, Buildings and Improvements other than an Environmental
Violation.

(c) “Governmental Violation Expenses” mean any Expenses of any nature
whatsoever arising in connection with or as the result of any past, present or future
Governmental Violation relating to the Property, Buildin%s and Improvements, whether suffered
or incurred by Seller or Buyer.

(d) “Lease Expenses” mean any Expenses of any nature whatsoever arising in
connection with or as the result of any past, present or future breach of any Lease by the lessor
thereunder, whether suffered or incurred by Seller or Buyer.

(e) “Personal Injury Expenses” mean any Expenses of any nature whatsoever
arising in connection with or as the result of any past, present or future personal injury or death

suffered by any person relating to the Property, Buildings and Improvements, whether suffered
or incurred by Seller or Buyer.

(f) “Section 3.01 Expenses” mean any expenses of any nature whatsoever
arising in connection with or as the result of any breach of the representations in Article III,
whether suffered or incurred by Seller or Buyer.

8.02 Division of Allocated Expenses. As between Seller and Buyer (with each
reserving all rights it may have against third parties), Allocated Expenses are allocated as
follows: (i) each party shall pay all Section 3.01 Expenses incurred by the other party as the
result of the paying party’s breach of its representations under Article II1, (i) Seller shall pay all
Governmental Violation Expenses, Lease Expenses, and Personal Injury Expenses resulting from
acts, omissions, events or circumstances during its ownership or during the Use Period, and (iii)
Buyer shall pay all Governmental Violation Expenses, Lease Expenses, and Personal Injury
Expenses resulting from acts, omissions, events or circumstances following the Use Period. For
purposes of this Section, the discovery or reporting of a Governmental Violation or breach of a
Lease does not constitute an act, omission, event or circumstance resulting in an Governmental
Violation Expense or Lease Expense; rather the act, omission, event or circumstance creating the
Governmental Violation or breach of the Lease is the relevant act, omission, event or

circumstance determining allocation of the resulting Governmental Violation Expenses and
Lease Expenses under this Section.

8.03  Payment of Allocated Expenses. The party responsible for payment of Allocated
Expenses under Section 8.02 shall pay such Allocated Expenses and, if a party shall ever pay
Allocated Expenses that are the other party’s responsibility under Section 8.02, the responsible
party shall reimburse the paying party upon demand.
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IX. PROVISIONS WITH RESPECT TO DEFAULT

9.01 Default. If a party fails to perform any of the covenants of this Agreement, or if a
party otherwise defaults hereunder, and as a result the Closing does not occur, then the non-
defaulting party shall have the right of specific performance of all provisions of this Agreement
or, at its option, may elect to terminate this Agreement and neither party shall have any further
obligation to the other except those obligations that survive the termination of this Agreement.

9.02 Attorneys’ Fees and Costs. In the event of any litigation between the parties
arising out of this Agreement, except to the extent provided in Articles VII and V1II, each party
shall bear its own fees (including reasonable attorneys’ fees) and costs incurred, whether such
fees and costs are incurred at trial, on appeal or in any bankruptcy proceedings.

X. OTHER CONTRACTUAL PROVISIONS

10.01 Assignment. Buyer may assign its interest in this Agreement to an entity
controlling, controlled by or under common control with Buyer without need of obtaining
Seller’s consent, provided, however, that Buyer shall deliver written notice of any such
assignment to Seller within 3 days after such assignment, and Buyer shall remain liable on a joint
and several basis with its assignee for the payment of the Note. Otherwise, Buyer may not
assign its interest in this Agreement without Seller’s written consent, which consent shall not be
unreasonably withheld.

10.02 Brokers. Buyer shall pay any and all commissions claimed by any broker or third
party arising by virtue of this transaction whose commissions might legally arise from acts of
Buyer. Seller shall pay any and all commissions claimed by any broker or third party arising by
virtue of this transaction whose commissions might legally arise from acts of Seller.

10.03 Notices. All notices which are required or permitted hereunder must be in writing
and shall be deemed to have been given, delivered or made, as the case may be (notwithstanding
lack of actual receipt by the addressee) (i) when delivered by personal delivery or (ii) 3 business
days after having been deposited in the United States mail, certified or registered, return receipt
requested, sufficient postage affixed and prepaid, or (iii) 1 business day after having been
deposited with an expedited, overnight courier service (such as by way of example but not
limitation, U.S. Express Mail, Federal Express, UPS or DHL), addressed to the party to whom
notice is intended to be given at the address set forth below:

Buyer: University of South Alabama Foundation
211 North Conception Street
Mobile, AL 36603
Attention: Maxey Roberts

With a copy to: Jones, Walker, Waechter, Poitevent, Carrere & Denegre, L.L.P.
254 State Street
Mobile, Alabama 36603
Attention: Ronald A. Snider
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Seller: University of South Alabama
307 University Boulevard
AD140
Mobile, Alabama 36688-0002
Attention: Jean Walker Tucker

With a copy to: Douglas L. Anderson
Burr & Forman LLP
RSA Tower, Suite 22200
11 North Water Street
Mobile, Alabama 36602

Any party may change the address to which its notices are sent by giving the other party written

notice of any such change in the manner provided in this Section, but notice of change of address
is effective only upon receipt.

10.04 Entire Agreement. This Agreement, including its exhibits, embodies and
constitutes the entire understanding among the parties with respect to the transaction
contemplated herein, and all prior or contemporaneous agreements, understandings,
representations and statements, oral or written, are merged into this Agreement. Neither this
Agreement nor any provision hereof may be waived, modified, amended, discharged or
terminated except by an instrument in writing signed by the party against which the enforcement
of such waiver, modification, amendment, discharge or termination is sought, and then only to
the extent set forth in such instrument.

10.05 Exclusive Dealing. While this Agreement is in effect, Seller and its brokers,
agents, and affiliates may not, directly or indirectly, solicit, initiate or encourage inquiries or
proposals with respect to the Property from any party other than Buyer (each, a “Third Party”)
with respect to, or furnish any information to any Third Party relating to, or participate in any
negotiations or discussions with any Third Party concerning, any acquisition of an interest in or
lease of the Property, without Buyer’s prior written consent.

10.06 Applicable Law. This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in
accordance with the laws of the State of Alabama. The parties hereby consent to jurisdiction and
venue in Mobile County, Alabama, and agree that such jurisdiction and venue shall be sole and
exclusive for any and all actions or disputes related to this Agreement or any related instruments.

10.07 Survival. All provisions of this Agreement which, by their express terms survive
termination of this Agreement, shall survive termination of this Agreement and, if this
Agreement is not terminated, shall survive the Closing for the longest periods allowed by
applicable law. Articles VII and VIII shall likewise survive termination of this Agreement and,

if this Agreement is not terminated, shall survive the Closing for the longest periods allowed by
applicable law.

10.08 Headings. Descriptive headings are for convenience only and shall not control or
affect the meaning or construction of any provision of this Agreement.

{N2120237.27}
137



10.09 Binding Effect. This Agreement shall be binding upon and shall inure to the
benefit of the parties hereto and their heirs, personal representatives, successors and assigns
(subject, however, to the restrictions of Section 10.01).

10.10 Deemed Donation. If this Agreement terminates prior to Closing, Buyer shall
deem all due diligence expenses incurred by Buyer prior to the termination as a donation to
Seller and shall send Seller a donation letter summarizing such expenses. Buyer shall also
deliver to Seller all documents generated by Buyer’s due diligence, i.e., surveys, environmental
studies, etc.

10.11 Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts,
each of which shall be deemed to be an original instrument, but all such counterparts together
shall constitute one and the same instrument.

10.12 Interpretation. Whenever the context hereof shall so require, the singular shall
include the plural, the male gender shall include the female gender and neuter and vice versa.
This Agreement and any related instruments shall not be construed more strictly against one
party than against the other by virtue of the fact that initial drafts were made and prepared by
counsel for one of the parties, it being recognized that this Agreement and any related
instruments are the product of extensive negotiations between the parties hereto and that both
parties hereto have contributed substantially and materially to the final preparation of this
Agreement and all related instruments. The word “day” as used in this Agreement shall mean
and refer to a calendar day unless otherwise expressly stated.

10.13 Severability. In case any one or more of the provisions contained in the
Agreement shall for any reason be held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any respect,
such invalidity, illegality or unenforceability shall not affect any other provision hereof, and this

Agreement shall be construed as if such invalid, illegal or unenforceable provision had never
been contained herein.

10.14 Time of Essence. Time is of the essence of each and every term, provision and
covenant of this Agreement. All time periods expressed as days shall be computed in calendar
days. The expiration of any period of time prescribed in this Agreement shall occur at 5:00 p.m.
(Central time) of the last day of the period. Should any period of time specified herein end on a
Saturday, Sunday or legal holiday (recognized in Mobile County, Alabama); the period of time
shall automatically be extended to 5:00 p.m. of the next full business day.

10.15 Authority of Parties. Seller and Buyer represent to each other that each has full
power and authority to enter into and perform this Agreement, all related instruments and the
documentation contemplated hereby and thereby in accordance with their respective terms and
that the delivery and performance of this Agreement, all related instruments and the

documentation contemplated hereby and thereby has been duly authorized by all necessary
action.

10.16 No Waiver. Neither the failure of either party to exercise any power given such
party hereunder or to insist upon strict compliance by the other party with its obligations
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hereunder, nor any custom or practice of the parties at variance with the terms hereof shall
constitute a waiver of either party’s right to demand exact compliance with the terms hereof.

10.17 Execution Date. The Execution Date of this Agreement shall be the date on
which the last of Seller and Buyer shall sign and return the same to the other party and shall be
so stated on the initial page of this Agreement. This Agreement shall be null and void if not
executed by Seller and Buyer and counterpart executed originals exchanged on or before
, 2010.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Agreement as of the day and
year set forth below.

SELLER:

UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH ALABAMA,
a public body corporate created by act of the
Alabama Legislature

By:
Name:
Title:

Dated: , 2010

BUYER

UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH ALABAMA
FOUNDATION, an Alabama not-for-profit
corporation

By:
Name:
Title:

Dated: ,2010
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Exhibit “A” —
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Exhibit A

Those certain tracts of land in Mobile County, Alabama, described as:

AREA 1

Commencing at a point on the mean low water line of Mobile
ﬁay, said point being at local coordinate position Scuth 11;682.52
feet, East 4303,43 feet; thence running along the following
traverse:

S79° 10' W 466.11 feet;

N40°® 49' SO" W 784.85 feet; -
N02° 08 20™ W 376.51 feet;
N87° 45' 40" E 206.45 feet;
N03° 34 20" W 300.92 feet;
$88° 571! 40" W 840.31 feet;

(o]

NOO™ 39°' 39" E 706.85 feet;

NOO® 40' 41" E 1013.55 feet to the point of beginning of
property herein described; .

thence continue NOO® 40' 41" E a distance of 4730.46 feet to
a point;

run thence N52° 52' 10" E a distance of 1103.06 feet to a
point on the mean low water line of Mobile Bay;

run thence S44° 19' E along the said mean low water line a
distance of 463.10 feet to a point;

run theace 504° 15' W along the said mean low water lime a
distance of 300.00 feet to a peoint;

run thence SS3°.S7' 30" E along the said mean low water line
a distance of 664.96 feet to a poiunt;

run thence S358° 32' E along the ssid mean low water line a
distance of 946.31 feet to a point; .
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" AREA 1

run thence $51° 00' E'

(Cont.) T,

along the said mean low water line a

distance of 236.00 feet to a point;

run thence 802o 08' 30

" E along the said mean low water line

a distance of 205.26 feet to a point;

run thence S04° 0D' 30" E along the said mean low water lime
a distance of 1097.40 feet to a poiunt; . .

point;
point;
p?int;
?oint;

point

run thence $33° 59' W along the said mean low water line a
distance of 1693.48 feet to a point}

run thence N89° 40'28"
run thence $53° 18' 32
run thence S19° 11' 28
run thence 853° 03' 32

run thence N89° 38' 49
of beginning.

W a distance of 948.20 feet to a
" W a distance of 550.00 feet to a
" E a distance of 380.00 feet to a
" W a distance of 568.65 feet to a

"W a distance of 192.41 feet to a

Containing 236.21 Acres, more or less.

TTe———

AND

AREA 2 . PARCEL 1

Commencing at a point on the mean low water line of Mobile
Bay, said point being at local coordinate position South, 11,682.52
feet, East 4303.43; thence runuing along the following traverse:

s79° 10' w 466.11 feet
N40° 49' 50" W 784.85
N02° 08! 20" W 376.51
N87° 45' 40" E 206.45
NO3% 34' 20" W 300.92
s88° 57' 40" W 840.31
NOO® 39' 39" E 706.85

property herein described;

point;

point;

point;

run thence N0OO°® 40! 41

; L 4
fget;
féet;
feet;
feet;

feet;

feet to the point of beginning of

"E a distance of 1013.55 feet to a

run thence $89° 38' 49" E a distance of 107.41 feet to a

run thence S00° 21*' 11" W & distance of 1008.42 feet to a
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AREA 2 PARCEL 1 (Cont.)

run thence $87° 45' 41" W a distance of 113.31 feet to the
point of beginning. ‘ : .

" Containing

2.71 Acres, more or less.
Pl

AND

ARFA 2 PARCEL 3 .

Commencing at a point on the mean low water line of Mobile

Bay, said point being at local coordinate position South 11,682.52

feet, East
traverse:

§79°
N4D©
N02°
ng7°
no3°
s88°

NOQ©°

/4{ ‘Ag/‘/(”u/(:g

557

ﬂvﬂgyﬁﬂ?

’

4303.43 feet; thence running along the following

10" W 466.11 feet;

49' 50" W 784.85 feet;
08' 20" W 376.51 feet;
45' 40" E 206.45 feet;
34' 20" W. 300.92 feet;
57" 40" W 840.31 feet;
39! 39" E 706.85 feet;

45' 41" E 1047.79 feet to the point of beginning of

property herein described;

point;

run themce NOO® 39' 15" E a distance of 754.63 feet to a

run thence NOS® 20' 39" E a distance of 1249.35 feet to a

point;

run thence S89° 40' 28" E a distance of 751.28 feet to the
mean low water line of Mobile Bay;

run thence 533° 59' ¥ along said mean low water line
distance of 211:01 feet to a point;

distance of 900.67 feet to a point;

run thence S02° 16' W along said wean low water line a
distance of 1030.81 feet to a point;

run thence $87° 45' 41" W a distance of 268.47 feet to the

point of beginning.

Containing 17.80 Acres, wmore or less.

AND

AREA 3

LiEZ)

NH7 ML in

-2

run thence S29° 56' 30" W along said mean low water line a

Beginning at a point on the present wean low water line of
Mobile Bay, said point being at local coordinate position South
11,682.52 feet, East 4303.43 feet;
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AREA 3 (Cont.)
run thence $79° 10' W a distance of 466.11 feet to a point;

. run thence N40° 49' SO" W a distance of 784.85 feet to a
point; :

run thence N02° 08' 20" W a distance

of 376.51 feet to a
point; :

~ze
ko ihed
Casw

ha ¥ ond

LY

run thence NB7° 45' 40" E a distance of 206.45 feet to a

point;

run thence N03° 34" 20" W a distance
point;

of 300.92 feet to a

run thence 588° 57! 40" W.a distance
point;

of 840.31 feet to a

run thence N00° 39' 39" E a distance
point; s -7
/~° ’
run thence @&7 43' 41" E a distance of 1316.26 feet to a
point on the present mean low water line of Mobile Bay;
)
v !

of 706.85 feet to a

run thence Southwardly along the said mean low water line
aleng the following traverse:

502° 16' W 918.95 feet;
S14° 11' 20" E 772.63 feet;

§32° 21' E 320.60 feet to the point of beginning.

Cbntaining ;6.69 Acres, more or less.

Area 4

. COMMENCE at a point on the mean low water
line of Mobile Bay, said point being at
local coordinate position South 11,682.52
feet, East 4303.43 feet; thence run along
the following traverse: 5 79°10' W 466,11
ft.: N 40°49'50" W 784,85 ft.:; N 0z2°08'20"
W 376,51 £t.: N B87°45'40" E 206.45 £t.;

N 03°34'20% W 300.92ft,.: & BR°57'40" W
B40.31 ft.; N 00°39'39" E 706.85 ft.; N 87°
45'41" E 113.31 £t. to the point of begin-
ning of property herein described: run
thence N 00°21'11% E a distance of 1008.42
ft. to a point; run thence S 89%38'49" E

a distance of B5,00 ft, to & point; run
thence N 53°03'32" E a distance of 568.65
feet to a point; run thence N 19°11'2B" w
a distance of 380.00 feet to a point; run

a7 Y6

thence N 53°18'32" E
feot to a point; run
a distance of 196.92
thence S 05°20'39" W
feet to a point: run
a distance of 754,63
thence & 87°45'41" w
feat to the point of
33.70 acres,

a distance of 550.00

thence § 89°40'28" B

feet to a point: run

a8 distance of 1249.35 . -
thence 8 00°39'15" w

feet to a point; run

a distance of 934.48

beginning, containing
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EXHIBIT B

LEASES

That certain lease dated as of September 30, 2008 and expiring on November 30,
2011, entered into by and between the University of South Alabama, as lessor, and
the State of Alabama, State Department of Education, as lessee, as amended by that
certain lease amendment no. 2 dated as of April 1, 2010, entered into by and between
the University of South Alabama, as lessor, and the State of Alabama, State
Department of Education, as lessee;

That certain lease dated as of July 22, 2009 and expiring on September 30, 2010,
entered into by and between the University of South Alabama, as lessor, and the
Alabama Department of Environmental Management, as lessee;

That certain lease dated as of July 22, 2009 and expiring on September 30, 2010,
entered into by and between the University of South Alabama, as lessor, and the
Auburn University Marine Extension, as lessee;

That certain lease dated as of August 1, 2009 and expiring on July 31, 2010, entered
into by and between the University of South Alabama, as lessor, and Brent R. Murrill,
as lessee;

That certain lease dated as of August 11, 2009 and expiring on September 30, 2010,
entered into by and between the University of South Alabama, as lessor, and the State
Oil and Gas Board of Alabama, as lessee;

That certain lease dated as of September 1, 2009 and expiring on December 31, 2010,
entered into by and between the University of South Alabama, as lessor, and the
Alabama Department of Public Health, Bureau of Environmental Services, Division
of Food, Milk and Lodging;

That certain lease dated as of March 1, 2010 and expiring on February 28, 2011,

entered into by and between the University of South Alabama, as lessor, and Janice T.
Wayne, as lessee;

That certain lease dated as of March 1, 2010 and expiring on February 28, 2011,

entered into by and between the University of South Alabama, as lessor, and Shirley
Williams, as lessee;

That certain lease dated as of March 12, 2010 and expiring on March 11, 2011,
entered into by and between the University of South Alabama, as lessor, and
, as lessee;
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10. That certain lease dated as of March 19, 2010 and expiring on March 31, 2011,
entered into by and between the University of South Alabama, as lessor, and the
National Estuary Program, as lessee; and

11. That certain lease dated as of April 1, 2010 and expiring on March 31, 2011, entered
into by and between the University of South Alabama, as lessor, and Robert D. Speed,
as lessee.
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EXHIBIT C
PROMISSORY NOTE

$16,000,000 , 2010

FOR VALUE RECEIVED, the undersigned, an Alabama
(herein sometimes called “Maker”), does hereby promise to pay to the University of South
Alabama, a public body corporate created by act of the Alabama Legislature, Ala. Code §§ 16-
55-1 et seq. (1975) (sometimes herein called “University”) at
or at such other address as University may
from time to time designate in writing to Maker, the principal sum of SIXTEEN MILLION AND
00/100 DOLLARS ($16,000,000), without interest (except following a default), on or before

, 2014 (the “Scheduled Maturity Date™).

Maker will pay the principal balance to University in four (4) annual installments in the
amount of $4,000,000 each, commencing on , 2011 and continuing on the same day of
every year thereafter, with the final installment being due and payable on the Scheduled Maturity
Date. All sums payable hereunder shall be payable in lawful money of the United States of
America which shall be legal tender in payment of all debts and dues, public and private, at the
time of payment. Unless otherwise required by the laws of the State of Alabama, payments will
be applied as follows: each payment will be applied first to accrued but unpaid default expenses
(if any), second to the accrued but unpaid default interest (if any), and then to principal.
Prepayments of principal will be applied to installments due in the order of their maturity.

This Promissory Note is secured by a vendor’s lien reserved in that certain Special
Warranty Deed with Reservation of Vendor’s Lien and Reservation of Surface Easement dated
as of the date hereof by University, as grantor, to Maker, as grantee.

If any default is made in the payment of the principal balance of this Promissory Note
and the default continues for a period of 5 business days after written notice of such default is
received by Maker, then and in such event from and after the date of default, the principal
balance of this Promissory Note shall bear interest at the annual rate equal to ten percent (10%)

or the maximum rate of interest permitted by the laws of the State of Alabama, whichever is less,
until paid.

The privilege is reserved to Maker to prepay the indebtedness evidenced hereby, in whole
or in part, at any time or times without penalty or premium. Maker shall be obligated to prepay
the indebtedness evidenced by this Promissory Note in accordance with Section 2.03 of that
certain , 2010 Purchase and Sale Agreement between University and the University of
South Alabama Foundation (“Foundation”). Maker shall have no other obligation to make any
prepayments.

If, after default hereunder by Maker, counsel is employed to collect this obligation,
Maker hereby agrees to pay the reasonable attorneys’ fees, whether suit be brought or not, and all
other costs and expenses incurred by University in collection of this Promissory Note, and in all
litigation and appeals concerning this Promissory Note.

{N2131351.8}
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All notices hereunder shall be given in writing, and shall be deemed given if and when
mailed by first class certified or registered mail, return receipt requested, with proper postage
prepaid, addressed to Maker, c/o University of South Alabama Foundation, 211 North
Conception Street, Mobile, Alabama, 36603, Attention: Maxey Roberts, and addressed if to
‘University at the address for University where payments are to be made or in either case to such
other address as either party may from time to time designate to the other by like written notice
given at least seven (7) days prior to the date such change of address becomes effective.

In case any provision (or any part of any provision) contained in this Promissory Note
shall for any reason be finally held by a court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid, illegal or
unenforceable in any respect, such invalidity, illegality or unenforceability shall not affect any
other provision (or remaining part of the affected provision) of this Promissory Note; and this
Promissory Note shall be construed as if such invalid, illegal or unenforceable provision (or part
thereof) had never been contained herein, but only to the extent it is invalid, illegal or
unenforceable.

The validity and construction of this Promissory Note and all matters pertaining thereto
are to be determined and construed according to the laws of the State of Alabama.

This Promissory Note is non-negotiable and may not be transferred or assigned, in whole
or in part, by University. Maker and all endorsers and other parties liable under this Promissory
Note hereby waive presentment, protest, notice of dishonor and of protest, demand, notice of
non-payment of this Promissory Note, and expressly agree that this Promissory Note or any
payment hereunder may be extended from time to time by University without in any manner
affecting the liability of Maker or any such other party.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Maker has duly executed this Promissory Note as of the day
and year first above written.

MAKER:

an Alabama

By:
Name:
Its:
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EXHIBIT D-1

SPECIAL WARRANTY DEED AND BILL OF SALE

STATE OF ALABAMA

COUNTY OF MOBILE

L SALE OF THE PROPERTY

1.01 The Sale.

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that for and in consideration of the sum of One
Hundred and No/100 Dollars ($100.00), the receipt and sufficiency of which is hereby
acknowledged, University of South Alabama, a public body corporate created by act of the Alabama
Legislature, Ala. Code §§ 16-55-1(et. seq.) (1975) (hereinafter, the “Grantor”) does hereby grant,
bargain, sell, and convey unto , an Alabama
(hereinafter, the “Grantee™), its successors and assigns, in fee simple, the following property rights
and improvements (the “Property”) located on or related to that certain parcel of real property

fronting Mobile Bay in Mobile County, Alabama, and more particularly described on Exhibit “A”
attached hereto (the “Land”), to-wit:

(a) any and all buildings and other improvements located on the Land, including,
without limitation the buildings, improvements and golf course located on the Land
(collectively, the “Building and Improvements™);

(b)  any and all leases, licenses or other occupancy agreements affecting or
otherwise related to the Buildings and Improvements, including, without limitation, those

agreements described on Exhibit “B” attached hereto and made a part hereof (collectively,
the “Leases™);

(¢)  any of Grantor’s licenses and permits necessary for the ownership, operation
and maintenance of the Buildings and Improvements; and

(d) all fixtures located on or in the Land, Buildings and Improvements.
Items (a), (b), (c), and (d) being collectively, the “Property.”

1.02  Warranties. Except for the warranty set forth in Section 1.03 below, no express,
statutory, or implied warranty or representation of any kind is made by Grantor, including warranties
or representations relating to (i) Grantor; (ii) title of Grantor in and to the Property (except as set
forth in Section 1.03 below); (iii) the condition of the Property; (iv) any implied or express warranty
of merchantability of the Property; (v) any implied or express warranty of the fitness of the Property
for a particular purpose; (vi) any implied or express warranty of conformity to models or samples of
materials; (vii) any and all other implied warranties existing under applicable law now or hereafter in
effect; or (viii) any implied or express warranty regarding compliance with any applicable laws.

{N2135459.9}
154



1.03  Statutory Warranty. Subject to the Permitted Exceptions (as listed on Exhibit “D”),
Grantor will warrant and forever defend the right and title to the Property unto Grantee against the
claims of those persons, whomsoever claiming by, through or under Grantor, but not otherwise.
Reference to a Permitted Exception is for informational purposes only and does not constitute an
acknowledgment that any such Permitted Exception has ever affected, or continues to affect, the
Property. The conveyance of the Property to Grantee is made with full substitution and subrogation
in and to any and all of the rights, title, interest and actions of warranty which Grantor has, or may
have, against all preceding owners or vendors.

TO HAVE AND TO HOLD the Property, together with, all and singular, the rights,
privileges, tenements, improvements, hereditaments, easements, and other rights thereunto
appertaining, unto the Grantee, its successors and assigns, in fee simple.

1L MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS

2.01 Closing Date. This Statutory Warranty Deed and Bill of Sale (this “Deed”) shall be
effective as of , 20 (the “Closing Date™).

2.02  Purchase Agreement. This Deed is made in connection with that certain Agreement
of Purchase and Sale dated , 2010 by and between Grantor, as seller, and Grantee as
assignee of the University of South Alabama Foundation (the “Purchase Agreement™). In the event
of any conflict between this Deed and the Purchase Agreement, this Deed shall govern and control.

2.03  Applicable Law. This Deed shall be governed by and construed in accordance with
the laws of the State of Alabama. The parties hereby consent to jurisdiction and venue in Mobile
County, Alabama, and agree that such jurisdiction and venue shall be sole and exclusive for any and
all actions or disputes related to this Agreement or any related instruments.

2.04 Headings. Descriptive headings are for convenience only and shall not control or
affect the meaning or construction of any provision of this Deed.

2.05  Binding Effect. This Deed shall be binding upon and shall inure to the benefit of the
parties hereto and their heirs, personal representatives, successors and assigns.

2.06 Counterparts. This Deed may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of
which shall be deemed to be an original instrument, but all such counterparts together shall constitute
one and the same instrument.

2.07 Interpretation. Whenever the context hereof shall so require, the singular shall include
the plural, the male gender shall include the female gender and neuter and vice versa. This Deed and
any related instruments shall not be construed more strictly against one party than against the other
by virtue of the fact that initial drafts were made and prepared by counsel for one of the parties, it
being recognized that this Deed and any related instruments are the product of extensive negotiations
between the parties hereto and that both parties hereto have contributed substantially and materially
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to the final preparation of this Deed and all related instruments. The words “day” as used in this
Agreement shall mean and refer to a calendar day unless otherwise expressly stated.

2.08 Severability. In case any one or more of the provisions contained in this Deed shall
for any reason be held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any respect, such invalidity, illegality
oor unenforceability shall not affect any other provision hereof, and this Deed shall be construed as if
such invalid, illegal or unenforceable provision had never been contained herein.

2.09 No Waiver. Neither the failure of either party to exercise any power given such party
hereunder or to insist upon strict compliance by the other party with its obligations hereunder, nor
any custom or practice of the parties at variance with the terms hereof shall constitute a waiver of
either party’s right to demand exact compliance with the terms hereof.

2.10 Taxes. Allreal estate taxes and personal property taxes and assessments (general and
special), if any, with respect to the Property which are due and payable or accrued for periods prior to
and including the Closing Date shall be paid by Grantor.

2.11  Waiver of Certificates. The Grantor and Grantee hereby acknowledge that the
production of mortgage, conveyance, tax, UCC and other certificates procured herein has been
waived and do hereby agree to relieve and release the Notary/Notaries before whom this Deed was
passed from any and all liabilities in connection therewith. The parties further acknowledge that the
undersigned Notary/Notaries have not performed an examination of the title to the Property and
express no opinion on the title to the Property.

2.12 Covenants Running With Land. This Deed and the rights and obligations of the

parties hereto shall run with the land and shall be binding on each party’s respective successors
and/or assigns in interest.

2.13  Waiver. Any party to this Deed may (a) extend the time for the performance of any of
the obligations or other acts of the other party, or (b) waive compliance with any of the agreements
of the other party or conditions to such party’s obligations contained herein. Any such extension or
waiver shall be valid only if set forth in an instrument in writing signed by the party to be bound
thereby. Any waiver of any term or condition shall not be construed as a waiver of any subsequent
breach or a subsequent waiver of the same term or condition, or a waiver of any other term or

condition of this Deed. The failure of any party hereto to assert any of its rights hereunder shall not
constitute a waiver of any of such rights.

2.14  Amendments. This Deed may not be amended or modified except by an instrument in

writing signed by, or on behalf of, both parties that expressly references the Section(s) of this Deed
to be amended.

2.15  Grantor’s Waiver of Rights. Grantor expressly waives and renounces any vendor’s
lien, privilege, mortgage or any other right or interest affecting the Property and expressly waives
and renounces any right to rescind or dissolve the transfer of the Property conveyed to Transferee on
account of non-payment of any obligations owed by Grantee or its affiliates or related entities to
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Grantor, or its affiliates, subsidiaries, members, or other related entities, if any, in whole or in part, or
on account of the non-fulfillment of any of Grantee’s obligations hereunder, under the Purchase
Agreement or under any agreement between Grantor, Grantee or University of South Alabama
Foundation; and Grantor further warrants that third parties may deal with Grantee free and clear of
any vendor’s lien or privilege, express or implied, right of rescission, or any other right or interest
which may otherwise be deemed to exist in favor of Grantor.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Grantor has executed this instrument on this the day of
,20 .

GRANTOR:
University of South Alabama
By: (SEAL)

Name:
Its:

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Grantee has executed this instrument on this the day of
,20 .

GRANTEE:

[ ]

By: (SEAL)
Name:
Its:
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GRANTOR ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

STATE OF ALABAMA

COUNTY OF MOBILE

I, the undersigned Notary Public in and for said county in said state, hereby certify that
, whose name as of the University of South Alabama, a
public body politic crated by an act of the Alabama Legislature (the “University”), is signed to the
foregoing instrument and who is known to me, acknowledged before me on this day that, being
informed of the contents of the instrument, he, as such officer and with full authority executed the
same voluntarily for and as the act of said University.

Given under my hand and notarial seal this the day of , 20

NOTARY PUBLIC
[Affix seal]

My commission expires:

This instrument prepared by:

Ronald A. Snider

Jones, Walker, Waechter, Poitevent,
Carrére & Denégre, L.L.P.

Mobile, Alabama 36603

Grantor’s Address:
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GRANTEE’S ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

STATE OF ALABAMA
COUNTY OF MOBILE

I, the undersigned Notary Public in and for said county in said state, hereby certify that
, whose name as of , an
Alabama , is signed to the foregoing instrument and who is known to me,
acknowledged before me on this day that, being informed of the contents of the instrument, he, as
such officer and with full authority executed the same voluntarily for and as the act of said

Given under my hand and notarial seal this the day of ,20

NOTARY PUBLIC
[Affix seal]

My commission expires:

This instrument prepared by:

Ron Snider

Jones, Walker, Waechter, Poitevent,
Carrere & Denégre, L.L.P.

Mobile, Alabama 36603

Grantee’s Address:

c/o University of South Alabama Foundation
254 State Street

Mobile, Alabama 36603

Attention: Maxey Roberts

{N2135459.9}

159



LIST OF EXHIBITS

Exhibit “A” — Legal Description of Land
Exhibit “B” — Leases

Exhibit “C” — Permitted Exceptions
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EXHIBIT D-2

SPECIAL WARRANTY DEED WITH RESERVATION OF VENDOR’S LIEN AND
RESERVATION OF SURFACE EASEMENT

STATE OF ALABAMA

COUNTY OF MOBILE

L SALE OF THE PROPERTY AND EXCLUDED PROPERTY

1.01  The Sale.

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that for and in consideration of the Purchase
Price (as defined in Section 1.03) and subject to the Vendor’s Lien (as defined in Section 1.03),
University of South Alabama, a public body corporate created by act of the Alabama Legislature,
Ala. Code §§ 16-55-1 et seq. (hereinafter, the “Grantor”), does hereby grant, bargain, sell, and
convey unto , an Alabama (hereinafter, the
“Grantee™), its successors and assigns, in fee simple, that certain parcel of real property consisting of
approximately 311 acres fronting Mobile Bay in Mobile County, Alabama, and more particularly
described on Exhibit “A” attached hereto (the “Land”), together with the following (collectively,
with the Land, the “Property™), to-wit:

(a) all and singular the rights and appurtenances pertaining thereto including but
not limited to any right, title and interest of Grantor in and to adjacent streets, roads, alleys,
easements (other than the Surface Easement, as hereinafter defined) and rights-of-way to the
extent that such right, title and interest exist;

(b) all accretion, alluvion and sedimentary deposits associated with the Land;

(©) the mineral rights associated with the Land to the extent owned by Grantor or
its affiliates;

(d)  all of Grantor’s assignable licenses and permits necessary for the ownership,
operation, maintenance or development of the Land, other than those associated with the
operation of the Buildings and Improvements (herein defined);

(e) such other rights, interests and properties as may be specified in this Special
Warranty Deed With Reservation of Vendor’s Lien And Reservation of Surface Easement
(the “Deed”) to be sold, transferred, assigned or conveyed by Grantor to Grantee;

49) all subsurface improvements such as sewer, drainage, and water lines to the
extent owned by Grantor (the “Subsurface Improvements™); and

(2) all roads, sidewalks, and parking surfaces to the extent owned by Grantor (the
“Access Improvements™).
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1.02  The Excluded Property. It is specifically agreed to by Grantor and Grantee that the
Property conveyed by Grantor to Grantee shall not include any of the following: (i) any and all
buildings and other improvements located on the Land (other than the Access Improvements and the
Subsurface Improvements), including, without limitation the buildings, improvements and golf
course located on the Land (collectively, the “Buildings and Improvements™); (ii) any and all leases,
licenses or other occupancy agreements affecting or otherwise related to the Buildings and
Improvements, including, without limitation, those agreements described on Exhibit “B”
(collectively, the “Leases™); (iii) any of Grantor’s licenses and permits necessary for the ownership,
operation and maintenance of the Buildings and Improvements (collectively, the “Licenses and
Permits”); (iv) all furniture and readily removed equipment located on or used in connection with the
use, maintenance and operation of the Land, Buildings and Improvements (the “Personal Property™),
(v) all fixtures located on or in the Land, Buildings and Improvements, and (vi) the Surface
Easement (defined hereinafter) (the Surface Easement, together with the Buildings and
Improvements, Leases, Licenses and Permits, and the Personal Property, the “Excluded Property”).
The Excluded Property shall be reserved by Grantor from the sale evidenced by this Deed and shall
remain owned by Grantor subject to the terms and conditions of Article II of this Deed.

1.03  Purchase Price and Reservation of the Vendor’s Lien. The sale is made and accepted
for and in consideration of the price and sum of $20,000,000 (the “Purchase Price’) and other good
and valuable consideration, in part payment and deduction whereof the said Grantee has well and
truly paid, in ready and current money, the sum of $4,000,000 to the said Grantor, who hereby
acknowledges the receipt thereof and grants full acquittance and discharge therefore.

And for the balance of the Purchase Price amounting to the sum of $16,000,000, the said
Grantee has made and executed one certain promissory note (the “Note™), dated of even date
herewith by Grantee as maker and payable to the order of Grantor. The Note is payable in 4
consecutive annual installments of $4,000,000 each commencing on the first anniversary of the date
hereof, with the last installment being due on the fourth anniversary date hereof.

AND NOW, IN ORDER TO SECURE the full and punctueil payment of the Note, a vendor’s

lien (the “Vendor’s Lien™) on the conveyed Property in favor of Grantor is hereby retained and
reserved by Grantor and granted by said Grantee.

THE VENDOR’s LIEN is subject to the covenants, conditions, agreements, and provisions set
forth below.

(a) That any promise made by Grantee herein to pay money may be enforced by a
suit at law, and the security of this Vendor’s Lien shall not be waived thereby. As to the debt
secured by this Vendor’s Lien, the Grantee waives all right of exemption under the laws and
Constitution of the State of Alabama and agrees to pay, as permitted by law, a reasonable

attorney's fee for collection thereof, which shall be limited by the terms of the instruments of
indebtedness secured hereby.
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(b) That it is further agreed that if Grantee shall fail to pay, or cause to be paid,
any indebtedness secured by this Vendor’s Lien, whether in whole or any portion of the
principal sum or any installment due thereon, as they or any of them mature, either by lapse
of time or otherwise, in accordance with the agreements and covenants herein contained, then
and in that event the whole of said principal sum, with interest thereon, and all other
indebtedness hereby secured, shall, at the option of the then holder of said indebtedness, and
upon 5 business days advance written notice to Grantee by Grantor, be and become
immediately due and payable and Grantor shall have the right to enter upon and take
possession of the Property and after, or without, taking such possession of same, sell the
Property at public outcry, in front of the courthouse door of the county wherein the Property
is located, to the highest bidder for cash, either in person or by auctioneer, after first giving
notice of the time, place, and terms of such sale by publication once a week for three (3)
consecutive weeks in a newspaper published in said county and, upon the payment of the
purchase money, the Grantor or any person conducting said sale for it is authorized and
empowered to execute to the purchaser at said sale a deed to the Property. Grantor may bid
at such sale and become the purchaser of the Property if Grantor is the highest bidder thereof.
The proceeds of any such sale shall be applied first to the expenses incurred in making the
sale and in all prior efforts to effect collection of the indebtedness secured by the Vendor’s
Lien or to enforce or protect the interest of Grantor, including a reasonable attorney's fee, as
permitted by law for such services as may be, or have been, necessary in any one or more of
the foreclosure of this Vendor’s Lien, the collection of said indebtedness, and the pursuit of
any efforts theretofore directed to that end, including, but not limited to, the defense of any
proceedings instituted by Grantee or anyone liable for said indebtedness or interested in the
Property to prevent or delay, by any means, the exercise of said power of sale and the
foreclosure of this Vendor’s Lien; then to the payment of whatever advances or sums Grantor
may have paid out or become liable to pay, in carrying out the provisions of this Section 1.03
together with interest thereon; then to the payment and satisfaction of accrued interest on the
principal indebtedness to the day of sale; then to the payment of the principal indebtedness
secured hereby and any other indebtedness secured by this mortgage; and the balance, if any,
shall be paid over to that entity or entities which may be lawfully entitled to receive the same,
including the Grantee, or the Grantee's successors or assigns. In any event, the purchaser
under any foreclosure sale, as provided herein, shall be under no obligation to see to the
proper application of the purchase money.

(c) That it is the intent of the Grantee and Grantor to only secure the indebtedness
evidenced by the Note and any and all extensions or renewals of same; that it is expressly
agreed that any indebtedness at any time secured hereby may be extended, rearranged, or
renewed, and that any part of the security herein described may be waived or released
without in any way altering, varying, or diminishing the force, effect, or lien of the Vendor’s
Lien; and the Vendor’s Lien shall continue as a first lien on all of the Property and not be
expressly released until all sums with interest and charges hereby secured are fully paid; and
no other security now existing or hereafter taken to secure the payment of said indebtedness
or any part thereof shall in any manner be impaired or affected by the execution of this Deed;
and no security subsequently taken by Grantor or other holder of said indebtedness shall in
any manner impair or affect the security given by the Vendor’s Lien; and all security for the
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payment of said indebtedness or any part thereof shall be taken, considered and held as
cumulative.

(d) Provided always that if Grantee pays the Note and reimburses Grantor, its
successors and assigns, for any amount it may have expended pursuant to the authorization of
this mortgage, and shall do and perform all other acts and things herein agreed to be done,
the Vendor’s Lien shall be null and void and Grantor shall execute any and all releases
requested by Grantee to evidence the release of the Vendor’s Lien.

1.04 Representations. Except for the warranty set forth in Section 1.05 below and those
representations and covenants made by Grantor in Section 3.01 of the Purchase Agreement, herein
defined (collectively, the “Purchase Agreement Warranties™), which Purchase Agreement Warranties
are incorporated herein by reference and shall survive the closing and delivery of this Deed, no
express, statutory, or implied warranty or representation of any kind is made by Grantor.

1.05 Special Warranty. In addition to the Purchase Agreement Warranties but subject to
the Permitted Exceptions (as defined in the Purchase Agreement) listed on Exhibit “C”, Grantor will
warrant and forever defend the right and title to the Property unto Grantee against the claims of those
persons, whomsoever claiming by, through or under Grantor, but not otherwise. Reference to a
Permitted Exception is for informational purposes only and does not constitute an acknowledgment
that any such Permitted Exception has ever affected, or continues to affect, the Property. The
conveyance of the Property to Grantee is made with full substitution and subrogation in and to any

and all of the rights, title, interest and actions of warranty which Grantor has, or may have, against all
preceding owners or vendors.

TO HAVE AND TO HOLD the Property, together with, all and singular, the rights,
privileges, tenements, improvements, hereditaments, easements, and other rights thereunto
appertaining, unto the Grantee, its successors and assigns, in fee simple.

I USE PERIOD AND SURFACE EASEMENT

2.01  Reservation of Surface Easement. Grantor does hereby reserve for itself an easement
over the surface of the Land permitting the continued location and use of the Buildings and
Improvements on the Land and the use of the Subsurface Improvements and Access Improvements in
conjunction with the Buildings and Improvements (collectively, the “Surface Easement”).

TO HAVE AND TO HOLD the Surface Easement, together with the right of ingress, egress,
and regress over the Property for enjoyment of the Surface Easement, unto Grantor, until the fifth
anniversary of the date hereof (the “Use Period™), subject to the terms, conditions and other agreements
set forth in this Article II, including the termination rights under Section 2.06. Upon expiration of the
Use Period, all rights and interests reserved unto Grantor under the Surface Easement shall revert to and
vest in Grantee without further act of the parties hereto, unless required by Section 2.06 hereof.

2.02  Consideration. The consideration for the Surface Easement and all of Grantor’s
obligations in connection therewith is the conveyance of the Property by Grantor to Grantee and the
consideration paid by Grantee to Grantor for the Property.
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2.03  Delegation of Rights. Grantor may delegate its rights under the Surface Easement to
Grantor’s affiliates, subsidiaries, employees, licensees, agents, contractors, lessees, invitees and guests
(each, a “Related Party” and, collectively, the “Related Parties™).

2.04 Use Restrictions. The following use restrictions (the “Use Restrictions”) shall apply
with respect to the Surface Easement and Excluded Property at all times during the Use Period:

(a) Unrestricted Use and Access. The Surface Easement shall afford unrestricted
pedestrian, commercial and non-commercial use, passage, way, ingress and egress, on a twenty-four
(24) hour, seven (7) day a week basis, of, over and across the surface of the Land on the Access
Improvements that exist on the date hereof in order to facilitate the use, operation and maintenance of

the Buildings and Improvements, provided such use is consistent with the Permitted Use (hereinafter
defined).

(b) Permitted Use. From and after the Closing Date up to and through the
expiration or early termination of the Use Period pursuant to this Deed, the Excluded Property and
Surface Easement (including the Subsurface Improvements and the Access Improvements)
(collectively, the “Premises™) shall be solely used by Grantor for: (1) the maintenance and operation
of the current golf course (the “Golf Course™); (ii) pedestrian/recreational uses; (iii) classroom and
administrative uses associated with Grantor’s university operations; (iv) residential rentals; (v) office
and other commercial or recreational rentals; and (vi) all commercial activities that comply with the
remaining Use Restrictions below (collectively, the “Permitted Use™).

(c) New Leases. Without the prior written consent of Grantee, no Leases shall be
altered or amended on or after the Closing Date and Grantor shall not enter into any new leases or
contracts affecting the Premises without the prior written consent of Grantee, which consent is in
Grantee’s sole and absolute discretion, that would (i) extend or establish a Lease term beyond the
scheduled expiration date of the Use Period or (ii) not include a provision allowing the lessor to
terminate on no more than 90 days’ notice without payment of a penalty. The Premises shall not be
leased or subleased to any person for a Prohibited Use.

(d) Hazardous Substances. Grantor hereby agrees that (i) no activity will be
conducted in, at, on or about the Premises, that will produce any Hazardous Substances (as defined
in the Purchase Agreement) except for Hazardous Substances produced in de minimis amounts in
strict compliance with applicable laws and regulations; (ii) the Premises will not be used in any
manner for the storage of any Hazardous Substances except in strict compliance with applicable laws
and regulations; and (iii) Grantor will not permit any Hazardous Substances to be brought onto the

Premises except for use ancillary to tenant activities in strict compliance with applicable laws and
regulations.

(e) Taxes. Grantee shall pay and punctually discharge ad valorem taxes and any
special governmental assessments on the Property and the Excluded Property (other than the
Personal Property) for the period from and after the Closing Date but shall have no liability for such
taxes and assessments, if any, accruing with respect to periods prior to the Closing Date. Grantor
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shall pay all ad valorem taxes, if any, due with respect to its Personal Property.

(f Improvements, Repairs and Additions.

(1) Grantor shall, at its own cost and expense, obtain and maintain all
necessary licenses, permits, variances and other approvals to operate and maintain the Premises.
Grantor may not construct new improvements on the Land without Grantee’s prior written consent
and then only in accordance with plans approved by Grantee.

(i1) Grantor may at any time demolish improvements that are part of the
Excluded Property so long as Grantor performs such demolition in accordance with applicable laws
and regulations, removes all resulting debris, safely caps off all gas and other utility lines affected,
and notifies Grantee at least 30 days in advance of the planned demolition.

(ili)  Upon reasonable notice to the Grantor, Grantee (and any mortgagee of
the Premises) will have a right to enter the Premises, including all Buildings and Improvements, at
any reasonable time to inspect the condition thereof and for other purposes permitted hereunder.

(g) Requirements of Public Authority. During the Use Period, Grantor shall, at its
own cost and expense, promptly observe and comply with (and cause all Related Parties to observe
and comply with) all applicable present and future laws, ordinances and all other requirements of the
federal, state governments and of all other governmental authorities affecting the Premises whether
the same are in force at the Closing Date or may in the future be passed, enacted or directed.

(h) Covenants Against Liens. Voluntary or consensual liens granted by the
Grantor in any rights reserved to the Grantor pursuant to the terms hereof are strictly prohibited. If
any person, firm or corporation files a mechanic’s lien or materialmen’s lien against the Property,
including, without limitation, the Premises or the Grantor’s interest therein, Grantor covenants and
agrees that it will cause any such lien to be removed, bonded off or discharged of record within 30
days after written notice from Grantee.

(1) Maintenance of Grounds. During the Use Period, Grantor will, at its own cost
and expense, cut the grass, trim trees and shrubs, remove dead trees, and otherwise maintain the
landscaping of the Property in accordance with Grantor’s customary practices prior to the date hereof
(provided, however, that Grantor may abandon the golf course and thereafter maintain the former
golf course under the same standards that Grantor maintains the remainder of the Property). During
the Use Period, Grantor will, at its own cost and expense to the extent not performed by the
applicable utility companies and public authorities, also maintain the Subsurface Improvements and
Access Improvements as necessary for the safe use of such by Grantor, Grantor’s tenants, and their
invitees. Grantor may at any time abandon any such Subsurface Improvements and Access
Improvements no longer required by Grantor, Grantor’s tenants or their invitees, so long as any
utilities are disconnected and the abandonment does not jeopardize the safety of any such persons.

) Utilities. Grantor will, at its own cost and expense, pay for (or cause to be
paid) all tap fees, impact fees and the like, and shall pay for all water, sanitary sewer, gas, electricity,
heat, light, power, telephone service and other utilities of every kind furnished to and used in the
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Property, including, without limitation, the Premises, throughout the Use Period and so long as the
Surface Easement remains in effect and will indemnify Grantee from any charge, cost or liability
therefore, such payments shall be made directly to the supplier of any utility to the Property, including,
without limitation, the Premises.

2.05 Conveyance of Excluded Property at end of the Use Period. Grantor shall reserve and
retain ownership of the Excluded Property until the expiration or early termination of the Use Period,
and, upon the expiration or early termination of the Use Period, title to the Excluded Property, other
than the Personal Property, shall be conveyed to Grantee in accordance with the Purchase
Agreement.

2.06 Evidence of Surface Easement Release. Within 10 days of Grantee’s request, Grantor
shall execute any partial release of the Surface Easement as Grantee reasonably requests to evidence
in the public records the expiration of the Use Period or the exercise of its early termination rights
under the Purchase Agreement.

II. MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS

3.01 Closing Date. This Deed shall be effective as of , 2010 (the “Closing
Date™).

3.02  Purchase Agreement. This Deed is made in connection with that certain Agreement
of Purchase and Sale dated , 2010 by and between Grantor, as seller, and Grantee as
assignee of the University of South Alabama Foundation (the “Purchase Agreement™). In the event
of any conflict between this Deed and the Purchase Agreement, this Deed shall govern and control.

3.03  Applicable Law. This Deed shall be governed by and construed in accordance with
the laws of the State of Alabama. The parties hereby consent to jurisdiction and venue in Mobile
County, Alabama, and agree that such jurisdiction and venue shall be sole and exclusive for any and
all actions or disputes related to this Agreement or any related instruments.

3.04 Headings. Descriptive headings are for convenience only and shall not control or
affect the meaning or construction of any provision of this Deed.

3.05 Binding Effect. This Deed shall be binding upon and shall inure to the benefit of the
parties hereto and their heirs, personal representatives, successors and assigns.

3.06  Counterparts. This Deed may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of
which shall be deemed to be an original instrument, but all such counterparts together shall constitute
one and the same instrument.

3.07 Interpretation. Whenever the context hereof shall so require, the singular shall include
the plural, the male gender shall include the female gender and neuter and vice versa. This Deed and
any related instruments shall not be construed more strictly against one party than against the other
by virtue of the fact that initial drafts were made and prepared by counsel for one of the parties, it
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being recognized that this Deed and any related instruments are the product of extensive negotiations
between the parties hereto and that both parties hereto have contributed substantially and materially
to the final preparation of this Deed and all related instruments. The words “day” as used in this
Agreement shall mean and refer to a calendar day unless otherwise expressly stated.

3.08  Severability. In case any one or more of the provisions contained in this Deed shall
for any reason be held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any respect, such invalidity, illegality
or unenforceability shall not affect any other provision hereof, and this Deed shall be construed as if
such invalid, illegal or unenforceable provision had never been contained herein.

3.09 Time of Essence. Time is of the essence of each and every term, provision and
covenant of this Deed. All time periods expressed as days shall be computed in calendar days. The
expiration of any period of time prescribed in this Deed shall occur at 5:00 p.m. of the last day of the
period. Should any period of time specified herein end on a Saturday, Sunday or legal holiday
(recognized in Mobile County, Alabama), the period of time shall automatically be extended to 5:00
p.m. of the next full business day.

3.10 No Waiver. Neither the failure of either party to exercise any power given such party
hereunder or to insist upon strict compliance by the other party with its obligations hereunder, nor
any custom or practice of the parties at variance with the terms hereof shall constitute a waiver of
either party’s right to demand exact compliance with the terms hereof.

3.11 Waiver of Certificates. The Grantor and Grantee hereby acknowledge that the
production of mortgage, conveyance, tax, UCC and other certificates procured herein has been
waived and do hereby agree to relieve and release the Notary/Notaries before whom this Deed was
passed from any and all liabilities in connection therewith. The parties further acknowledge that the
undersigned Notary/Notaries have not performed an examination of the title to the Property and
express no opinion on the title to the Property.

3.12  Covenants Running With Land. This Deed and the rights and obligations of the

parties hereto shall run with the land and shall be binding on each party’s respective successors
and/or assigns in interest.

3.13  Waiver. Any party to this Deed may (a) extend the time for the performance of any of
the obligations or other acts of the other party, or (b) waive compliance with any of the agreements
of the other party or conditions to such party’s obligations contained herein. Any such extension or
waiver shall be valid only if set forth in an instrument in writing signed by the party to be bound
thereby. Any waiver of any term or condition shall not be construed as a waiver of any subsequent
breach or a subsequent waiver of the same term or condition, or a waiver of any other term or

condition of this Deed. The failure of any party hereto to assert any of its rights hereunder shall not
constitute a waiver of any of such rights.

3.14 Amendments. This Deed may not be amended or modified except by an instrument in

writing signed by, or on behalf of, both parties that expressly references the Section(s) of this Deed
to be amended.

{N2131932.14}
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Grantor has executed this instrument on this the day of
,2010.

GRANTOR:

University of South Alabama

By: (SEAL)
Name:
Its:

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Grantee has executed this instrument on this the day of
,2010.

GRANTEE:

[ ]

By: (SEAL)
Name:
Its:

{N2131932.14}
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GRANTOR ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

STATE OF ALABAMA

COUNTY OF MOBILE

I, the undersigned Notary Public in and for said county in said state, hereby certify that
, whose name as of the University of South Alabama, a
public body corporate created by act of the Alabama Legislature (the “University”), is signed to the
foregoing instrument and who is known to me, acknowledged before me on this day that, being
informed of the contents of the instrument, he, as such officer and with full authority executed the
~ same voluntarily for and as the act of said University.

Given under my hand and notarial seal this the day of , 2010.

NOTARY PUBLIC
[Affix seal]

My commission expires:

This instrument prepared by:

Ronald A. Snider

Jones, Walker, Waechter, Poitevent,
Carrére & Deneégre, L.L.P.

Mobile, Alabama 36603

Grantor’s Address:

{N2131932.14}
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GRANTEE’S ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

STATE OF ALABAMA

COUNTY OF MOBILE

I, the undersigned Notary Public in and for said county in said state, hereby certify that

, whose name as

Alabama , is signed to the foregoing instrument and who is known to me,
acknowledged before me on this day that, being informed of the contents of the instrument, he, as
such officer and with full authority executed the same voluntarily for and as the act of said

Given under my hand and notarial seal this the day of

NOTARY PUBLIC

[Affix seal]

My commission expires:

This instrument prepared by:

Ronald A. Snider

Jones, Walker, Waechter, Poitevent,
Carrere & Denegre, L.L.P.

Mobile, Alabama 36603

Grantee’s Address:
c/o University of South Alabama Foundation
254 State Street

Mobile, Alabama 36603
Attention: Maxey Roberts

{N2131932.14)
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LIST OF EXHIBITS

Exhibit “A” — Legal Description of Land
Exhibit “B” — Leases

Exhibit “C” — Permitted Exceptions

{N2131932.14;}
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Deloitte

Deloitte & Touche LLP
Suite 2000

191 Peachtree Street NE
Atlanta, GA 30303-1943
USA

Tel: +1 404 220 1500
www.deloitte.com

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

To the Board of Directors of
University of South Alabama Foundation:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated statements of financial position of the University of
South Alabama Foundation (the “Foundation™) as of June 30, 2010 and 2009, and the related consolidated
statements of activities and changes in net assets and cash flows for the years then ended. These
consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Foundation’s management. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes consideration of
internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Foundation’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit
also includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as

well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material
respects, the consolidated financial position of the Foundation as of June 30, 2010 and 2009, and the

related activities and changes in net assets and cash flows for the years then ended in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

il v ook 222

August 12, 2010

Member of
3 Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu



UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH AIABAMA

FOUNDATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS OF JUNE 30, 2010 AND 2009
(Dotlars in thousands)

2010 2009
ASSETS
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS $ 868 § 2,298
INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE:
Equity securities 92,053 83,884
Timber and mineral properties 156,465 150,211
Real estate 8,727 8,573
Other 5,535 5,519
OTHER ASSETS 806 527
TOTAL $264,454 $251,012
LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS
LIABILITIES:
Accounts payable $ 204 § 169
Other liabilities 616 672
Total liabilities 820 841
NET ASSETS:
Unrestricted 55,627 55,053
Temporarily restricted 39,120 26,295
Permanently restricted 168,887 168,823
Total net assets 263,634 250,171
TOTAL $264,454 $251,012

See notes to consolidated financial statements.



UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH ATABAMA

FOUNDATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES AND CHANGES IN NET ASSETS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2010

(Dollars in thousands)

Temporarily Permanently

Unrestricted Restricted Restricted Total
REVENUES, GAINS, LOSSES, AND
OTHER SUPPORT:
Net realized and unrealized gains
on investments $ 6,110 $ 12,385 $ 7 $ 18,502
Rents, royalties, and timber sales 4,368 28 4,396
Interest and dividends 389 1,322 6 1,717
Gifts 1 13 14
Other income 23 23
Required match of donor contributions (1 1 10 -
Interfund interest (187) 187 -
Net assets released from program
restrictions (Note 8) 1,071 (1,071) -
Total revenues, gains, losses, and
other support 11,763 12,825 64 24,652
EXPENDITURES:
Program services:
Faculty support 2,149 2,149
Scholarships 1,009 1,009
Other academic programs 1,237 1,237
Total program services 4,395 - - 4,395
Management and general 1,606 1,606
Other investment expense 1,440 1,440
Depletion expense 3,695 3,695
Depreciation expense 53 53
Total expenditures 11,189 - - 11,189
INCREASE IN NET ASSETS 574 12,825 64 13,463
NET ASSETS —— Beginning of year 55,053 26,295 168,823 250,171
NET ASSETS — End of year $ 55,627 $ 39,120 $ 168,887 $263,634

See notes to consolidated financial statements.



FOUNDATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES AND CHANGES IN NET ASSETS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2009
(Dollars in thousands)

Temporarily Permanently
Unrestricted Restricted Restricted Total

REVENUES, GAINS, LOSSES, AND
OTHER SUPPORT:
Net realized and unrealized losses

on investments $(24,589) $(10367) § (114) § (35,070)
Rents, royalties, and timber sales 5,852 71 5,923
Interest and dividends 816 1,225 10 2,051
Gifts 5 6 2 13
Required match of donor contributions (13) 13 -
Interfund interest (118) 118 -
Transfers 125 (43) (82) -
Reclassification of net assets

based on change in law (1,931) 1,931 -
Net assets released from program

restrictions (Note 8) 1,327 (1,327) -

Total revenues, gains, losses, and
other support (18,526) (8,444) (113) (27,083)
EXPENDITURES:
Program services:

Faculty support 2,299 2,299

Scholarships 1,065 1,065

Other academic programs 1,506 1,506

Total program services 4,870 - - 4,870
Management and general 1,536 1,536
Other investment expense 1,675 1,675
Depletion expense 5,564 5,564
Depreciation expense 49 49

Total expenditures 13,694 - - 13,694

DECREASE IN NET ASSETS (32,220) (8,444) (113) (40,777)
NET ASSETS — Beginning of year 87,273 34,739 168,936 290,948
NET ASSETS — End of year $ 55,053 $ 26,295 $ 168,823 $ 250,171

See notes to consolidated financial statements.




UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH ATABAMA

FOUNDATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2010 AND 2009

(Dollars in thousands)

2010 2009
OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Increase (decrease) in net assets $ 13,463 $(40,777)
Adjustments to reconcile increase (decrease) in net assets to
net cash (used in) provided by operating activities:
Net realized and unrealized (gain) loss on investments (18,502) 35,070
Depletion 3,695 5,564
Depreciation 53 49
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Other assets (249) (2)
Accounts payable 35 88
Other liabilities (56) 27
Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities (1,561) 19
INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Purchase of securities (819) (956)
Sale of securities 1,750 2,506
Reforestation of timber property (180) (314)
Purchase of timberland (293) (190)
Purchase of mineral interest (225)
Purchase of furniture, fixtures, and equipment (102) 04
Net cash provided by investing activities 131 942
NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS (1,430) 961
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS — Beginning of year 2,298 1,337
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS — End of year $ 868 $ 2,298

See notes to consolidated financial statements.



UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH ATABAMA

FOUNDAIION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AS OF AND FOR THE YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2010 AND 2009
(Dollars in thousands)

1. ORGANIZATION

The University of South Alabama Foundation (the “Foundation”) was incorporated in March 1968 for
the purpose of promoting education, scientific research, and charitable purposes and to assist in
developing and advancing the University of South Alabama (the “University”) i furthering, improving,

and expanding its properties, services, facilities, and activities. Revenues are derived principally from
investment income.

2.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of Presentation — The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of
the Foundation’s wholly owned subsidiaries Knollwood Development, Inc., and Shubuta Timber
Services, Inc. All significant intercompany transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

Codification of Accounting Standards — In June 2009, the Financial Accounting Standards Board
(FASB) issued guidance now codified as Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) Topic 105,
Generally Accepted Accounting Principles, the single source of authoritative nongovernmental
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (U.S. GAAP). ASC Topic 105
does not change current GAAP, but is intended to simplify user access to all authoritative U.S. GAAP
by providing all authoritative literature related to a particular topic in one place (the “Codification™). On
the effective date of this statement, the Codification superseded all then-existing non-Securities and
Exchange Commission (SEC) accounting and reporting standards, and all other nongrandfathered non-
SEC accounting literature not included in the Codification became nonauthoritative. The provisions of
ASC Topic 105 are effective for interim and annual periods ending after September 15, 2009. The
Foundation adopted ASC 105 as of June 30, 2010. This pronouncement had no effect on the
consolidated statement of financial position, statement of activities and changes in net assets, and
statement of cash flows, but impacted the financial reporting process by replacing all references to pre-
Codification standards with references to the applicable Codification topic.

Net Assets — In order to ensure observance of limitations and restrictions placed on the use of the
resources available to the Foundation, the accounts of the Foundation are maintained on the accrual
basis in accordance with the principles of “fund accounting.” Thus, resources for various purposes are
classified into funds that are in accordance with activities or objectives specified. ASC 958, Nor-for-
Profit Entities, (formerly FASB Statement No. 117, Financial Statements of Not-for-Profit
Organizations), requires classification of an organization’s net assets and its revenue, expenses, gains,
and losses based on the existence or absence of donor-imposed restrictions using three classifications:

permanently restricted, temporarily restricted, and unrestricted. These three classifications are defined as
follows:

¢ Permanently restricted net assets contain donor-imposed restrictions that stipulate that resources be
maintained permanently, but permit the Foundation to use or expend part or all of the income
derived from the donated assets for specified or unspecified purposes.



o Temporarily restricted net assets contain donor-imposed restrictions that permit the Foundation to
use or expend the donated assets as specified and are satisfied either by the passage of time or by
actions of the Foundation.

e Unrestricted net assets are not restricted by donors or the donor-imposed restrictions have expired.

The Foundation considers all of its assets to be endowment assets for the support of the University. It
therefore classifies all of its assets as, “endowment funds” for purpose of required disclosures for such
funds. In the absence of directions imposed by donors to utilize such funds for specific programs or
purposes at the University, the Foundation classifies the net assets of such funds as “unrestricted.”

The Foundation adopted FASB Staff Position (FSP) Financial Accounting Standards (FAS) 117-1,
Endowments of Not-for-Profit Organizations: Net Asset Classification of Funds Subject to an Enacted
Version of the Uniform Prudent Management of Institutional Funds Act, and Enhanced Disclosures for
All Endowment Funds, for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2009. FSP FAS 117-1 (now codified in

ASC 958-205) provides guidance on the net asset classification of donor-restricted funds for a not-for-
profit organization that is subject to an enacted version of the Uniform Prudent Management of
Institutional Funds Act of 2006 and requires additional disclosures as presented in Note 5. Adoption of
FSP FAS 117-1 resulted in the transfer of $1,931 in assets that lack explicit donor-stipulated time
restrictions from unrestricted net assets to temporarily restricted net assets until such time that these
assets are appropriated for expenditure by the Board of Directors.

Support and Expenses — Contributions received and unconditional promises to give are measured at
their fair values and are reported as increases in net assets at the date of receipt. The Foundation reports
gifts of cash and other assets as temporarily restricted support if they are received with donor
stipulations that limit the use of the donated assets or if they are designated as support for future periods.
When a donor restriction expires, i.e., when a stipulated time restriction ends or purpose restriction is
accomplished, temporarily restricted net assets are reclassified to unrestricted net assets and reported in

the consolidated statements of activities and changes in net assets as net assets released from program
restrictions.

The Foundation sometimes receives restricted contributions that are conditional on the Foundation
matching the contribution. Upon approval of the Board of Directors, such matches are reported as a
reclassification of unrestricted net assets to restricted net assets.

Cash Equivalents — The Foundation considers temporary cash investments with an original maturity
date of three months or less when purchased to be cash equivalents. The carrying amounts reported in

the accompanying consolidated statements of financial position for cash and cash equivalents
approximate their fair value.

Investments in Securities — Investments in marketable equity securities with readily determinable fair
market values are maintained and administered in a common pool and are recorded at fair value based

on quoted market prices of each security in the accompanying consolidated statements of financial
position. Separate accounts are maintained for each fund, as applicable.

Investments in Commonfund — The Commonfund for Nonprofit Organizations (*Commonfund™) is a
membership corporation that operates endowment funds for the exclusive benefit of institutions eligible
for membership in the Commonfund. The Foundation holds investments in the Multi-Strategy Equity
Fund and the International Equity Fund of the Commonfund. The objective of the Multi-Strategy Equity
Fund is to offer an investment in a single fund to provide all of the strategy and manager diversification
that an endowment would normally require for equity allocation. The fund is designed to add value over
long periods of time and to reduce volatility. The investment objective of the International Equity Fund
is to seek to diversify a U.S. equity portfolio with equity investments in companies domiciled abroad.



The Foundation’s units in the Multi-Strategy Equity Fund and the International Equity Fund are valued
at their unit values as determined by Commonfund. Commonfund generally determines the unit values
of each of its funds by reference to the fair values of the underlying investments, the majority of which
consists of exchange-traded equity securities. Further information about Commonfund’s valuation
procedures are as follows:

In the Multi-Strategy Equity Fund and the International Equity Fund, as managed by the Commonfund,
equity securities listed on securities exchanges are valued at the last sale price except for those securities
reported through the National Association of Securities Dealers Automated Quotation (NASDAQ)
system, for which the NASDAQ official closing price is used. In the absence of either, the current bid
price is used. Unlisted securities are valued at the current bid prices obtained from reputable brokers.
Certain investments held by the funds may be traded by a market maker who may also be utilized to
provide pricing information used to value such investments. Investments in units of other funds within

Commonfund (known as crossfund investments) are carried at the unit value of the crossfund
investment.

In these funds, investments in limited partnerships and other investment funds are valued at fair value,
which is generally the latest net asset value made available by the fund manager or administrator prior to
the valuation date. Other securities that are not readily marketable are also valued at fair value as
deemed appropriate by management of Commonfund in consultation with the respective investment
manager, with consideration given to the financial condition and operating results of the issuer,
meaningful third-party transactions in the private market, and other factors deemed relevant. The
amounts realized upon disposition of these investments may differ from the value reflected in the
consolidated financial statements and the differences could be material.

Timber — Timber and timberlands, including logging roads, are stated at fair value, based on an
independent appraisal, derived from the application of the cost approach, the sales comparison approach,
and the income capitalization approach, less the accumulated depletion for timber when harvested. The
Foundation capitalizes timber and timberland purchases and reforestation costs and other costs
associated with the planting and growing of timber, such as site preparation, seedling purchases,
planting, herbicide application, and thinning of tree stands to improve growth. Timber costs, such as real

estate taxes, forest management personnel salaries and fringe benefits, and other costs related to the
timberlands, are expensed as incurred.

Timber sale revenues for clear-cut or lump-sum sales are recognized when legal ownership or the risk of
loss transfers to the purchaser of the timber. Timber deeds set forth the legal rights and responsibilities
of the buyer, and at closing the full amount of the sale is due and payable and recognized at that time.
Revenues from thinning of tree stands to improve growth are recognized as revenue as the buyer

harvests the timber that is to be thinned. Timberland depletion is calculated on a unit cost basis and
recognized when the related revenue is recognized.

Mineral Properties — Mineral properties are stated at estimated fair market value as determined by
independent appraisals. Depletion of mineral properties is recognized over the remaining producing lives
of the properties based on total estimated production and current-period production.

Real Estate — Real estate held for investment is stated at its estimated fair value based on independent
appraisals.

Common Investment Pool — On June 5, 2006, the board of directors of the Foundation approved the
establishment of a new investment pool, which consists of (1) all marketable equity securities held by
the Foundation and (2) the Foundation’s interest in land and timber, consisting of approximately
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55,600 acres of timberland, known as the Equitable Tract, which the Foundation acquired in 1997 with
financing that was provided, in part, from the Disproportionate Share Hospital Funds to the
Foundation’s Equitable Timber Fund.

Investment Income — Investment income or loss (including gains and losses on investments, interest,
dividends, rents, royalties, and timber sales) is included in the accompanying consolidated statements of
activities and changes in net assets as increases or decreases in unrestricted net assets, unless the income
or loss is restricted by donor or law, in which case it is classified as temporarily or permanently
restricted, as appropriate. Interfund interest is recorded at prevailing market rates on loans between
funds to maintain the integrity of each fund’s net assets.

Income Tax Status — The Internal Revenue Service has determined that the Foundation is a
tax-exempt organization under Internal Revenue Code Section 501(c)(3).

Estimates — The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the
reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from
those estimates. The Foundation’s investments include marketable equity securities valued by reference
to quoted market prices, investments in Commonfund portfolios valued at unit values based on the fair
values of underlying investments and timberland, mineral properties, and other real estate valued by
appraisals. Such assets are subject to fluctuation in value due to normal market volatility and to
estimation risk in the case of assets for which quoted market values are not available. The values
ultimately realized by the Foundation for all such assets may be different from the values reported and
these fluctuations may impact the Foundation’s consolidated financial statements.

FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND OTHER INVESTMENTS

The following methods and assumptions were used by the Foundation in estimating the fair value of its
investments:

Cash and cash equivalents: The carrying amount reported in the accompanying consolidated
statements of financial position for cash and cash equivalents approximates their fair value.

* Equity securities include investments in marketable equity securities and investments in
Commonfund.

Marketable Equity Securities: Fair values are based on quoted market prices of each security with

readily determinable fair values. The Foundation’s investment in marketable equity securities was
$39,094 and $35,358 at June 30, 2010 and 2009, respectively.

Investments in Commonfund: Fair values are based on unit values, as determined by Commonfund.
As more fully described in Note 2, Commonfund determines unit values for each of its portfolios
based on the fair values of the underlying assets. The Foundation’s investment in Commonfund
portfolios was $52,959 and $48,526 at June 30, 2010 and 2009, respectively.

Timber, mineral properties, and real estate: Fair values of timberland, mineral properties, and real
estate are determined by independent third-party appraisers using standard appraisal practices
particular to the investment being appraised.

e Other consists primarily of the Foundation’s interest in the Stallworth Land Company (the
“Company”), a timberland management company (see Note 4).
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4,

INVESTMENTS

Investment income for the years ended June 30, 2010 and 2009, consisted of the following:

2010 2009

Unrealized gains (losses) § 18,407 $ (32,468)
Realized gains (losses) 95 (2,602)

Net realized and unrealized gains (losses) on investments 18,502 (35,070)
Timber sales 3,646 5,135
Rents 594 589
Royalties 156 199

Rents, royalties, and timber sales 4,396 5,923
Interest and dividends 1,717 2,051
Total investment income $ 24,615 $ (27,096)

Investment-related expenses of § 224 and $214 are included in the Foundation’s management and

general expenses in the accompanying consolidated statements of activities and changes in net assets for
the years ended June 30, 2010 and 2009, respectively.

Real estate at June 30, 2010 and 2009, consisted of the following property held:

2010 2009
Land and land improvements — held for investment $7,576 $ 7,443
Building and building improvements — held for investment 1,151 1,130

Total $8,727 $8,573

Other — Investments at June 30, 2010 and 2009, include an equity interest in a timberland management
company. That Company’s primary asset consists of timberland. The Foundation’s proportionate share
of the fair value of that Company is based upon the valuation of the trustee responsible for the
management of the Company and the timber valuation. The equity interest resulted from a bequest

known as the Stallworth Gift, which was received through bequest and devise under the Will of N. Jack
Stallworth.

The Foundation adopted ASC 820, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures (formerly FASB
Statement No. 157, Fair Value Measurements), for the fiscal year beginning July 1, 2008. ASC 820
provides a single definition of fair value and a hierarchical framework for measuring it, as well as
establishing additional disclosure requirements about the use of fair value to measure assets and
liabilities. Fair value measurements are classified as either observable or unobservable in nature.
Observable fair values are derived from quoted market prices for investments traded on an active
exchange or in dealer markets where there is sufficient activity and liquidity to allow price discovery by
substantially all market participants. The Foundation’s observable values consist of investments in
exchange-traded equity securities with a readily determinable market price. Other observable values are
fair value measurements derived either directly or indirectly from quoted market prices. Investments that
are not traded on an active exchange and do not have a quoted market price are classified as
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unobservable. The Foundation’s unobservable values consist of investments in timber and real estate
with fair values based on independent third-party appraisals performed by qualified appraisers
specializing in timber and real estate investments,

The Foundation’s investment assets are summarized based on the criteria of ASC 820, at June 30, 2010

and 2009, are as follows:

Description

Marketable equity securities
Timber and mineral properties
Real estate

Other investments

Description

Marketable equity securities
Timber and mineral properties
Real estate

Other investments

Fair Value Measurements at June 30, 2010

Observable Other
Values Based on Observable Unobservable
Quoted Prices Values Values Total

$39,094 $52,959 $ - $ 92,053
156,465 156,465

8,727 8,727

5,535 5,535

$ 39,094 $ 52,959 $170,727 $262,780

Fair Value Measurements at June 30, 2009

Observable Other
Values Based on Observable Unobservable

For the year ended June 30, 2010, activity in investment assets valued at fair value based on

unobservable values is as follows:

Beginning balance

Total gains (realized/unrealized)
Additions

Reforestation
Depreciation/depletion

Ending balance

Quoted Prices Values Values Total
$35,358 $48,526 $ - $ 83,884
150,211 150,211
8.573 8,573
5,519 5,519
$35,358 $ 48,526 $ 164,303 $248,187
Timber and
Mineral Other
Properties Real Estate Investments Total
$150,211 $ 8,573 $5,519 $164,303
9,250 136 16 9,402
518 46 564
181 181
(3,695) (28) (3,723)
$156,465 $ 8727 $5,535 $170,727
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For the year ended June 30, 2009, activity in investment assets valued at fair value based on
unobservable values is as follows:

Timber and
Mineral Other

Properties Real Estate Investments Total
Beginning balance $154,462  § 9,792 $5,500 $ 169,754
Total gains or losses

(realized/unrealized) 809 (1,198) 19 (370)

Additions 190 6 196
Reforestation 314 314
Depreciation/depletion (5,564) 27 (5,591
Ending balance $150,211 $ 8,573 $5,519 $164,303

ENDOWMENT

The Foundation’s endowment funds consist of individual funds established for a variety of purposes.
Endowment funds include both donor-restricted endowment funds and board-designated endowment
funds. As required by U.S. GAAP, net assets associated with endowments are classified and reported
based on the existence or absence of donor-imposed restrictions.

Interpretation of the Law

The Foundation conducts the operations of the Foundation in accordance with the Alabama Uniform
Prudent Management of Institutional Funds Act (UPMIFA), effective January 1, 2009, and continuing
thereafter unless otherwise determined by the Foundation. The Board of Directors and management of
the Foundation interpret UPMIFA as obligating the Foundation to preserve, as donor-restricted assets,
each original gift received by the Foundation as donor-restricted endowment funds. The Foundation,
accordingly, classifies each such original gift, and any subsequent gifts, as permanently restricted. The
remaining portion of any donor-restricted endowment that is not classified as permanently restricted is
classified as temporarily restricted net assets, until such time as any of such remaining portion is
appropriated for expenditure. In managing each endowment fund held by it, the Foundation considers, if
relevant, the duration and preservation of the fund, the purposes of the Foundation and the fund, general
economic conditions, any restrictions imposed by the donor, the possible effect of inflation or deflation,
the expected total return from income and appreciation of investments, the other resources of the
Foundation, and the investment policy of the Foundation.

Endowment net asset composition at June 30, 2010, by type of fund is as follows:

Temporarily Permanently

Unrestricted  Restricted Restricted Total
Donor-Restricted Endowment Funds $31,774 $39,120 $168,887 $239,781
Board-Designated Endowment Funds 23,853 23,853
Total $ 55,627 $39,120 $168,887 $263,634
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Endowment net asset composition at June 30, 2009, by type of fund is as follows:

Temporarily Permanently

Unrestricted Restricted Restricted Total
Donor-Restricted Endowment Funds $31,667 $26,295 $ 168,823 $226,785
Board-Designated Endowment Funds 23,386 23,386
Total $ 55,053 $26,295 $ 168,823 $250,171
Changes in endowment net assets at June 30, 2010, are as follows:
Board Temporarily Permanently
Unrestricted Designated Restricted Restricted Total
Beginning balance $ 31,667 $23,386 $ 26,295 $168,823 $250,171
Investment return:
Investment income 4,544 236 1,322 34 6,136
Net unrealized and
realized gains 5,387 723 12,385 7 18,502
Interfund interest (193) 6 187
Total investment
return 9,738 965 13,894 41 24,638
Gifts ] 13 14
Required match (D 1 10
Net assets released
from restrictions 1,569 (498) (1,071)
Expenditures (11,189) (11,189
Net change 107 467 12,825 64 13,463
Ending balance $ 31,774 $23,853 $ 39,120 $ 168,887 $263,634
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Changes in endowment net assets at June 30, 2009, are as follows:

Board  Temporarily Permanently

Unrestricted Designated Restricted Restricted Total
Beginning balance $ 58,392 $28.881 $ 34,739 $168,936 $290,948
Investment return:
Investment income 6,069 599 1,225 81 7,974
Net unrealized and
realized losses (20,326) (4.263) (10,367) (114) (35,070)
Interfund interest (15%) 37 118
Total investment
return (14,412) (3,627) (9,024) (33) (27,096)
Gifts 5 6 2 13
Required match (13) 13
Net assets released
from restrictions 3,195 (1,868) (1,327)
Reclassification of
net assets (1,931) 1,931
Transfers 125 (43) (82)
Expenditures (13,694) (13,694)
Net change (26,725) (5,495) (8,444) (113) (40,777)
Ending balance $ 31,667 $23,386 $ 26,295 $168,823 $250,171

Funds With Deficiencies

From time to time, the fair value of assets associated with donor-restricted endowment funds may fall
below the amount classified as permanently restricted. These deficiencies are typically a result of
unfavorable market fluctuations. The total amount of deficiencies reported in donor-restricted funds are
$5,675 and $13,846 as of June 30, 2010 and 2009, respectively. Such deficiencies have been charged to

unrestricted net assets reflecting the Foundation’s requirement to maintain the original contributed value
of the related funds in perpetuity.

NATURE AND AMOUNT OF TEMPORARILY RESTRICTED NET ASSETS

At June 30, 2010 and 2009, temporarily restricted net assets were available for the following purposes:

2010 2009
Instruction $16,284 $13,960
Hospital, clinics, and related programs 10,091 3,247
College of medicine — other than instruction 6,366 4,786
Student aid 4,022 2,471
Other 2,357 1,831
Total $39,120 $26,295
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7. NATURE AND AMOUNT OF PERMANENTLY RESTRICTED NET ASSETS

At June 30, 2010 and 2009, only the income from the following permanently restricted net assets was
permitted to be used for the purposes indicated:

2010 2009
Hospital, clinics, and related programs $131,586 $131,586
Instruction 19,180 19,176
Student aid 9,158 9,135
College of medicine — other than instruction 2,125 2,456
Other 6,838 6,470
Total $ 168,887 $168,823

8. NET ASSETS RELEASED FROM PROGRAM RESTRICTIONS

Expenses were incurred that met temporary purpose-related restrictions on the use of certain net assets,

resulting in a reclassification of net assets from temporarily restricted to unrestricted during the years
ended June 30, 2010 and 2009, as follows:

2010 2009
Instruction $ 836 $ 846
College of medicine — other than instruction 94
Student aid 142 171
Other 93 216
Total $1,071 $1,327

9. RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS

At June 30, 2010 and 2009, net assets held by the Foundation, irrevocably for the benefit, as determined

by the Foundation, of the University’s hospitals, clinics, and related programs (Disproportionate Share
Hospital Funds), were $126,163 and $118,303, respectively.

By a resolution adopted on May 22, 2008, the Foundation approved a contribution to the University in
support of the Pediatric Expansion of USA Children’s and Women’s Hospital in the amount of
Twenty Million Dollars ($20,000), to be given over a seven-year period, to begin in the year of the
commencement of the expansion. This contribution was to be disbursed from the Foundation’s
Disproportionate Share Hospital Funds (the “DSH Funds™), with disbursements being made in
accordance with the resolution. To date, the Pediatric Expansion has not commenced, and the DSH
Funds are not at their required level to provide funding, and therefore, no disbursement has been made.

By a resolution adopted on May 27, 2010, in an effort to assist the University in furtherance of its tax-
exempt purpose and in order to accelerate its provision to support the Pediatric Expansion of USA
Children’s and Women’s Hospital, the Board authorized the Foundation to negotiate an agreement to
purchase the Brookley Center campus owned by the University. It is anticipated that the University and
the Foundation will enter into an agreement whereby the Foundation will pay the University, in five
annual installments of Four Million Dollars ($4,000) each, a total purchase price of Twenty Million
Dollars ($20,000), with the University to retain title to and use of the improvements situated on the
Brookley property for a period of five years, unless the Foundation should exercise its option to prepay
the balance of the purchase price and take title earlier. It is further the intention and expectation of the
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Board of the Foundation that after it has completed payment of the purchase price, the Foundation would
begin funding to the University an annual target distribution of 3% of the net assets of the DSH Funds
held by the Foundation, subject to certain financial and other conditions.

10. RETIREMENT PLANS

The Foundation sponsors a contributory defined-contribution retirement plan for certain employees. The
Foundation’s contributions to the retirement plan were approximately $128 and $127 for the years ended
June 30, 2010 and 2009, respectively.

% % % k ko
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Deloitte

Deloitte & Touche LLP
Suite 2000

191 Peachtree Street NE
Atlanta, GA 30303-1943
USA

Tel: +1 404 220 1500
www.deloitte.com

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

To the Board of Directors of
University of South Alabama Foundation:

We have audited the accompanying combined statements of financial position of the Disproportionate
Share Hospital Funds (the “DSH Funds”) of the University of South Alabama Foundation (the
“Foundation”) as of June 30, 2010 and 2009, and the related combined statements of activities and
changes in net assets and cash flows for the years then ended. These combined financial statements are
the responsibility of the Foundation’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
combined financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes consideration of
internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the DSH
Funds’ internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also
includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as

well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, such financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the combined financial

position of the DSH Funds at June 30, 2010 and 2009, and the related activities and changes in net assets

and cash flows for the years then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States of America.

//%L// v %//z V774

August 12, 2010

21 Member of
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu



UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH AIABAMA

FOUNDAIION

DISPROPORTIONATE SHARE HOSPITAL FUNDS
COMBINED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS OF JUNE 30, 2010 AND 2009

(Dollars in thousands)

ASSETS
INVESTMENTS:
New Investment Pool—at fair value

Real estate
RECEIVABLE FROM AFFILIATES

TOTAL
LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS
LIABILITIES
NET ASSETS:
Unrestricted
Temporarily restricted
Permanently restricted
Total net assets

TOTAL

See notes to combined financial statements.
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2010 2009
121,990 § 114,269
3,600 3,600
573 434
126,163 $§ 118,303

$

(15,513) (16,529)
10,090 3,246
131,586 131,586
126,163 118,303
126,163 § 118,303




FOUNDATION

DISPROPORTIONATE SHARE HOSPITAL FUNDS

COMBINED STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES AND CHANGES IN NET ASSETS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2010

(Dollars in thousands)

Temporarily Permanently
Unrestricted Restricted Restricted Total

REVENUES, GAINS, AND OTHER
SUPPORT:
Net realized and unrealized gains
on investments $ 868 $ 5,999 $ b 6,867
Interest and dividends 140 734 874
Interfund interest 21 111 132

Total revenues, gains, and other
support 1,029 6,844 7,873

EXPENDITURES:
Program services:
Scholarships
Other academic programs

Total program services

Other investment expense 13 13
Total expenditures 13 13
INCREASE IN NET ASSETS 1,016 6,844 7,860
NET ASSETS AT BEGINNING OF YEAR (16,529) 3,246 131,586 118,303
NET ASSETS AT END OF YEAR $ (35513 $ 10,09 $ 131,586 $ 126,163

See notes to combined financial statements.
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FOUNDAIION

DISPROPORTIONATE SHARE HOSPITAL FUNDS

COMBINED STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES AND CHANGES IN NET ASSETS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2009

(Dollars in thousands)

Temporarily Permanently
Unrestricted Restricted Restricted Total

REVENUES, GAINS, AND OTHER
SUPPORT:
Net realized and unrealized losses
on investments $ (16,679) § (3,244) § $  (19,923)
Interest and dividends 1,540 267 1,807
Interfund interest 127 51 178

Total revenues, gains, and other
support (15,012) (2,926) (17,938)

EXPENDITURES:
Program services:
Scholarships
Other academic programs

Total program services

Other investment expense 12 12
Total expenditures 12 12
DECREASE IN NET ASSETS (15,024) (2,926) (17,950)
NET ASSETS AT BEGINNING OF YEAR (1,505) 6,172 131,586 136,253
NET ASSETS AT END OF YEAR $ (16,529) § 3,246 $ 131,586 § 118,303

See notes to combined financial statements.
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UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH AIABAMA

FOUNDAIION

DISPROPORTIONATE SHARE HOSPITAL FUNDS
COMBINED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2010 AND 2009

(Dollars in thousands)

2010 2009
OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Increase (decrease) in net assets $ 7,860 $ (17,950)
Adjustments to reconcile increase (decrease) in net assets to
net cash used in operating activities:
Net unrealized loss (gain) on investments (8,154) 16,237
Loss on sale of investments 1,287 3,686
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Receivable from affiliate (139) 25
Net cash provided by operating activities 854 1,998
INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Purchases of securities (1,017) (2,141)
Sale of securities 163 143
Net cash used in investing activities (854) (1,998)

NET CHANGE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS—Beginning of year

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS—End of year $

See notes to combined financial statements.
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DISPROPORTIONATE SHARE HOSPITAL FUNDS

NOTES TO COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AS OF AND FOR THE YEARS ENDED JUNE 30,2010 AND 2009
(Dollars in thousands)

1.ORGANIZATION

The University of South Alabama Foundation (the “Foundation” or USAF) was incorporated in
March 1968 for the purpose of promoting education, scientific research, and charitable purposes,
and to assist in developing and advancing the University of South Alabama (the “University”) in
furthering, improving, and expanding its properties, services, facilities, and activities. Revenues are
derived principally from investment income and contributions.

The Disproportionate Share Hospital Funds (the “DSH Funds”) were matching funds disbursed by
the Health Care Financing Administration of the United States Department of Health and Human
Services to the states through their Medicaid agencies for the purpose of compensating hospitals,
such as those operated by the University, that provided medical care and treatment to a
disproportionate share of indigent patients in their respective areas.

Access to the DSH Funds for Alabama was made possible by the University of South Alabama
Foundation Board, beginning in October 1989, when the Board of the Foundation approved the
entry into the matching program. Over a one-year period, the Foundation made a monthly revolving
contribution of $2 million, which yielded approximately $24 million in federal grant monies. The
Board of Trustees of the University adopted a resolution in March 1990, authorizing the transfer of
the DSH Funds to the Foundation to be held by it to preserve and ensure the continued viability of
the University of South Alabama Hospitals (“University Hospitals™) and their overall mission.

Litigation relating to the transfer of the DSH Funds was settled in November 1993, when an
agreement was reached among the Department of Examiners of Public Accounts of the State of
Alabama, the Board of Trustees of the University, and the Board of Directors of the Foundation,
which required that all Medicaid disproportionate share hospital funds received through

September 30, 1994, be transferred to the Foundation and held irrevocably for the benefit, as
determined by the Foundation, of the University Hospitals and clinics and the other programs of the
University that benefit such hospitals and clinics. Further, the agreement recognized the Foundation
as the lawful holder and owner of the DSH Funds and that the investment and management of the
DSH Funds were solely within the authority of the Foundation’s Board.

2.SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of Presentation—The accompanying combined financial statements include the DSH Funds
and Knollwood Development, Inc., a wholly owned subsidiary of the Foundation and an affiliate
originally funded by DSH Funds. All significant interfund transactions have been eliminated in
combination.
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Codification of Accounting Standards—In June 2009, the Financial Accounting Standards Board
(FASB) issued guidance now codified as Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) Topic 105,
Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (“ASC Topic 105”) as the single source of authoritative
nongovernmental accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (U.S.
GAAP). ASC Topic 105 does not change current U.S. GAAP, but is intended to simplify user access
to all authoritative U.S. GAAP by providing all authoritative literature related to a particular topic in
one place (the “Codification”). On the effective date of this statement, the Codification superseded
all then-existing non-Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) accounting and reporting
standards, and all other nongrandfathered non-SEC accounting literature not included in the
Codification became nonauthoritative. The provisions of ASC Topic 105 are effective for interim
and annual periods ending after September 15, 2009. The Foundation adopted ASC 105 as of June
30, 2010. This pronouncement had no effect on the combined statement of financial position,
statement of activities and changes in net assets, and statement of cash flows, but impacted the

financial reporting process by replacing all references to pre-Codification standards with references
to the applicable Codification topic.

Net Assets—1In order to ensure observance of limitations and restrictions placed on the use of the
resources available to the DSH Funds, the accounts of the DSH Funds are maintained on the accrual
basis in accordance with the principles of “fund accounting.” Thus, resources for various purposes
are classified into funds that are in accordance with activities or objectives specified. ASC 958
(formerly FASB Statement No. 117, Financial Statements of Not-for-Profit Organizations), requires
classification of an organization’s net assets and its revenue, expenses, gains, and losses based on
the existence or absence of donor-imposed restrictions, using three classifications: permanently
restricted; temporarily restricted; and unrestricted. These three classifications are defined as follows:

e Permanently restricted net assets contain donor-imposed restrictions that stipulate that resources
be maintained permanently but permit the use or expenditure of part or all of the income derived
from the donated assets for specified or unspecified purposes.

¢ Temporarily restricted net assets contain donor-imposed restrictions that permit the use or

expenditure of the donated assets as specified and are satisfied either by the passage of time or by
actions of the Foundation.

* Unrestricted net assets are not restricted by donors or the donor-imposed restrictions have
expired.

The Foundation adopted FASB Staff Position (FSP) No. FAS 117-1, Endowments of Not-for-Profit
Organizations: Net Asset Classifications of Funds Subject to an Enacted Version of the Uniform
Prudent Management of Institutional Funds Act, and Enhanced Disclosures for All Endowment
Funds (now codified in ASC 958-203), for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2009. FSP No. FAS 117-1
provides guidance on the net asset classification of donor restricted funds for a not-for-profit
organization that is subject to an enacted version of the Uniform Prudent Management of
Institutional Funds Act of 2006 and requires additional disclosures as presented in Note 8. Adoption

of FSP No. FAS 117-1 did not have a material impact on the DSH Funds combined financial
statements.

Support—Contributions received and unconditional promises to give are measured at their fair
values and are reported as increases in net assets at the date of receipt. Gifts of cash and other assets
are reported as temporarily restricted support if they are received with donor stipulations that limit
the use of the donated assets, or if they are designated as support for future periods. When a donor
restriction expires, that is, when a stipulated time restriction ends or purpose restriction is
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accomplished, temporarily restricted net assets are reclassified to unrestricted net assets and reported
in the combined statements of activities and changes in net assets as net assets released from
restrictions.

Cash Equivalents—Temporary cash investments with an original maturity date of three months or
less when purchased are considered to be cash equivalents. The carrying amounts reported in the
accompanying combined statements of financial position for cash and cash equivalents approximate
their fair value.

Investments in Securities—Investments in equity securities are maintained and administered in a
common pool by the Foundation. Amounts presented in these financial statements represent the
DSH Funds proportionate share of the Foundation’s investments.

Investments in Commonfund—The Commonfund for Nonprofit Organizations (“Commonfund”) is
a membership corporation that operates investment funds for the exclusive benefit of institutions
eligible for membership in the Commonfund. The Foundation holds investments in the
Multi-Strategy Equity Fund and the International Equity Fund of the Commonfund. The objective of
the Multi-Strategy Equity Fund is to offer an investment in a single fund to provide all of the
strategy and manager diversification that an endowment would normally require for equity
allocation. The fund is designed to add value over long periods of time and to reduce volatility. The
investment objective of the International Equity Fund is to seek to diversify a U.S. equity portfolio
with equity investments in companies domiciled abroad.

The Foundation’s units in the Multi-Strategy Equity Fund and the International Equity Fund are
valued at their unit values as determined by Commonfund. Commonfund generally determines the
unit values of each of its Funds by reference to the fair values of the underlying investments, the

majority of which consists of exchange-traded equity securities. Further information about
Commonfund’s valuation procedures follows.

In the Multi-Strategy Equity Fund and the International Equity Fund, as managed by Commonfund,
equity securities listed on securities exchanges are valued at the last sale price, except for those
securities reported through the National Association of Securities Dealers Automated Quotation
System (NASDAQ), for which the NASDAQ Official Closing Price is used. In the absence of either,
the current bid price is used. Unlisted securities are valued at the current bid prices obtained from
reputable brokers. Certain investments held by the funds may be traded by a market maker who may
also be utilized to provide pricing information used to value such investments. Investments in units

of other funds within Commonfund (known as “crossfund investments™) are carried at the unit value
of the crossfund investment.

In these funds, investments in limited partnerships and other investment funds are valued at fair
value, which is generally the latest net asset value made available by the fund manager or
administrator prior to the valuation date. Other securities that are not readily marketable are also
valued at fair value as deemed appropriate by management of Commonfund in consultation with the
respective investment manager, with consideration given to the financial condition and operating
results of the issuer, meaningful third-party transactions in the private market, and other factors
deemed relevant. The amounts realized upon disposition of these investments may differ from the
value reflected in the financial statements and the differences could be material.

Investment Income—Investment income or loss (including gains and losses on investments,

interest, dividends, rents, royalties, and timber sales) is included in the accompanying combined
statement of activities and changes in net assets as increases or decreases in unrestricted net assets,
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unless the income or loss is restricted by donor or law, in which case it is classified as temporarily or
permanently restricted, as appropriate. Interfund interest is recorded at prevailing market rates on
loans between funds to maintain the integrity of each fund’s net assets.

Income Allocation—The DSH Funds participate in the New Investment Pool (the “Pool”) as
described in Note 4. Funds that participate in the Pool, including DSH Funds, receive a monthly
allocation of income and loss experienced by the Pool. Allocations made by the Pool to its
participants are based on the relative participation levels of investment in the Pool by each
participating fund.

Income Tax Status— The Internal Revenue Service has determined that the Foundation is a
tax-exempt organization under Internal Revenue Code Section 501(¢c)(3).

Estimates—The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities at the date of the combined financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and
expenditures during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. The DSH
Funds participate in the Foundation’s New Investment Pool (see Note 4). The New Investment Pool
consists of the Foundation’s investment in marketable securities, valued by reference to quoted
market prices, investments in Commonfund portfolios valued at unit values based on the fair values
of the underlying investments, and timberland, mineral properties, and other real estate valued by
appraisals. Such assets are subject to fluctuation in value due to normal market volatility, and to
estimation risk in the case of assets for which market values are not available. The values ultimately
realized by the Foundation for all such assets may be different from the values reported and these
fluctuations may impact the DSH Fund’s financial statements.

3.FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND OTHER INVESTMENTS

The following methods and assumptions were used by the Foundation in estimating the fair value of
its investments:

¢ Cash and Cash Equivalents: The carrying amount reported in the accompanying combined
statement of financial position for cash and cash equivalents approximates its fair value.

e Equity Securities: Includes investments in marketable securities and investments in
Commonfund:

Marketable Equity Securities: Fair values are based on quoted market prices of each security with
readily determinable fair values.

Investments in Commonfund: Fair values are based on unit values, as determined by
Commonfund. As more fully described in Note 2, Commonfund determines unit values for each
of its portfolios based on the fair values of the underlying assets.

* Timberland, Mineral Properties, and Real Estate: Fair values of timberland, mineral properties,
and real estate are determined by independent third-party appraisers using standard appraisal
practices particular to the investment being appraised.

29



4.INVESTMENTS

Investments consisted of participation in the Foundation’s pooled investment funds. On June 5,
2006, the Board of the Foundation approved the establishment of a New Investment Pool, which
consists of (1) all marketable equity securities held by the Foundation, and (2) the Foundation’s
interest in the land and timber consisting of approximately 55,600 acres of timberland known as the
Equitable Tract, which the Foundation acquired in 1997 with financing that was provided, in part,
from the DSH Funds to the Foundation’s Equitable Timber Fund. Effective June 30, 2006, upon
establishment of the Pool, the interest in the Pool allocated to the DSH Funds was equal in value to
the sum of (1) the value of the interest that was allocated to the DSH Funds in the Foundation’s
existing securities pool at June 30, 2006, and (2) the amount of the aggregate receivable for principal
and interest owed by the Equitable Timber Fund to the DSH at June 30, 2006. All pooled investment
activity subsequent to June 30, 2006, is allocated between DSH Funds and other USAF funds based
on each fund’s initial share of the Pool, adjusted for subsequent contributions and distributions.

Investment income for the years ended June 30, 2010 and 2009, consisted of the following:

2010 2009
Unrealized gains (losses) $ 8,154 $(16,237)
Realized losses (1,287) (3,686)
Interest and dividends 874 1,807
Interfund interest 132 178

$ 7873 $(17,938)

Real estate at June 30, 2010 and 2009, consisted of land and land improvements.

The Foundation adopted ASC 820 (formerly FASB Statement No. 157, Fair Value Measurements),
beginning July 1, 2008. ASC 820 provides a single definition of fair value and a hierarchical
framework for measuring it, as well as establishing additional disclosure requirements about the use
of fair value to measure assets and liabilities. Fair value measurements are classified as either
observable or unobservable in nature. Observable fair values are derived from quoted market prices
for investments traded on an active exchange or in dealer markets where there is sufficient activity
and liquidity to allow price discovery by substantially all market participants. The Investment Pool’s
observable values consist of investments in exchange traded equity securities with a readily
determinable market price. Other observable values are fair value measurements derived either
directly or indirectly from quoted market prices. The Investment Pool’s other observable values are
an investment in a managed fund held by a third party. Investments that are not traded on an active
exchange and do not have a quoted market price are classified as unobservable. The DSH Funds’
unobservable values consist of its interest in the Investment Pool’s timberland and real estate with

fair values based on extensive independent third-party appraisals performed by qualified appraisers
specializing in timber and real estate investments.
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The Foundation’s Investment Pool assets are summarized based on the criteria of ASC 820 as
follows:

Fair Value Measurements at June 30, 2010

Observable
Values Based Other
on Quoted Observable Unobservable
Description Prices Values Values Total
Investment Pool interest in
marketable equity securities $ 39,094 $52,959 $ $ 92,053
Investment Pool interest
in timber 107,300 107,300
Real estate 3,600 3,600
$ 39,094 $52,959 $ 110,900 $202,953
Fair Value Measurements at June 30, 2009
Observable
Values Based Other
on Quoted Observable Unobservable
Description Prices Values Values Total
Investment Pool interest in
marketable equity securities  $§ 35,358 $48,526 $ $ 83,884
Investment Pool interest
in timber 104,000 104,000
Real estate 3,600 3,600
$ 353358 $48,526 $ 107,600 $191.484

For the year ended June 30, 2010, activity in the Foundation’s Pooled Investment assets valued at
fair value based on unobservable values is as follows:

Investment
Pool Interest Real
in Timber Estate Total
Beginning balance $104,000 $3,600 $107,600
Total gains (realized/unrealized) 5,611 5,611
Reforestation 491 491
Depletion (2,802) (2,802)
Ending balance $107,300 $3,600 $110,900

31



For the year ended June 30, 2009, activity in the Foundation’s Pooled Investment assets valued at
fair value based on unobservable values is as follows:

Investment
Pool Interest Real
in Timber Estate Total

Beginning balance $104,600 $4.000 $108,600
Total gains or losses

(realized/unrealized) 3,854 (400) 3,454
Reforestation 312 312
Depletion (4,766) (4,766)
Ending balance $104,000 $3,600 $107,600

The DSH Funds’ holds a proportionate interest in the value of the Foundation’s Investment Pool. On
June 30, 2010, the value of DSH units in the Pool was $121,990 and at June 30, 2009, the value of
DSH units in the Pool was $114,269.

5.RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS

At June 30, 2010 and 2009, receivables from affiliated entities totaled $573 and $434, respectively.
These amounts are due to the DSH Funds from other entities owned by the Foundation. These
receivables earn interest at a standard market rate, based on the applicable federal rates (rates used
for federal tax purposes). Interest income was $132 and $178 for the years ended June 30, 2010 and
2009, respectively. As described in Note 4, effective June 30, 2006, the DSH Funds participate in

the Pool of the Foundation and the DSH Funds earn a proportionate share of investment income of
the Pool.

By a resolution adopted on May 22, 2008, the Foundation approved a contribution to the University
in support of the Pediatric Expansion of USA Children’s and Women’s Hospital in the amount of
Twenty Million Dollars ($20,000), to be given over a seven-year period, to begin in the year of the
commencement of the expansion. This contribution was to be disbursed from the Foundation’s
Disproportionate Share Hospital Funds (the “DSH Funds™), with disbursements being made in
accordance with the resolution. To date, the Pediatric Expansion has not commenced, and the DSH

Funds are not at their required level to provide funding, and therefore, no disbursement has been
made.

By a resolution adopted on May 27, 2010, in an effort to assist the University in furtherance of its
tax-exempt purpose and in order to accelerate its provision to support the Pediatric Expansion of
USA Children’s and Women’s Hospital, the Board authorized the Foundation to negotiate an
agreement to purchase the Brookley Center campus owned by the University. It is anticipated that
the University and the Foundation will enter into an agreement whereby the Foundation will pay the
University, in five annual installments of Four Million Dollars ($4,000) each, a total purchase price
of Twenty Million Dollars ($20,000), with the University to retain title to and use of the
improvements situated on the Brookley property for a period of five years, unless the Foundation
should exercise its option to prepay the balance of the purchase price and take title earlier, It is
further the intention and expectation of the Board of the Foundation that after it has completed
payment of the purchase price, the Foundation would begin funding to the University an annual
target distribution of 3% of the net assets of the DSH Funds held by the Foundation, subject to
certain financial and other conditions.
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6.NATURE AND AMOUNT OF TEMPORARILY RESTRICTED NET ASSETS

At June 30, 2010 and 2009, temporarily restricted net assets of $10,090 and $3,246, respectively,
were available for the support of hospitals, clinics, and related programs of the University.

7.NATURE AND AMOUNT OF PERMANENTLY RESTRICTED NET ASSETS

At June 30, 2010 and 2009, permanently restricted net assets of $131,586 and $131,586,

respectively, are restricted to investments in perpetuity, the income from which may be used for the
support of hospitals, clinics, and related programs of the University.

8. ENDOWMENT
Interpretation of the Law

The University of South Alabama Foundation conducts the operations of the Foundation in
accordance with the Alabama Uniform Prudent Management of Institutional Funds Act (UPMIFA),
effective January 1, 2009, and continuing thereafter unless otherwise determined by the Foundation.
The Board of Directors and management of the Foundation interpret UPMIFA as obligating the

Foundation to preserve, as donor-restricted assets, each original gift received by the Foundation as
donor-restricted endowment funds.

The Foundation, accordingly, classifies each such original gift, and any subsequent gifts, as
permanently restricted. The remaining portion of any donor-restricted endowment that is not
classified as permanently restricted is classified as temporarily restricted net assets, until such time
as any of such remaining portion is appropriated for expenditure. In managing each endowment fund
held by it, the Foundation considers, if relevant, the duration and preservation of the fund, the
purposes of the Foundation and the fund, general economic conditions, any restrictions imposed by
the donor, the possible effect of inflation or deflation, the expected total return from income and

appreciation of investments, the other resources of the Foundation, and the investment policy of the
Foundation

Funds with Deficiencies

From time to time, the fair value of assets associated with donor-restricted endowment funds may

fall below the amount classified as permanently restricted. These deficiencies are typically a result
of unfavorable market fluctuations. The total amount of deficiencies reported in the DSH Funds is
$5,423 and $13,283 as of June 30, 2010 and 2009. Such deficiencies have been charged to

unrestricted nets assets reflecting the DSH Funds’ requirement to maintain the original contributed
value of its assets in perpetuity.

# 0k ok ok ok ok
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ITEM 17
September 17, 2010

RESOLUTION

EVALUATION OF THE UNIVERSITY’S ENDOWMENT
AND NON-ENDOWMENT INVESTMENT POLICIES

WHEREAS, the Southern Association of Colleges and Schools (SACS) requires that

investment policies must be evaluated regularly, and

WHEREAS, the Board of Trustees has previously approved the University’s endowment

funds policies and guidelines and the University’s non-endowment cash pool investment policy,

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the Board of Trustees of the University of

South Alabama hereby acknowledges the current year annual evaluation of both policies by the

Endowment and Investments Committee.



Endowment Funds
Investment Policies and Guidelines

The Endowment Committee of the Board of Trustees of the University of South Alabama shall
be responsible for recommending investment policies and guidelines for approval by the Board
of Trustees, implementation of such policies and guidelines and selection of qualified investment
professionals including Investment Consultant(s), Investment Manager(s), and Funds
Custodian(s). The Endowment Committee will oversee investment activities, monitor investment

performance and ensure the prudent control of the Endowment Funds of the University. The
Endowment Committee will make periodic reports to the Board of Trustees.

L Purpose of the Endowment Funds

The University of South Alabama Endowment Funds exist to provide revenue while
preserving principal to fund those projects which have been endowed for specific
purposes, i.e., scholarships, professorships, program enhancements, student loans, etc.

IL. Purpose of the Investment Policy

This investment policy is set forth by the board of Trustees of the University of South
Alabama in order to:

1. Define and assign the responsibilities of all involved parties.

2. Establish a clear understanding of all involved parties of the investment goals and
objectives of Endowment Funds assets.

3. Offer guidance and limitations to Investment Manager(s) regarding the investment of
Endowment Funds assets.

4, Establish a basis of evaluating investment results.

5. Manage Endowment Funds assets according to prudent standards as established in the
laws of the State of Alabama.,

6. Establish the relevant investment horizon for which the Endowment Funds assets will
be managed.

In general, the purpose of this policy is to outline a philosophy and attitude which will
guide the investment management of the assets toward the desired results. It is intended
to be sufficiently specific to be meaningful, yet flexible enough to be practical.
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Delegation of Authority

The Board of Trustees of the University of South Alabama is responsible for directing
and monitoring the investment management of the University’s Endowment Funds assets.

As such, the Board of Trustees is authorized to delegate certain authority to professional
experts in various fields. These include, but are not limited to:

1. Investment Management Consultant(s). The consultant may assist the Board of
Trustees in: establishing investment policy, objectives, and guidelines; selecting
investment managers; reviewing such managers over time; measuring and
evaluating investment performance; and other tasks as deemed appropriate.

Investment Manager(s). The investment manager has discretion to purchase or

sell, in the University’s name, the specific securities that will be used to meet the
Endowment Funds investment objectives.

3. Funds Custodian(s). The custodian will physically (or through securities owned
by the Fund) collect dividend and interest payments, redeem maturing securities,
and effect receipt and delivery following purchases and sales. The custodian may
also perform regular accounting of all assets, owned, purchased or sold as well as
movement of assets into and out of the Endowment Funds accounts.

With the exception of specific limitations described in these statements, managers will be
held responsible and accountable to achieve the objectives herein stated. While it is not
believed that the limitations will hamper investment managers, each manager should
request modifications which they deem appropriate. All expenses for such experts must

be customary and reasonable, and will be bome by the Endowment Funds as deemed
appropriate and necessary.

Assignment of Responsibility

A, Responsibility of the Board of Trustees of the University of South Alabama

The Board of Trustees is responsible for the management of the assets of the Endowment
Funds. The Board of Trustees shall discharge its duties in good faith like an ordinary
prudent person in a like position would exercise under similar circumstances and in a
manner the Trustees reasonably believe to be in the best interest of the University. The
Board of Trustees will supervise the Endowment Committee and assigns the following
authority and responsibilities to the Endowment Committee on behalf of the Board of
Trustees.

B. Responsibility of the Endowment Committee

The specific authority and responsibilities of the Endowment Committee relating to the



investment management of Endowment Funds assets include:

1.

Projecting the Endowment Funds financial needs, and communicating such needs
to the Investment Manger(s) on a timely basis.

Determining the Endowment Funds risk tolerance and investment horizon, and
communicating these to the appropriate patties.

Establishing reasonable and consistent investment objectives, policies, fime

frames and guidelines which will direct the investment of the Endowment Funds
assets.

Prudently and diligently selecting qualified investment professionals, including
Investment Manager(s), Investment Consultant(s), and Custodian(s).

Regularly evaluating the performance of the Investment Manager(s) to assure
adherence to policy guidelines and monitor investment objectives progress.

Developing and enacting proper control procedures: For example, replacing
Investment Manager(s) due to fundamental changes in the investment
management process, or failure to comply with established guidelines.

Making direct investments in cases in which selection of an investment manager
is not appropriate.

Recommending an endowment spending policy to the Board of Trustees for
approval.

Reporting periodically to the Board of Trustees Endowment Committee actions
and recommendations and investment performance of the Endowment Funds.

Responsibility of the Investment Manager(s)

The Endowment Funds will be managed primarily by external investment
advisory organizations; both commingled vehicles and separate accounts may be
used. The investment manager(s) have discretion, within the guidelines set forth
in this policy statement and any additional guidelines provided them, to manage
the assets in each portfolio to achieve the investment objectives. Managers will
pormally manage only one type of investment in each fund. For example, equities
and fixed income will not be combined in a balanced fund with one manager.

Each Investment Manager must acknowledge, in writing, their acceptance of
responsibility as a fiduciary. Each Investment Manager will have full discretion to
make all investment decisions for the assets placed under their jurisdiction, while
observing and operating within all policies, guidelines, constraints, and
philosophies as outlined in this statement. Each Investment Manager will be
provided with a copy of this statement of investment objectives and policies. In
turn, as part of the investment management contract that will govern their



portfolio, the Investment Manager is expected to provide a writien statement of
the firm’s expectations, stated in terms of the objectives and comparative
benchmarks that will be used to evaluate performance and the allowable securities
that can be used to achieve these objectives. These statements will be consistent
with the statement of investment objectives and policies and will be incorporated
as appendices. Specific responsibilities of the Investraent Manager(s) include:

1.

10.

Discretionary investment management including decisions to buy or
sell individual securities, and to alter asset allocation with the annual
guidelines established by the Endowment Committee.

Reporting, on a timely basis, quartetly investment performance results.

Providing monthly valuation of the investment portfolio based on the
previous month’s closing prices.

Communicating any major changes in economic outlook, investment
strategy, or any other factors which affect implementation of
investment process, or the investment objectives progress of the
Endowment Funds investment management.

Informing the Endowment Committee regarding any qualitative
change in the investment management organization. Examples include

changes in portfolio management personnel, ownership structure,
investment philosophy, etc.

Providing the Endowment Committee with proof of liability and
fiduciary insurance coverage.

Acknowledging in writing an ability and agreement to invest within
the guidelines set forth in the investment policy.

Meeting with the Endowment Committee at least annually.

Voting proxies on behalf of the Endowment Funds and communicating
such voting records on a timely basis. In cases in which the University
desires to vote proxies related to specific topics, it will so notify
Manager(s).

The Board of Trustees may from time to time request that the
Investment Manager(s) allocate commissions to those brokerage firms
providing other investment management services to the University.
Good execution and commission prices are primary considerations in
routing business to the said brokerage firms. If at any time any
Investment Manager believes that any policy guideline inhibits
investment performance, it is their responsibility to communicate this
to the Endowment Committee.



VIIL.

General Investment Principles

1.

Investments shall be made solely in the interest of the purposes of the University
of South Alabama.

The Endowment Funds shall be invested with the care, skill, prudence, and
diligence under the circumstances then prevailing that a prudent person in a like
position would exercise under similar circumstances in a manner the Board of
Trustees reasonably believe to be in the best interest of the University.

Investment of the Endowment Funds shall be so diversified as to minimize the

risk of large losses, unless under the circumstances it is clearly prudent not to do
$0.

The Board of Trustees may employ one or more investment managers of varying
styles and philosophies to attain the Endowment Funds objectives.

Cash is to be employed productively at all times, by investment in short term cash
equivalents to provide safety, liquidity, and return.

Investment Objectives

In order to meet its needs, the investment strategy of the University of South Alabama
Endowment Funds is to emphasize total return; that is, the aggregate return from capital
appreciation and dividend and interest income. The total Endowment Funds shall be
monitored for return relative to objectives, consistency of investment philosophy, and
investment risk. The Endowment Funds results shall be evaluated on a rolling five-year
basis against a market benchmark weighted 55 percent in favor of the MSCI World_(US
Dollar) Index, 25 percent toward the Barclay’s Capital US Aggregate Bond Index and 20
percent Treasury-bill rate plus 3 percent.

Portfolio Composition and Risk

A.

To achieve its investment objective, the Endowment Funds assets are considered
as divided into three parts a fixed income component, a fixed income aliernative
component, and an equity component. The Endowment Funds long-term
commitment to these funds shall be as follows:

Range Long-term neutral
Fixed Income 15-35% 25%
Equity 35-75% 55%
Fixed Income Alternative 10-30% 20%
Cash 0-5% 0%

The purpose of dividing the Endowment Funds in this manner is to ensure that the
overall asset allocation among major asset classes remains under the regular

scrutiny of the Endowment Committee and is not allowed to become the residual



of separate manager decisions. Over the long run, the allocation among the major

asset classes may be the single most important determinant of the endowment
funds investment performance.

The purpose of the fixed income fund is to provide a hedge against deflation, to

reduce the overall volatility of returns of the Endowment Funds, in order to
produce current income in support of spending needs.

The percentage of total Endowment Funds assets allocated to the fixed-income
fund at any time should be sufficient to provide that neither the current income
nor the capital value or the total Endowment Funds declines by an intolerable
amount during an extended period of deflation. The fixed-income fund should
normally represent approximately 15-35 percent of total Endowment Funds assets
at market value. Although the actual percentage will fluctuate with market

conditions, levels outside this range should be closely monitored by the
Endowment Committee.

The purpose of the equity fund is to provide appreciation of principal that more
than offsets inflation and to provide a growing stream of current income. It is
recognized that the pursuit of this objective could entail the assumption of greater
market variability and risk than investment in fixed-income securities. Equity and
equity-substitute investments are broadly defined as common stocks, high-yield
bonds, reorganization securities, venture capital, leveraged buyout investments,
equity real estate, reorganization securities, exchange traded index funds, etc.

The purpose of the fixed income alternative component is to provide the
Endowment a source of returns with low correlation to equity markets and
volatility of one third to one half that of the U.S. equity market, while still
achieving equity-like returns of Treasury Bills plus 2-8% over time. The Fixed

Income Alternative should normally represent approximately 10-30 percent of
total Endowment Funds.

Any assets not committed to the fixed-income fund or fixed income alternative
shall be allocated to the equity fund. The equity fund should normally represent
approximately 35-75 percent of total Endowment Funds assets at market value.
Although the actual percentage of equities will vary with market conditions,

levels outside this range should be closely monitored by the Investment
Committee.

The Endowment includes investments in several categories, and the Endowment
Committee targets allocations for the following:



Long-Term
Strategic
Asset Class Target (%) of " Range
Endowed Funds
DOMESTIC EQUITY 47% 30-60%
Large/Mid-Cap 40% 25-55%
Small Cap 5% 3-8%
High Yield Debt 2% 0-5%
INTERNATIONAL STOCKS 10% 5-15%
Developed Markets 6% 3-10%
Emerging Markets 4% 0-6%
TOTAL EQUITY COMPONENT 57% 35-75%
ALTERNATIVE INVESTMENTS 20% 10-30%
Absolute Return 15% 12-205
Long/Short Equity 5% 0-10%
TOTAL ALTERNATIVE COMPONENT 20% 10-30%
Fixed Income Component 23% 15-35%
U.S. Core Bonds 16% 12-20%
Global Bonds 4% 0-7%
TIPS 2% 0-5%
Emerging Markets Debt 1% 0-2%
TOTAL FIXED INCOME COMPONENT 23% 15-35%
CASH AND EQUIVALENTS 0% 0-5%
H. Within the equity fund, certain investments can be included, with Endowment

Committee approval, to provide a hedge against unanticipated, rapidly
accelerating inflation. These include cash, real estate and oil and gas investments.
While the Endowment Committee recognizes the argument for having a separate
allocation to inflation-hedging assets, at this time, these investments are evaluated
primarily as equity-substitutes. The Endowment Committee will periodically
review the adoption of an inflation-hedging fund allocation separate from the
equity allocation.

Within the equity fund, in addition to cash reserves held by managers, there is
normally an investment in cash or short-term instruments. Although the
Endowment Committee has not adopted a cash allocation, new gifts to the
endowment and endowment income in excess of budgetary distributions generate
cash inflow to the Endowment Fund. The level of cash should be closely
monitored by the committee.



J. The Endowment committee may change any of the above ratios; however, it is
anticipated that these changes will be infrequent.

K. The Endowment Funds investments shall be diversified both by asset class (e.g.,
equities and fixed-income securities) and within asset classes (e.g., within equities
by economic sector, geographic area, industry, quality, and size). The purpose of
diversification is to provide reasonable assurance that no single security or class
of securities shall have a disproportionate impact on the endowment funds
aggregate results. Equity securities in any single industry will not exceed 20
percent, nor will equity securities in any single company exceed 10 percent of the
market value of the endowment’s allocation to equities.

VIIL. Spending Policy

IX.

It shall be the policy of the University of South Alabama Board of Trustees to preserve
and maintain the real purchasing power of the principal of the Endowment Funds. The
current spending policy of the University will be determined annually by the President
and the Endowment Committee and approved by the Board of Trustees. The spending
guideline is based on an expected total return over the long-term less expected inflation.

Volatility of Returns

The Board of Trustees understands that in order to achieve its objectives for Endowment
Funds assets, the Funds will experience volatility of returns and fluctuations of market
value. The Board will tolerate volatility as measured against the risk/return analysis of the
appropriate market indices. The indices used as a measure of an investment manger’s
performance will be used to measure the allowable volatility (risk).

Liquidity

To minimize the possibility of a loss occasioned by the sale of a security forced by the
need to mect a required payment, the Vice President for Financial Affairs will
periodically provide Investment Manager(s) with an estimate of expected net cash flow.
The Vice President will notify the Investment Consultant in a timely manner, to allow
sufficient time to build up necessary liquid reserves. Because of the infrequency of cash
outflows and overall marketability of Endowment Funds assets, the Board of Trustees
does not require the maintenance of a dedicated cash or cash equivalent reserve.

Marketability of Assets

The Board of Trustees requires that all Endowment Funds allocated to cash equivalents,
fixed income securities or equity securities be invested in liquid securities, defined as
securities that can be transacted quickly and efficiently for the Endowment Funds, with
minimal impact on market price. The Board of Trustees recognizes that opportunities
may exist in illiquid assets and will allow Investment Managers overseeing Fixed Income
Alternatives to invest in securities that may be less liquid and could present a risk of

illiquidity.



XI1. Investment Guidelines

A. Allowable Assets

1.

Cash Equivalents

® ® & & ® & o

Treasury Bills

Money Market Funds

Common Fund Short Term Investment Fund
Commercial Paper

Banker’s Acceptance

Repurchase Agreements

Certificates of Deposits

Fixed Income Securities

U.S. Government and Agency Secutities

Corporate Notes and Bonds

Mortgage Backed Bonds

Preferred Stock

Fixed Income Securities of Foreign Governments and Corporations
Collateralized Mortgage Obligations

Fixed Income Alternatives

Arbitrage (merger, cvent, convertible, equity and fixed income
arbitrage and pairs trading)

Event investing (restructurings, spin-offs, etc.)

Distressed securities

Long Short equities (U.S., global and sector funds)

Market neutral equities

Short-biased equities

Macro investing

Equity Securities

Common Stocks

Convertible Notes and Bonds

Convertible Preferred Stocks

American Depository Receipts (ADRs) of Non-U.S. Companies
Exchange traded index funds
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5. Mutual Funds

e Mutual Funds which invest in securities as allowed in this statement.

ther Assets:

B.

Derivative Securities: options and future contracts

In general, the use of derivative securities by the Investment Manager shall be
discouraged, unless such an opportunity presents itself that the use of the
sophisticated securities would provide substantial opportunity to increase
investment returns at an appropriately equivalent level of risk to the remainder of
the total portfolio. Also, derivative securities may be used by the Investment
Manager in order to hedge certain risks to the portfolio. The approval and use of
derivative securities will not be allowed unless the Endowment Committee is
confident that the Investment Manager(s) thoroughly understands the risks being
taken, has demonstrated expertise in their usage of such securities, and has
guidelines in place for the use and monitoring of derivatives.

Real Estate: Investments may also include equity real estate, held in the form of
professionally managed, income producing commercial and residential property.
Such investments may be made only through professionally managed, income
producing commercial and residential property. Such investments may not
exceed 10% of the total endowment fund. Such investment may be made only
through professionally managed pooled real estate investment funds, as offered by

leading real estate managers with proven track records of superior performance
over time.

(Is now covered under the derivative section)
The Endowment will avoid highly leveraged strategies and managers who provide

insufficient transparency of their actions for adequate monitoring of the risks they
are taking.

Guidelines for Fixed Income Investments and Cash Equivalents

1. Investment in fixed income securities shall be restricted to only investment
grade bonds rated BAA or higher.
2. Money Market Funds selected shall contain securities whose credit rating

at the absolute minimum would be rated investment grade by Standard and
Poor’s, and/or Moody’s.

3. Investment in fixed income securities within the fixed income portfolio
shall be restricted to only investment grade bonds rated BAA or higher.
Any investment in below investment grade bonds shall be considered an
equity or fixed income alternative investment.

11



XIIL

C. Guidelines for Fixed Income Alternatives

1. Fixed Income alternative investments will be defined as any strategy using a
partnership or offshore investment company structure that may or may not be
subject to SEC registration, investing primarily in marketable securities and/or
subject to a performance fee. These strategies would generally have absolute,
as opposed to relative, return objectives driven more by manager skill and
market inefficiency than market direction. Use of leverage, short selling
and/or derivatives may or may not be employed as part of the investment

approach. The endowment will employ a manager of manager’s approach to
investing in fixed income alternative investments.

D. Limitations on Manager Allocations

1. No more than 5% of the Endowment Fund assets shall be allocated to an
individual Investment Manager.

2. No more than 25% of the Endowment Fund assets shall be allocated to a
“Fund of Funds” or multi-manager fund.

Investment Manager Performance Review and Evaluation

Performance reports generated by the Investment Consultant shall be compiled at least
quarterly and communicated to the Board of Trustees for review. The investment
performance of total portfolios, as well as asset class components, will be measured
against commonly accepted performance benchmarks. Consideration shall be given to the
extent to which the investment results are consistent with the investment objectives,
goals, and guidelines as set forth in this statement. The Board of Trustees intends to
evaluate the portfolio(s) over at least a three-year period, but reserves the right to
terminate a manager for any reason including the following:

1. Investment performance which is significantly less than anticipated, given the
discipline employed and risk parameters established, or unacceptable justification
of poor results.

2. Failure to adhere to any aspect of this statement of investment policy, including

communication and reporting requirements.
3. Significant qualitative changes to the investment management organization.

Investment managers shall be reviewed annually regarding performance, personnel,
strategy, research capabilities, organizational and business matters, and other qualitative
factors that may impact their ability to achieve the desired investment results.

12



XIV. Investment Policy Review

To assure continued relevance of the guidelines, objectives, financial status and capital

markets expectations as established in this statement of investment policy, the Board of
Trustees will review investment policy at least annually.

Investment Manager Selection

1. The Endowment Committee will decide on guidelines for the desired investment
philosophy, asset mix, and performance objectives of the new manager.

The Endowment Committee will employ, if appropriate, Investment Consultant(s) to
identify potential managers.

3. Potential managers will be reviewed by the Endowment Committee in some or all of the

following areas with the importance of ecach category determined by the Endowment
Committee:

Organization
¢ Experience of firm

s  Assets under management

s Ownership

e Number of professionals

e Fees and minimum account size
Performance

¢ One, three and five-year comparisons
e Up/down market comparisons
¢ Risk/return graphs

Securities Summary — Equities

e Yield

e Profit/earnings
¢ Quality

s (Growth

e Beta

Securities Summary — Fixed Income
Quality

Maturity

Duration
Government/non-government
Investment decision-making process
Top down/bottom up
Quantitative/qualitative/traditional
Expected performance characteristics

® ® @ ¢ & & o O
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Securities Summary — Fixed Income Alternative

Arbitrage (merger, event, convertible, equity and fixed income arbitrage and
pairs trading)

Event investing (restructurings, spin-offs, etc.)

Distressed securities

Long Short equities (U.S., global and sector funds)

Market neutral equities

Short-biased equities

Macro investing

Skill Set Analysis

Market timing

Sector diversification
Security selection
Security consideration

Final selection of a new manager resides with the Endowment Committee.
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UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH ALABAMA
NON-ENDOWMENT CASH POOL INVESTMENT POLICIES

Purpose

The purpose of this Investment Policy is to provide a guideline by which the pooled funds (the
current, loan, agency and plant fund groups) not otherwise needed to meet the daily operational
cash flows for the University can be invested to earn a maximum return, yet still maintain

sufficient liquidity to meet fluctuations in the inflow of funds from revenues, tuition payments
and state appropriations.

The policies and practiced hereinafter set forth separate funds into three investment categories:
(1) Short-term funds (2) Intermediate-term funds (3) Long-term funds.

INVESTMENT OBJECTIVES

The investment objectives for Operational Funds Investments are: (1) to maximize current
investment returns consistent with the liquidity needs of the University. In keeping with the
investment objectives noted above, it is acknowledged that there are Operational Funds which
require short-term, intermediate-term and long-term investment strategies.

It is expected that the maturitics of the investments in the Operational Funds will be matched

against the cash flow needs of each campus to maximize yields consistent with the liquidity
needs of the University.

Maintenance of Adequate Liquidity

The investment portfolio must be structured in such a manner that will provide sufficient
liquidity to pay obligations such as normal operating expenses and debt service payments as they
become due. A liquidity base will be maintained by the use of securities with active secondary

markets, certificates of deposit, or repurchase agreements. These investments could be converted
to cash prior to their maturities should the need for cash arise.

Return on Investments

The University seeks to optimize return on investments within the constraints of each investment
objective. The portfolio strives to provide a return consistent with each investment category. The
cash pool portfolio rate of return will be compared with the retums of broad indices representing
the investment and maturity structure of the Pool.
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DELEGATION OF AUTHORITY

The Board of Trustees is ultimately responsible for investment policy. By Board Resolution the
Board of Trustees is delegating investment authority to the President or Vice President for
Financial Affairs or other such persons as may be authorized to act on their behalf.

The Investment Policy is established to provide guidance in the management of the University’s
Non-Endowment Cash Pool to insure compliance with the laws of the State of Alabama and
investment objectives. The Vice President for Financial Affairs or his designee is accorded full
discretion, within policy limits, to select individual investments and to diversify the portfolio by
applying their own judgments concerning relative investment values.

IMPLEMENTATION OF THE INVESTMENT POLICY

The Vice President for Financial Affairs or his designee is authorized to execute security

transactions for the University investment portfolio. Reports of investments shall be presented to
the Endowment and Investment Committee of the Board of Trustees.

AUTHORIZED INVESTMENT INSTRUMENTS

Short-Term Operational Funds

Safety of Capital

Preservation of capital is regarded as the highest priority in the handling of investments for the

University of South Alabama. All other investment objectives are secondary to the safety of
capital.

It is assumed that all investments will be suitable to be held to maturity. However, sale prior to
maturity is warranted in some cases. For example, investments may be sold if daily operational
funds are needed or if the need to change the maturity structure of the portfolio arises.

All investments will be restricted to fixed income securities with the maturity range to be
consistent with the liquidity needs of the pooled fund groups. It is essential that cyclical cash
flow be offset by liquid investments. Permissible investment instruments may include:

1. Checking and Money Market deposit accounts in banks. These funds are subject to full
collateralization for the amounts above the FDIC $100,000.00 coverage limit, or

participation by the Bank in the State of Alabama’s Security for Alabama Funds
Enforcement Program.

2. Certificates of Deposit issued by banks and fully collateralized for the amounts above the
FDIC $100,000.00 coverage limit or participation by the bank in the State of Alabama’s
Security for Alabama Funds Enforcement Program. Negotiable Certificates of Deposit or
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Deposit Notes issued by credit worthy U.S. Banks in amounts not to exceed the FDIC
$100,000.00 coverage limit.

3. Direct obligations of the United States or obligations unconditionally guaranteed as to
principal and interest by the Unites States.

Obligations of a Federal Agency (including mortgage backed securities) or a sponsored
instrumentality of the United States including but not limited to the following:

Federal Home Loan Bank (FHLB)

Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation (FHLMC)
Federal Farm Credit Banks (FFCB)

Government National Mortgage Association (GNMA)
Federal National Mortgage Association (FNMA)
Student Loan Marketing Association (SLMA)
Financing Corp (FICO)

Tennessee Valley Authority (TVA)

Government Trust Certificates (GTC)

o & & o o & & o O

5. Commercial paper of corporate issuers with a minimum quality rating of P-1 by
Moody’s, A-1 by Standard and Poor’s or F-1 rating by Fitch. Corporate bonds will
maintain a minimum “A” rating by both Moody’s and Standard and Poor’s at the time of
purchase. No more than ten percent (10%) of the Total Cash and Investments shall be
invested in a single corporation for Commercial Paper/Short-term Corporate Bonds and
thirty-five percent (35%) per Federal Agency Obligation as described above. There will

be no limit on U.S. Treasury Obligations. All such securities must have an active
secondary market.

The maturity range of Short-Term Operational Funds Investments shall be consistent with
liquidity requirements of the funds category. However, funds established under certain debt

instruments may be invested in accordance with the applicable criteria. Typical maturity will
range from 1 year and less.

Intermediate-Term Investment of Operational Funds

Investments for those Operational Funds designated by the Campus President as benefiting from
investment over a one- to three-year period.

AUTHORIZED INVESTMENT INSTRUMENTS

Permissible investments are consistent with all investments approved under short-term
operational funds within a one and three year investment period. It is expected that the
maturities of the investments within the intermediate-term funds will match against the cash flow

needs of the University and to maximize yields consistent with the liquidity needs of the
University.
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Long-Term Investment of Operational Funds

Investments for those Operational Funds designated by the Campus President as benefiting from

a longer-term investment strategy will use the same investment and management criteria as those
applicable under the University’s Endowment Investment Policy.

PASS THROUGH OR DESIGNATED FUNDS

This policy shall also cover pass through funds (endowment funds to be forwarded to external
endowment fund managers) and any funds managed by the University and designated for
specific purposes and not covered by individual investment restrictions (i.e. endowment funds
that may not be co-mingled, bond proceeds during construction, USA Health Plan, etc.)

PRUDENCE AND ETHICAL STANDARDS

The standard of prudence to be used by investment officials shall be the “prudent person”
standard and shall be applied in the context of managing the overall portfolio. Persons
performing the investment functions, acting in accordance with these written policies and
procedures, and exercising due diligence shall be relieved of personal responsibility for an
individual security’s credit risk or market price changes, provided deviations from expectations
and appropriate recommendations to control adverse developments are reported in a timely
fashion. The “prudent person” standard is understood to mean:

“Investments shall be made with judgement and care, under circumstances then prevailing,
which persons of prudence, discretion and intelligence exercise in the management of their own

affairs, not for speculation, but for investment, considering the probable safety of their capital as
well as the probable income to be derived.”

EFFECTIVE DATE

This policy shall become effective immediately upon its adoption by the Board of Trustees.

Further, this policy shall be reviewed at least annually and updated whenever changing market
conditions or investment objectives watrant.
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ITEM 17.A
September 17, 2010

RESOLUTION
NAMING OF JOSEPH E. GOTTFRIED DRIVE

WHEREAS, the University of South Alabama seeks to recognize persons who have

contributed to its growth and development, and

WHEREAS, the naming of facilities and campus streets offers opportunities to honor and

memorialize such individuals for their significant roles in the history of the University, and

WHEREAS, Mr. Joseph E. Gottfried joined the University of South Alabama as assistant
athletic director in 1981 and assumed the leadership role of athletic director in 1984, serving USA

for a total of 28 years before retiring,

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, in recognition of Mr. Joseph E. Gottfried’s dedication
to the University of South Alabama, the Board of Trustees authorizes the President to name the new

street leading from Jack Brunson Drive to the Football Field House as Joseph E. Gottfried Drive.



ITEM17.B
September 17, 2010

RESOLUTION
COMMENDATION OF DR. ROBERT A. SHEARER

WHEREAS, the University of South Alabama seeks to honor exceptional administrators and
faculty who have devoted a substantial part of their careers to serving and teaching others, and who
have distinguished themselves throughout their professional careers, and

WHEREAS, Dr. Robert A. Shearer joined the USA faculty in 1986 as a Professor of
Management in the Mitchell College of Business, and

WHEREAS, Dr. Shearer, as a tenured business law professor, was one of the outstanding
teachers in the Mitchell College of Business, and

WHEREAS, Dr. Shearer established a continuing record of scholarly publications and was
a nationally recognized consultant in the areas of conflict resolution and partnering, and

WHEREAS, Dr. Shearer also served as Executive Assistant to the President from 1998 until
his retirement in July 2010, and

WHEREAS, Dr. Shearer served with professionalism in his teaching and administrative
duties, working equally well with administrators, faculty and students, and

WHEREAS, during his tenure at the University, he chaired and served on numerous
committees and provided unique insight, guidance, and direction in the growth and success of the
University, and

WHEREAS, Dr. Shearer offered his time selflessly to the University in support of its
academics, arts, and athletics, and successfully employed his partnering/facilitating skills for many
projects pursued by the University, and

WHEREAS, Dr. Shearer has been a valued advisor, mentor, and friend to untold numbers
of students and colleagues at USA, as well as a constant source of unwavering support and
irrepressible humor,

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the Board of Trustees expresses its appreciation
to Dr. Robert A. Shearer for his many contributions to the University of South Alabama and offers
its best wishes upon his retirement from the Institution and in his current and future endeavors.



ITEM 18
September 17, 2010

RESOLUTION

COMMENDATION OF TRUSTEE STEVEN H. STOKES, M.D.,
AS CHAIR PRO TEMPORE EMERITUS

WHEREAS, Dr. Steven H. Stokes has served faithfully as a member of the Board of
Trustees of the University of South Alabama since his appointment in 1993, and

WHEREAS, Dr. Stokes served as Chair Pro Tempore of the Board of Trustees from
June 2007 through June 2010, and

WHEREAS, Dr. Stokes previously served the Board as Vice Chair from 2004 through 2007,
and

WHEREAS, Dr. Stokes also served as a member of the USA Foundation Board of Directors
and the USA Research and Technology Corporation Board of Directors, and

WHEREAS, Dr. Stokes, during his tenure as a member of the Board, among other
responsibilities, has served as a member of the Health Affairs, Endowment and Investments, Long-
Range Planning, and Executive committees, and

WHEREAS, Dr. Stokes’ dynamic and insightful leadership, especially in the medical field,
was critical to the development and progress of major University initiatives, including the USA
Mitchell Cancer Institute, the USA Children’s & Women’s Hospital expansion project, Campaign
USA, the Jaguar football and marching band programs, and many others, and

WHEREAS, Dr. Stokes’ generous support of the University of South Alabama, the Angelia
and Steven H. Stokes Endowed Scholarship in Creative Writing, the USA Mitchell Cancer Institute,
the Dr. Robert A. Kreisberg Gifted Medical Scholars Endowment, and the USA College of
Medicine, brings his total giving to the University, including matching funds, to more than $2.4
million, and

WHEREAS, Dr. Stokes, through his long-standing stewardship, wisdom, guidance and
philanthropy, has played a prominent role in advancing the interests of all University of South
Alabama constituencies,

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the Board of Trustees of the University of South
Alabama expresses its sincere appreciation to Dr. Steven H. Stokes for his many contributions and
invaluable service to the Board, to the entire University community, and to the people of the state
of Alabama, all of whom have benefitted from his wisdom, dedication, service and generosity, by
conferring upon him the honorary title of Chair Pro Tempore Emeritus of the University of South

Alabama Board of Trustees.
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